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November 20,2033
His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununii,
and the Honorable Council

Slate House

Concord, NH 03301

Authprize.the Department of Safety, NH Office of Highway Safety (NHGHS) tOi'cnter into a Retroactive: Sole Source
contract with AAA Northern New England (.VC#153019-B00I), Portland ME, in the amount of $9,500.00 for conducting
public presentations for a FFY24 highway tiaffic safety education grant ffhe Community Outreach & Betterment draiit)
effective up,On G^ Gquiicil approvai tiirough September 30,2024 100% Federal Funds.j i ^

Funds are availableiri the fOilowirig opcrating budget for SFlf •2024 ;a,nd:^^

SliY2024 SFy202502-23-23::23 1010-?S41000p;Dept; ofSalfelys OCQM-NHTSA Srante:
102,500731 Contracts for Program: Services ;

EXPLANATION

S7,125 00 $2|3
Total $9,500 00

75100

Governor and: Council.approval is being sought because the amount of previous paymeiiN bythe Departnlent of Safety to.
A/ A Northerti New' Ehgland pius the, amount of this^ contract yieida a-ciimulative ampunf thatT| joWr the Departments'
approved threshold. • ' . j!

This contract isSoleSpurcc because AAA Northern New: England is at the forefront of highway safet education inNew
Hainpsiiire and supports iiighway safety efforts on New Flampsiiire roadways. This contract is.I^ctroactive due to tiie.
potential.Govcrnment shutdown. This contraetfunds outreaGh to traditionallymarginalizedidrlverSi bicyclists, pedestrians,
and other vulnerable; roadway users of New Hampshire roadways. This contract' wiH.enhancejkhoy/iedge of rules of the
raad.and ericouragKequitablC.access toNewiHampshire roadways with primary.outreach:to;>RetugeB and new Americans,
lowdnCome heighborhoddSj Oldcrt drivers, low vision, and hearing-impaired drivers, differently abled drivers, youth;
drivers. Limited English PrGficiency (LEP) Groups and elementary/higli schools/driver ed sciioois.

In the,ev.ent ;that FederaTEurids:;are:n6 lohgef :ayailable,:GpneraT^^^ and/or Highway Safety Fund;
to support this program. "

;  Respectfully submitted, ,,

RdbeitL Quinn
epmm issjoner of Safely

willppfbe requested



NHOHS COMMUNITY OUTREACH & BETTERMENT (COB) GRANT
Introduction

Welcome to the New Hampshire Office of Highway Safety (NHOttS)
Community Outreach & Betterment (COB) Excel Workbook Tracking Tool

AAA NORTHERN NEW ENGLAND

This Excel based workbook serves as your New Hampshire Office of
Highway Safety (NHOHS) Community Outreach & Betterment (COB)
Tracking Tool. YOu wiii use this workbook to track your expehdetures &
activities. Please emaii copy Of this COB Grant Excel Workbook file at the
end of every quarter along with your reimbursement request

COB Grant Presentation Groups:

1. Outreach to Refugee/New.American Groups
2. Outreach to Underserved/Low Income Neighborhoods
3. Outreach to Older drivers, Low. Vision or Hearing Impaired Drivers ,
4. Outreach to Youth Drivers

5. OMreach to Limited English Proficiency
6. Outreach to Eiementory/High.Schoois/Driver Ed Schools



FORM NUMBER P-37 (version 12/11/2019)

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietaiy inust
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

I. IDENTIFICATION.

1.1 State Agency Name

Department of Safety
New Hampshire Office of Highway Safety

1.2 State Agency Address ; |

33.Ha2en Drive Room 208 | !
Concord, NH 03305

1.3 Contractor Name

AAA Northern New England

1.4 Contractor Address

■  i
PO. Box: 3544 Portland. Maine .04104 |
Address: 68 Mareinnl Way PortlandilVIainc 04101

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

207-780-6988

1.6 Account Number

Please sec Exhibit C

1.7 Completion Date

09/30/202:4

l.'S Price Limitation
!  1

S9,500.00[
■  i

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency
Paul Ruggierd

1.10 State Agency Telephone Number 1
603-271-2131 : i

1.1 J Conli:dctor Signature 1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatcuiy
Eric Cyr,. President , ;

1  1

T. 13 State Ageficy Signature 1.14 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory

Amy L.;Newbury, Director of Administration

1.15' Apptoval.bylhellJ.H. Department of'Admini^atiin; Division of Personnel ff/'oip/j/toO/e./ j |

By: Director,On: | j
1.16 Appropl Iw the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Ejfcoution) {\f applicable)

By: 0"= IV^Z-T^ 1 ,
1.17 Approvalby the Goventor and Executive Council (yflpp/Zenb/e)

1

G&C Item number: G&C Meeting Date:
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2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMEp: The State of New
Hampshire, acting through the agency identified in block 1.1
("State"), engages contractor identified in hlock d.3
("Contractor") to perform, and the: Contractor shall perfprrii, the;
work or sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly
described in the attached EXHIBIT B which is incorporated
herein by reference ("Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES^

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor add
Executive Council of the State of New Harnpshire, if appltcablei
this Agreement, and all obligationsOf the parties hereunder, shall
become effective on the date- the Governor' and Executive
Council approve this Agreement as indicated in block 1.17,
unless no such approval is required, in which case the Agreement,
shall become eff^ective on. the date the Agreement is'signed by
the Stale Agency as shown in block 1 .IS ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior toCthe
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor: prior to:
the Effective Date shall be performed at; the, sole risfe of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreehienf.does.not becpih
effective, the State shall have no liability tp the Cphtradtpr,
including without limitation; any tibligation tp pay the
Gontractor for ahy costs incurred: of Services perfPrtheci.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Cbmpletibn Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Nbtwithstahdihg any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State' Hereunder, including;
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder; .are
Contingent upon the availability and continued apprppriahpn:of
funds affected by any state or federal .legi.sIatjve-or executive'
action that reduces,, eliminates; or otherwise inpdifies the
appropriation or availability of funding fopthis Agreement and
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT El, in whole or in
part. In no event shall the Stale be liable for any payments
hereunder in excess of such available appropriated funds. In the
event of a reduction of terminatidn pfiappfopriated, futl'd^^^ thS
State shah have the right; to vvi.thhpld hay.menl until stiCh funds:
become available, if ever, and shall have the; right to reduce or
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon
'giving the Gontractor notice of such reduction or termination.
The State shall not be required to transfer funds frbifi ahy pthef
account or source to fhe .Accouiit identified in, block 1,6 in the
event funds iii that AcCount ,are reduced Opunavailahie,

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRIGE LIMITATION/
PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method ofpayment, and terms bf payment
are identified ghd more particulariy described in EXHIBIT: G
which is, incorporated herein by peference,
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement fo the: Contraclor for all
expenses, of whatever nature, incurred by the Contractor indhe'
performance hereof, and :shail be the bnly and the complete

I
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State shall
have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract price.
5.3 The State, reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement those
liquidated amounts required or |permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7
thrpUgh; RSA 80:7-c or any otherj provision of law,
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no
event Shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made
hereunder, exceed the Price,Limitation set forth in block 1.8.

■  ■ I "
6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTR.ACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNiTY. j
6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Cpntfactpf shall comply with j a)l ajsplicable statutes, laws,
feigulatiotis, :and orders of federal, state, ebunty of rnunicipal
authbrities which impose anyj PbligatiPn or duty upon the
ContfactPP, incruding, but«not limited to, civil rights and equal
employment opportunity laws. In addition, if this Agreement is
funded inany part by monies of the United States, the.Contractor
shalfcPriipIy with all fedefal executive brders; rules, regulations
and statutes, ahd with any rules,regulations and guidelines as the
State or the United Sfatbs issueltP implement these regulations.
The:Contractor shall also comply with all applicable intellectual
property jaws, |
6,2; During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not
disefirTiinate against .emplpybes or applicants fpf' employmeiit
beeausePf race; cdiof, feligipn, jcreed, age, sex, handicap, sexual
ofientation; or national origin arid will take affirmative: action to

■ prevent.such,discrimination, i
.6,3. Thp Gontractor agrees to. permit the State of ;Unitcd States
access to any pftbe Cpntractpr'sbppks, recprds and accounts for
the piirppsepfascertaining cpmpiiance wilb: nil rules, fegulations
and orders; and the covenants, terms and conditiohs of this
Agreement. I

7, PERSONNEL. |
7.1 l:he GontraGtprshall p its oyyn expense'proyide all perspnnel
necessaiy'to pefform'the: Scfvi6es,.The Contractor warrants that
all personnel engaged in the; Services shall be qualified to
perform the Services, and; shall be p.roperly licensed and
otherwise aiithorized to do sp under ail applicable la\ys.
■7.2 Unless pthenvise aUthpfized; in Writing, during the term of
this; Agfoethefit, and for a period of six; (6)'ipbnths after the
Cpmplelipn Date in block 1.7, jthe GontraptPr shall not hire, and
shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, fi rm or
cPfporation with whcm it is engaged :in;;a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State employee;
or official, who is materially .involved in the proburernent,
administration' Or performance of this Agreement. This
prpvision shall survive termination of this Agreement.
y.TThe Contracting Officer specified in block 1:9, or his or her
successor, shall be the State's i|epfesentative. In:the everit pfany
dispute epncefnihg- the'interpfetatipn of this Agreement, the
Coh'tfactingO.fficerN decisipn' sha|I:be final for the State.
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8. EVENT OF DEPATLT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions Of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder ("Event

of Default"):
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;
8.1.2 failure tO submit any report required.hereunder; and/pr
8.1 3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition of
this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may
lake any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
.8.2.1 give the Contractor a vvrittert notice Specifying the Event of
Default and requiring it'fo be retn.edied within, in the absence of
a greater or lesser.apecifiCation of time, thirty (30) days from the
date of the notice; andafthe iEvent of Default is not timely cured,
terminate this Agreementj effective ;t.vvo (2) days after giving the
Contractor notice of temiination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice; until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default
shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Rvent of
Default and set off againsmny:: other, obligations the State may
owe to the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of
any Event of Default; and/or
8.2.4 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default, treat the Agreement as breached, tcnninate the
Agreement and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity, or
both.

8.3. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions hereof after
any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with
regard to that Event of Default, or ahv subsequent Event of
Default. No express failure to enforce any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and
all of the provisions hereof upon any further or other'EVent of
Default on the part of the Contractor;

9. TERiMINATION.

9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole
discretion, tcnninate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or
in part, by thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor that
the State is exercising its;option lo terminate the Agreement;
9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for
any reason other than the completion of the Services, the
Contractor shall, at the State's discretionj deliver to the
Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date
of termination j a report ("Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and, including the date of termination. The form, subject matter,
content, and nuihber of copies of the Termination Report Shall
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
EXlllBITB. In addition, at the State's discretion, the Contractor

shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination, develop and
submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the

Agreement.

10. data/access/confidentiAlity/

PRESERVATION.

10.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" Shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic
representations, computer programs, computer printouts, notes,
letters, memoranda, papers, and documents, all whether
finished or unfinished.

10.2 All data and any property which has.been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon termination
of this Agreement for any reason.
10.3 Confidentiality ofdata shall bergovemed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure ofdata requires
prior written approval of the State.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO The STATE, In the
performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respects
an independent contractor, and- is neither; an agent ,nor an
employee of the State. Neither the Cdntractdr- nor- any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation or
other einoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMEM7DELEGATION7SUBCONTRACTS.
12.1 The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest ih this Agreement withOiit the prior Written notice, which
shall be provided to the State at least fifteen (15) days prior to
the assignment, and a written consent of the: State. For purposes
of this paragraph, a Change of Control shall constitute
assignment. "Change of Control" means (a) merger,
consolidation, or a transaction or series of related transactions in
Which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the
direct of indirect owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the
votirig shares or Similar equity interests, or combined voting
power of the Contractor, or (b) the sale of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Contractor.

12.2 None of the Services shall be subcontracted by the
Contractor without prior written notice and consent of the State.
The State is entitled to copies of all subcontfacts and assignment'
agreements and shall not be bound by any provisions contained
in a:,subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it is not d
party.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Uriless otherwise exempted by law,
the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State, its
officers and employees, from and against any and all claims,
liabilities and costs for any personal injury or property damages,
patent or copyright infringement, or other claims asserted against
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the Slate, its officers or employees, which arise out of (or which
may be claimed to arise out of) the acts or omission of the
Contractor, or subcontractors, including but not limited to the
negligence, reckless or intentional conduct. The State shall not
be liable for any costs Incurred by the Contractor arising under
this paragraph 13, Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
confained shall be deemed to constitute a waivet of the sovereign
immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to the
State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

]4:.l The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
coiitinuously maintain in force, and shall require- any
subcontractor of assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the

following insurance;
14.f,l commercial: general liability insurance against all claims
of bodily injury, death or property damage, in arnounts Of not
less than 31,000,000 per occurrence and $2^000,000 aggregate
or excess;ahd
14,1.2 special cause Of loss coverage form covering all property
subject to subparagraph 10.2 herein,,in an amount not less than
8Q%.ofthe whole replacement value of the property.
|4J2,The policies:described in subparagraph. 14.| herein shall be
on policy forinS and endorsements approved fOf use in the State
of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and
issued by insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire.
14.3 The-Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block L9, or his or her successor, a eeftifioate(s) of
insurance for all insurahce required under this Agreemenf
Gontractdfshall alsofurnish to the" Contracting Officer identified
in biockii.9, of his:Or her successor, certificate(s) of ihsurance
fpr all renewals) of insurahce required under this Agreement no
later than ten (10) days prior to, the expiration date .of each
ihsurance pQlicy. The ceftificate(s) of insurance arid any
rehevyaTs,therebf shall be attached and are incorporated herein by
■refereriGe,

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION.
td.i :By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, certifies
and warrarits thatrihe Contractor is in.compliari'ee. With of exempt
from,the reqiiireniehts of N.H. RSA chapfer-28-l-A ("Workers'
COmpensatipri'%
15.2: -po' the extent the GOntractor is subject to the requirements
of N.H. liSA chapter 38l.-A, Contractor shall maintain, and
require ;any subcontractor or assignee to secure and mairitajri,.
payment of VVorkers' Compensation in coriiiection with
actiyities vybich thepersph pfopbses to undertake pufsuaht to this
Agreement, The Confractor shall furnish the Contracting Officer
jdbritifiedirt block 1,9, dfhis or her successor, proof of Workers'
Gbmperisatibn in the manner described in N.H. RSA chapter
SSirA and any applicable renewalps) thereof,, which shall he
attached and are, incorporated herein by .refereiice. The State
shall riot be fesponsiblej for payment bf any Workers'
Goiriperisatiori prerriiiims of for any other claim or benefit for
Cdritractof, of any subcOntfactOf or employee of Contractor,
which friight arise Urider applicable State of New Hampshire

Workers' Compensation laws in coririection "with the
perfonuance of the Services under this Agreement.

16. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemedlto have been duly delivered or given at the time
of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in-a United States
Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses' given in
blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

17. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived
or discharged only by an instniment :in writing sighed by the
parties hereto and only after approval of such amendment,
waiver or dischafge by the GoyefnOr and Executive Council of
tire State Of New Hampshireunjessno such approval is required
under the circumstances pursuant to State law, rule or policy.

18. CHOICE OF ,LAW AND FORDMl.THls Agreeirieht shall
be governed, interpreted arid CopStfued in apcbrdance with the
laws of the State of New HampshireVand is binding upon and
inures to the benefit ofthe parties and their respective:successors
and assigns. The wording used inithis Agreement is the wbfding
chosen by the parties to expfess their riiUtual iriterit, arid rip rule
of cohstruptipnshalfbe applied,against qfih faypr of ahyparty-.
Any actions arising out of this Agreement shall be brought and
maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court'which shall have
exclusive jurisdiction thereof

19. CONFLICTING TERMS, in the event of :a cpnflict
between the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXHIBIT
A) arid/Or attachments and amendment thereof, the terms of the
Pr37 (as modified in.EXHiBl.f A) shall control.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any "third parties and this Agreement shall not be
coristrued to confer any suCh benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement are
for reference purposes only, and the words contained therein
shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the
ihleiprefatiori, construction or nicaniiig ofthe provisidris of this
Agreemcrit.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying
provisions set forth in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated
herein by reference.

23. SEVERABILITV. In the event any ofthe provisions of this
.Agreement:are, held by a court of competent jurisdiction: to be
contrary to any state or federal lavv-.the remaihirig proyisipns pf
this Agreement will remairi in full force and effect>

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be
executed in a number of Counteiparts; each of which shall be
deeme'd an original, constitutes the entire agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agrceipents and understandings with respect to the subjectmatter
hereof.
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EXHIBIT A

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

•  Agrees to insert in all contracts and funding agreements with other State or private entities the following

clause:

"During the performance of this eontract/funding agreement, the contractor/funding recipient agrees—

a. To comply with all Federal nondiscrimination laws and regulations, as may be ahrnehded frbm time to

time;

b. Not to participate directly or indirectly in the discriminatibn prohibited by any Federal nonr
discrimination law or regulation, as setTorth in appendix B of 49 GFR part 21 and herein;

c. To perrhit access to its books, recbrds, accdiints, other Sburces of irifOrrnation, and its facilities ;as
respited by the State highway safety Officei US DQTor NHT&ft;

d. That, in event a contractor/funding recipient fails to comply with any nondiscrimination provisions in
this contract/furtdlng agreenieht, the state highyyay Saff^ agency vi/ill ha^ the rightte inipose such
epritract/agreernent sanctipos aS: it or NHTSA deterrnine.are appropriate/ including but not limited to
withholding payments to the contraetor/funding recipient under the contract/agreemerit until the
eontractor/funding recipient complies; and/or cancelling, termmating. Or suspehding a contract or
funding agreement, in whole or in part; and

e. To insert this clause, including paragraphs (a) through (e), in every subcontract and sub agreement
and in every solicitation for a subcontract or sub-agreemerit, that receives Federal funds under this
program.
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SPECIAL PROVISIONS

U.S. Department of Transportation/NHTSA Grant Conditions:

As a result of participating in Federal hfehway safety grant programs administered by National Highway Traffic Safety Adrninisuation (NHTSA)
and the US Department of Transportation (USDOT), highway safety subrecipients are required to.compiy with,the foliowing documents:

• Subrecipients; agree to comply with aii appiicabie elements, of NHTSA's Memorandum: Use of NHTSA Highway Safety Grant Funds-foe
Certain Purchases May 18, 2018 and found at the foiiOwing Web link.: https://www.nhtsa,gov/highway-safety-grants-
program/resources-guide . Subrecipients.should pay particular attention to the sections on jl) allowable costs for equipment, travel,
training, and consultant services; and (2) uhaiipwable costs for equipment, facilities and construction, traihlrig and program
administration. . ..

•  Subrecipients agree to comply with ail appiicabie elements of 2 CFR 200 - the Uniform Administrative Requirement for Grants, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements as promulgated by the U.S. Department of Transportation, This document is found at the following
Web link htti35://wwvv.hhtsa.gpWhighWay-safety^gfahtSrprpgfa.rn/resources-guide.

•  Subrecipients agree to.corhply.withell appiicabie Federal basjc and Incentive grant program requirements as outljned in the Highway
Safety Grant Management iVlanuai found at the fbliowlhg Web link: https://www:nhtS3.goy/highwaYrsafety-grants-program. This
document provides information on each of the grant programs.

The following additional provisions apply to hlghyvay safety subrecipients as a result of certifications and assurances provided to NHTSA by.State
Highway Safety .Offices in their Highway Safety Plan:

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

The State will comply with applicable statutes and regulatipns/iricluding but not limited to:

•  23 U.S,€...Ghapter 4.1-lighway'Safetv Act of.l966,:a.5; amended
•  Sec.:1906, .Pub, L..i09-59, as amended by Sec. 4011, Pub. L..H4-94
.  -ia GFR,part.:1300:uhifofm:PfGcediifes:fof State Highway Safety Grant Programs.
•  2 GFR part 200 Uniform Adriiihistrative:Reqdlrements,GostPfihciples, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards _
•  2 GFR part 1201 bepartmefit of Transpoftation, Uniform Administrative; Requirements,Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for

Federal Awards

INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVIEW OF FEDERAL PROGRAMS

The State hassubmittedapprbpfiate docUmentatldrifcir revieWtoithe singiepoint of contact designated by the Governor to ,review Federal
programs, as required by Executive Qfder:;12372 (lntergovernmentai Review Of Federai Programs).

FEpERAL funding AGCOUNTABiLiTy AlMD TRaNSPARENCY-ACT (FFATA),

the State will comply with FFATA guidance, QMB Guidance qn FFATA Subwafd arid Executive Compensatibn Reporting, August 27,'2010,
fhttPs://www.fsrs.gov/documents/OI^B Guidance on FPAtA Subaward and Executive Compensation Reporting 08272010:pdf l by
reporting to FSRS goV for eachiSub- grant awarded:

• Narhe. of the entity,feceiyihg. the avVafd;
Amount of the award; ■ j -

•  Information On theaWard includingtransaction .type, fundingagency. the North American industry aassificationiSystem .code or
Catalog of Federal Domestic AssistancenUmb'er fWHere appiiGabiej. program source; , j. u- c

• Location .of the entity receiving the award and; the prirniary location of-performance under the .award, including the.:ClW^;qw.m'.
cbngressional district,, and. country:,.and ap award tl.t|e..des.cript|.ve of the purp.6se,of;\each.fundlhg,action;

• Unique entity Identifier (generated by SAMigbv); . . . .
• the h3mes,and total compensatlOh of the five-most highly corhpensated officers Of the-entlty it:

(i) the entity in the precedingfiscal year received—

(1) 80 percent or more of Its annuai gross revenues in Federal awards;
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(Il)$25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues'from Federal awards; and

(il) the public does not have access to information about the compensation of the senior executives of the entity through
periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15U.S.C. 78m(a), 7.8o(d)) or section
6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1985;

Other relevant information specified by 0MB guidance.

NONDISCRIMINATION.

(applies to subredpients as-well as States)

the State highway safety agency [and its Subredpients] will comply with all Federal statutes and implementing regulations relating to
nbndiScriminatioh'C'Federal Nondiscrimination Authorities"). These include but are npt lirnited'tq';

• title VI of'the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U;S.C; 200Dd et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits discrifnination on the basis of race, color, national
origin); . . . .. . , .
• 49XFR part 21 (entitled Ndn-discrimination in Federally-Asitsted Progrpmspf:the Depprtmentvf trqpspdrfption—Effectiidtipn pf Title VI
of the Civil Rights Act of 19^
• 28 ,CFR sectloni Sp,3t(U.S. Department of Justice Guidelines for Enforcernent of Title Vl'^6f the Giyil Rights Act 011964);
• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 11970,: (43 U.S^ ®l)..(pf9h^^ nhfs'rtr.P^t'tienfof
persons displaced or whose property has been acquired because of Federal or FederaFaid programs and: projects);
• Federal-Aid Flighway Act of 1973, (23 U.S.C. 324 et seq.), and Title IX of the Educatioh Amendments of 1972, asamended (20:U.S.C.
1681-1683 and 1685-1686) prohibit discriminatlon.on the basis of sex);
• Secbdh 504.0/the Reho.d///tdt;On.ACto/J973> (29 U;S.C. 794 etsepi), as amendedj (prdhibitsdlscriminatipridn the basis of disability)
and 49 CFR part 27; . .
The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 6101 etsepdi (prohibits discrimlnatlbrt on the basis of age);

• TheCivilRights RestOration Act of 1987, (Pub. LlOO-209), (broadensscope, coverage and applicability of.Titfe VFpfthe Clvil Rights Act of 1964, The Age
piscrimlrertion Act pfl97S and Section;504 of the Rehabilitatibn Act of 1973,,by expandihg,th:e; definfflon. .of the;terms"Rro^^
the programs.or activities of the Federaiaid recipients, subrecipientsiand contractors, whether such programs or activifies are Federally-funded .or not);.
• titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 .:(j.s:C./l2131-l2189) .(prdhibits ;discfimihatiori oh the ,basis. in the
qperatipn of publiceritities,,public and private trahspprtation systems, places of public: accbmmddatlph^^
37 and 38;
•' Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Envlrdnmental Justice in
Minority Populations and Low-lhCome Populations (preventing discriminationagainst minority popolatlons by discouraging programs, policies, .and
activities With dispropdrtionafely high and adverse human health or environmental effects on minOrity andJpWlncome populations);: ,
• ExecutiveOrder'l3166,lmprovingAccesstoSeryrcesforPerscoswhhUnartedEnglishProfidency(requiring,thatrecipients;ofFedera!financlarassistance
provide meaningful access for applicants and beneficianes who have limited Ehglish;profiGiency(LEP));.' ■
• Executive Order 13985;: Advancing Racial Equity a.nd Support; for Undersefved ebromuhifies; fhrpugh the Federal Gpyernment
(advaneihgequity across the Federal gbvernment);:and

1. . Executive Order 13988, Preventing:and Combating Discriminatibn on the Basis pf Gender Identity or Sexual brlentation (clarifying that
sexdiscrlminatibn Includes discrimination on the grounds ofgender identityor sexual orienfationj,

Gcncrai Assurances

in accordance with the, Acts, the Regulations, and other pertinent direCtives,:circulars, policy, memoranda,:and/or,guidance,.the;Recipient hereby
gives assurance that J.f will promptly take any measures necessary to ensure that;

p.erson /Vt//ie feted ■Sm/es sAfl//, on r/ie grounds 0/wee, Cntor, or national be excludedjrpmpifrdcipa^^^
bf^.or be otherwise subjeciedtd under any program or'activily,/orWliichtlieJ(ecipienlrecehes Federal financial assistance from
DClTJncltidiifgNKIiSAi"

The CiyilRights Rest.bration Act of 1987 cJarified the original ihtcnt of CpngresS, with respecttp-Title VI of the Giyil Rights Act of1964 and other
non-discrirtiinatibn Tequirements fthe Age Discrimination Act of1973, and Section SOA of the Rehabiiifatlbn Act of 1073), by restbrihg the broad,
.institutibiiai-wide Scope and coverage of these nondiscrimination statutes; and requirements to incltide ah programs: and activities of :the;Recipient„so
long: as any portion of the program is Federally assisted.
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Specific Assurances

More specifically, and vvilhout limiting the above general Assurance, Ihe-Recipienl agrees with.and gives the following Assurances with respect to its
Federally assisted Highway Safety Grant Prograrn:

1. The Recipient agrees that each ''activity," "facility," or "program," as defined in ti 21.23fb') andfe) of 49 CFR nari 21 vyill be (with regard
to an "activity") facilitated, or vvill be (with regard to a "facility") operated, pi" will be (with regard to a "'program") conducted in
compliance with all requirements imposed by, or pursuant to the: Acts and the Regulations.

2. 1: The Recipient will insert the following notification in all solicitations for bids, Requests For Proposals for work, or material subject to
the Acts and the Regulations made in connection with all Flighway Safely, Grant Programs and,, in adapted form, in all proposals for
negotiated agreements regardless of funding source:

"TUe [name of Recipient!, in accordance with the provisions.of Title VI of the CivU Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C 2l)00d to
2600d-4j and the Reguiatidns, hereby notifies ait bidders, that it willaffifmativeiy ensure that in any con tract entered into pursuant to
this advertisement, disadvantagedbusiness enterprises Mli be afforded fntl arid fair opportunity to Submit bids in response to this
invitationand will not hediscriininated against on tliegrqpttds of fade, ebior, Or national in consideration for an award."

3. lite Recipient will insert,the clauses of appendi!t A,a,iid;E ofthik Assurance (also referred to as DOT Order 1050,2A)ifl in every contract or
agreeinent siibJeCt.to the Acts and the Regulations.

4. The Recipient will insert' the Clauses of appendix B of DOT Order 1050,2A, aS a coveriatit running with tlie land, in any deed from the
United States effectihg or recordirlg:a transfer of real pfopetty, structures,;use, or improvements thCreon or interest therein to a Recipient.

,5. That wheredhe Recipient receives Federal firiancial assistjaice,io consttrict;a facility. Of ̂  facility, the Assurance will extend to the
entire facility and facilities operated in Connection therewith;

6, That where the Recipichtioceiyes Federal finaiiciaFassistahcCjht^^ form of, or for die acquisition ofiireal property or an interest in real
property, the A'Ssurancc.will extend to rights:i0 space on, over, or under such property,

7, That the Recipient win include the clauses set forth in'appendixE and eppeiidix, D of tliis; DOT Order 1050,2A, as a covenant running with
the' land, in ahy future deeds, leases, licenses, permifs, or shnilar instrumeiids enlered ihto by the Recipient \yith qther parties:

a. for theVsubsequenttransferofreafproperty acquired Or improved under the applicable activity, project, or program; and
b. for .the,cpnstruction,qr use o.f or aceesS to, space'on, over, or tinder real property acquired or improved under the applicable

activity; project, or ptOgram.
8, Th,althisAsstt,ratice,obiigates the'Recipient, for the period dti,rihg Which Fete assistance is extended to the program, except

Where the Federal financial assistance is to provide, or is in the form of, persoiial property, or real property, or interest therein, of stiiiCtufes
or improvemeiilk thfcfeon,:ih whiCK case the Assurance obligates the feecipient, or any transferee for the longer of the follbwing periods:

a. the: period during which the/property is used fdrapurpose.fqr which theFederaffinancial assistance Is extended, or for andthef
purpose.invblving the proyisibri of similaf sefvieCs of benefits;mr

b. the periodduring vyhich the RecipicntTetarns ovmcrship orpossessioh bftheprbperffi
R. The Recipient will provide for sUCh methods of adffihtistration for. the pfbgfani as are-ibund by the Secretary of Transportation or the

official to whom.he/shei.dciegates.specific authqfity to give reasonablcguafantCe ihaf it, other recipients, sub^recipientk sub-grantees;
contractors,' subcontfactbr.s; consuhanls, tfansfereeS,/successQrs in interest,;and.other participaiits of Federahfinaneial assistance .under such
program will comply withal! jequirementstimposehbrpuikuaritto iheActkdhc Regulationsi and this Assurance.

10, TheRecipientagfeCkthatthe United sWes has a .right io seek judicial enforcement with reg.ard,to any matter arising under the Acts, the
Regulations, and.tKis. Asstifance;.

By signing this ASSURANOE, the State Highway safety agency also agrees to comply (and fequire any sub-recipients, sub-grantees,
cbntractors, successors,, riansfefees,; and/of assignee,s to.lcomplhj With all applicable pfoyisions goverTiing NHTSA's access to,fecofds,
accounts, documents, infpfmatioii,ffacilities, and staff. Yoii aisb recoghize that you must comply with any program or compliance reviews,
and/of complaint jnvestigations conducted byTIhFSA. VbiimiJStkecp.recbrds, repbrts, andisubmifthe material for review upbn request to
NliTSA, or itk dek'gnee in a iimelyi completb, and accufaleiway. Addifibnally; you nlust comply with all other reporting, data collcctibn,
and evaluation requirements, as prescribedlby law or .deiailcd in program guidance.

Tlie State" highway safety agency.giveS this ASSURAhiGE in'considefatiqn of andTorpbtairiing.a.ny Federal grants, Joans,'cOntfacts,
agreements, pfopefty, aitd/br di.scouhts,':br:bthbf Fedcritl-aidand Federal financial asSistanceextended aficr the.date hereof to the recipients
by the U.S. bepartmenl of Transpoftatipn under the Highway Safety GrsuVfProgfaifi. This .AS.SURANCE is Binding on the State highway,
safety agency, other recipients,; Sub-fecipientkvsub-grjintees;, Contractors, subcontfactors:,and:their;subc.ontractors', transferee^ , successors in
interest, and.any^pther participants in the.Highway SaletyiGfaiit Program; The persbn(s):signing beloW is/are authorized to sign this
ASSURANCE bh behalf of the Recipient.'.
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THE DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE ACT OF1988 (41 U.S.C. 8103)

The State will provide a drug-free workplace by:

a  Publishing a staternent.notifying employees that the uhlaviiful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession or use of a controlled
substance ls prohibited in: the grantee's workplace, and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;:

b  Estabiishihg a drug-free avyareness program to inform employees about:
1) The dangers of drug'abusetn the workplace;
2) The granteels policy of maintalning.a drugtffee workplace;
3) Any available drug counseling, rehabllitatlon, and employee assistance programs;
4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug violations occurring in the workplace;
5) Making it a.requirement that each employee engaged in the perforrnance of the grant be given a copy of the statement required by

paragraph (a);
c  fiotifying the employee in the,statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of employment under the grant, the employee will -

1) AfaidebYtheitermsofthesfaternent;
2) Notify'the employer Of any criminal drug statute conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five days after such

conyictidn;
d. Nptifying.the agency within ten days after receiving notice under subparagfaph (g)(2) from an employee or othenvise receiving actual hptice

of such cOhvictioh;

C  Takingione Ofthe following actions, within SO.days of receiving notice under subparagraph (c)(2). With respect to any empioyee who is so
Gonyicted -
1) Taking appropriate personnel action against such an erhployee, up to and including termination;
2) Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabllltatipn program approved for such purposes,fay

a federal, State,.or Ipcal health, lavy enforcement; or other appropriate agency;
f) Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free WorkplacethrOugh implementation of all of the paragraphs,above..

POLmCAi. ACriVITY (HATCH ACT)

(applies to subrecipients as well as States)

The State will comply Withprovislons ofthe Hatch Act (S U.S;C 1501-150.8), which limits the political activities Of employees whose principaf
employment activities are funded in Whole or in part .with Federai funds,

CERTIFICATION REGARDING FEDERAL LOBBYING

(applies tpiubrecipientsiasWeiras States)

Certification for Contracts/Grants, Loans, and .Cooperative.Agreements

The undersigned certifies; to the best of his Or her knowledge and belief, that::

1, No.Federalapprppriated funds have been paid pr.vyill be Raid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting
fo influence an Officer.OrempiOyee^Of any agency, a MemberofCongress; an.offi'cer or employee ofCongress/or anemployee of a Member Of
Cpngressih conrtectipn:with thfawarding of any F^^^ contract, the making of any Federal grant, the makingof any Federal loan, the entering
into pfan.yGOOperatiVe agfeerheht,and;the extension,:c0htinuation,reheWal, amendment, of modificatiOnbf any Federal contract^grant, loan,
or cooperative; agreement; ..

2. If any funds otherthan' Federal apRropriated funds have been paid or wili be paid to any perspn fpr influencing or atternpting to infiuehce an
officer or empipyee Ofany agenpy; a" Member of Congress, ah Officer or employee Of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress/in
connection with this FedeVai cphfrOcf>:grant, lOan, 0 cooperative agreem.ent, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL,
''biseiosure Form to Report Lobbying,''in accordance with its instructions;

3: The.undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be inciuded in the. award dpcumentsfor all. sub;7aWards at:ail tiers .(including
subcontracts, Subgra.nts, and c^ under grant, ioans,:and Cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose
accordingly.
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This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered irito.
Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by-section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any
person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a cjyil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

RESTRICTION ON STATE LOBBYING

(applies to subrecipients as well as States)

None of the funds underthis program will be used for any activity specifically designed to urge or influence a State or local legislator to favor or
oppose the adoption of any specific legislative proposal pending before any State or local legislative body. Such activities Include both direct
and indirect (e.g., "grassroots") lobbying activities, with one exception. This does not preclude a State.offiCiafwhose salary.is supported with
NHTSA funds from engaging in direct communications with State or local legislative officials, in accordance with CuStOrnary State practice, even
if such.communications urge legislative officials to favor or oppose the adoption of a, specific pending legislative proposal.

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION

(applies to subrecipients as well as States)

instructions for:Prima|7 Tier Participant Certification (States)

i.By signing and Submittihgthis pfpposal, the prospective primary tier participaht is^providing thelcertification set nut below and agrees to Cpmply
with the reauiremehts of 2 CFR parts 180 and 1200.

2..The linability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result; in denial of participation in this-covered
transaction. The prospective.primary tier participant shairsubmit;an,'explariationpf-why.it-'(:.anh6t provideth.e certification set-'p,ut,belOyv. The
certification or explanation will be considered in connection with the department or agency's determination whether to enter into this
transaction. Hovveverjfailureof the prospective primary tier participant to furnish.alcertification or ah explanation shall disqualifY such person
from participation In ttitstransa.Ction.

;3.The certification iri this Clause iS a material representa tion of fact upon which reliance was placed when the: departrrient or agency determined
to enter into this, transaction. If it is later determined that rthe prospective primary tier participant knowingly, rendered an erroneous
certification,In additlon.to other remedies available to the Federal Goyefnme.hf, the ,depa'rtinentdr agency may tefrninate'this transaction for
cause or default or rriay pursue suspension or debarment.

4.The prospective primary tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to the department or agency to which this proppsa i is submitted
if at any time the prospective:p,rimary tier participant learns Its certification was erroneous when subrn|tted Or has beC.drhe errdneoua^
reasdn:.df Cha nged Circumstances.

5.The terms coveredfronSocf/on;,c/v//)udpment, deborment,:suspension,/ne//g/b/e, port/c/pon(, person, princ/pof ond vo/untoriyy excluded; as used
in:rhis clause. are defined 'in 2 CFRoarts 180 and 1200. You may contact the department or agency to "whlchthis p.roposal l's beihg subniitted
f6r:assistahce in obtaining a copy of those regulations.

StThe prospective primary tier participant agrees by submitting this proposal thaf^ should the proposed covered transaction be entsred into, it
shall nofknowingly.ehfer into.tany lower tier covered transactlpn, with a person who is proposed for deBarrnerituhdef 48'CFR part 9. subpart
M.:debafred, suspended, declafed ineiigible> Or voluntarily excluded from,participation in-this covered transaction/unless authorized by the
department or agency-entering into this transaction.

7.The prospective primary tier participant further agrees by submitting:this proposal that it will Include the-clause tifled ''lhstructi6ns for Loyver
tier Participant .Certification.".including the "Certification.Regarding.Debarment, SuSpensidnrtoc'iii'5.i'ityand;VoluhtarYExd
Covered Transactipnl'' provided by the department or agency ehterlhg into this covered transaction, without modification, in all lower-tier
covered transactions and in ail solicitations for lower tier covered transactions and will require lower tier participants to compiy with 2 CFR
parts 180 and .1200.

8.A partiCipant |n a edvered transaction may rely upon a Certification of a prospective participant in a lower tiercovered transaction that it isndt
proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part' 9. subpart 9,4. debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded frdm ithe covered
transaction, unless itknows that the-ceftification is erroneous, Aparticlpant is reSROhsibie fpr ensuring.thatlfspnhcipalsare riobsuspended,
debarred, or. otherwise ineligible toparticipate iri Covered transactiohs.To .Veri^ the eligibility of.its'prinCipalS, as welias theLeJigibii.ity of any
prospective, lower tier participants, each participant may, but is not required to, check the System for Award IVjanagement ExcluSiohs vyeBslte
lhttDs://www;sam.aovA.
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g.Nolhing contained in the foregoing shail be construed to require establishment of a systeni of records in order to render in good faith the
certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is norrnally possessed
by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction knowingly enters into a
lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarfnent under 48 GFR part 9. subpart 9.4. suspended, debarred, ineligible,
or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to other rernedies available to the Federal Government, the
department or agency may terminate the transaction for cause or.default.

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Mattefs-Prirnary Tier Covered Transactions

i. The prospective primary tierparticlpant certifies to the best of/lts knoWledge and belief, that it and its principals:
a. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared,Ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from

participating in cpveredtrahsactions by any Federal department or agency;
b. Have hot within a three-year period preceding this proposal been convicted pf or had a civil Judgment rendered against them

for commission, of fraud or a criminal pffehse In cpnnecllph.viith pbtalhing>fattempting to obtain,.or perforrnlng a public
(Federal, State, or local) transaclldn or contract undera public transaction;, viplatlonof Federal or State ..antitrust Statutes: p.r
commission of embezzlementi theft, forgery, bribery, falsification Or destruction of records, making false statements, or
recelyingstOIehprOperty;

c. Are not presently Indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (Federal, State, or local). With
commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (i){bj;pf this certification; and

d. Have not within a.three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, State,
Or Ideal) ferrnlnated.for'cause.or default;

2; Where the prospective primary tier participa nt is unable to certify to any of the Statements In this certification, such prospective
participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal.

Instructions for Lower Tier Participant Ceitification

1. By sigrling and submitting, this prpppsal, the prospective Idwentierparticipahtls pfdyidi'ng the .ce.rtiflcatio'n Set out bejovv and agrees to comply'
with the reoUirements of 2 CF.R parts 180 and 1200.

2. The certlficatibn In this clauseis .a material representation of factlupon which feiiahcewas placed .when this transaction was entered,Into. If it
Is later determined that the prospective lower tier participant.knowirtgly rendered an erroneous certificatldn, in addition to other remedies available
to the Federal Government,'the department or agency with which this transaction,originatecl. may, pursue available remedies, including suspensidh
ordebarment.

3. The prospective lower tier partlciparit shail provide immediate written'nbtlceltd the personrto, which this proposal,is submitted if^at any time
the prospective lower tier pa'rtleipaht learnS that its Gertificatidn was errbrieous When subrhitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

4. Ihe.temscovered transaction, civil'judgment, debdrmerit, suspension, iheligible/ participant, person, principal, and voluntarily:excluded, as
used in .this clause, are dp.fihed" in 2 CFR. parts 180 and 1200.' You' may contact'the person to: Whom this, proposal i.s submitted for asSistance in
Obtaining a copy of those regulations.

5. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting;this proposaj that, should the prdposed ebVered transaction be entered intd, it shall
not knowingly enter into'any iDwer tier GOvered transaction wittta person who iSpmpfviprifnr deharmRntunder^S CFR part 9. subpart 9,4. debarred,
suspended,.declared ine!igible,.dr yoluntarjiy exclud.ed frorn participation In this covered transaction, unless authorized bythe department,or agency
with .which this transaction originated.

6. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees.by submitting:this proposal that it wiil includb the-clause titled "Instructions for Lower
Tier Participant Certificatiori''^ including.the; "Gertlfication Regarding,pebarmeht; .Suspension, Ineligibility and Vbluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier
Covered Trpnsaction,"vvithout,modification, in all lower tier covered'transactions and ln:aHsoiicitationsforlower tier ,covered transactions and Will
require loWer tier participants to cpfnply with 2 CFR parts 180:and 1200.

7. A participant in a covered tfansactibh rriay rely upbti a certification,of a prospective participant in a jovyer-tier covered transaction that it is not
p"rnpn.:pH fnrHpharmpnriimdpf:48'CFR dart 9, Suboart>9.4:'deb3rred. suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from the,covered transaction,
unless it knows that the certification: Is,erroneous. A participaht iS reSpdnsible for .erisunhg ,that, its principals arb not suspended, debarred, or
otherwise ineligible to participate in covered transactions. To verify the eligibility of its princ!pal5, as Weil as the eligibility of any prospective lower
tier participants; each participant may, but is not required to, check the Systemfor Award Management Exclusions website {https://www.sam.qov/).
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8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to' require establishrnent of a system Of records iri order to rehder ih.good faith the
certification required by this ciauset The knowledge and information of a participant is hot required to exceed that which is normally possessed by
a prudent person in the: ordinary course of business dealings.

9. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 5 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered transactiori knowingly enters into a
lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9. subpart 9.4. suspended, debarred, ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from participation In this transaction, in addition to other'remedies available to the Federal Goverriment, the department or
agency with which this transaction originated may pursue available remedies, including suspension or debarment.

Certification Regardirig Debarment^ Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -- LovyerTler Covered Transactions:

1. The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by submission of this proposal, that neither it nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended,
proposed for.debarment, declared ineliglbie, or voiuntariiy excluded from participating in covered transactions by any Federal, department or
agency. . ,

2. Where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the statemehts in this certification/ such prospective participant shall
attach an explanation to.this proposal.

BUY AMERICA ACT

[applies to subredpients as well as States)

The State and each subrecipieht.wili comply with the. Buy America reQuiremerltf23 U.S.C. 513) when purchasing items using F.ederalfjunds, Buy
America requires aState> or subreciRieht,'tO purchase with Federal funds only steel, iron and manufactured products produced in the United
States, unless the Secretary.oftfansportafion determinesthat such domestically produced items vaquld be inconsistent withfhe public intere^^^^
that such materials are not reasonably available and of a satisfactory quality, or that inclusion of domestic materiais will increase the cost of
the overall project contract by mote tnari 25 percent. In order to use Federal funds to purchaseforeign produced items, the State must submit
a walyer request that provides an/ad.equate basis and.juslificatipn for approval by the.^cretafyufTrahsportatio'm

Certlficatipn on Conflict of Interest

(Appliesitp Siibrecipients as Well as States)

GeneralRequirerhents

No ernpldyee, officer or ageht df a; State or fts subrecipiehfvyhp is in andfficial capacity to negotiate, make. accept or approve, or to
take part in negotiating, making, accepting or approving any subaward,Jnciuding contracts.or subcontracts, in connection withihisBrant shall have,
directly or IndirectlY, any financial or personal, interest in any such :subaward. SuCh a.financial or personal interest vyould arise whenthe ernpioyee;
officeq.or agent, any rrierhber of his or;hef immediate family,, M or her parfner,Of an organization'which emplpyf or is about to employ any Of the
parties indicated herein, has a fihanCiai or personal ihterestin .or a tangible personal benefit from an entity considered for, a subavyard.. Based ,on
this policy;

1. Thefecipient shall maintain a written code or standards of conduct that provide for diseiplinary actions to be,applied;for vio.la;tions:pf such
standards by officers, employees, or agents.

a. The code or standards Shall providd that the:recipient'sofficers,.emplOyees, or agents may neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors, or
anything of monetary value.from present or pptenfial subawardees, inciudingcontractofs or parties to subconfracts.

b: The code or standards shall establish penalties, sanctions or other disciplinary actions forviola.fions, .as permitted by State or local law of
regulations.

2. The recipient Shall maintain responsibility to enforce the requirements of the written code or sta.ndardsqf conduct.
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Disclosure Requirements

No State or its subrecipient, including its officers, employees or agents, shall perform or contihue to perfornri under a grant or cooperative
agreement, whose objectivity may be impaired because of any related past, present, or currently planned interest, financial or otherwise. In
organizations regulated by NHTSA or in organizations whose interests may be substantially affected by NHTSA activities: Based on this policy:

1. The recipient shall disclose any conflict of interest identified as soon as reasonably possible: rnaking an irrirnediate and full disclosure in writing
to NHTSA. The disclosure shall Include a description of the action which the recIpTenthas taken or proposes-to take to avoid or mitigate such
conflict.

2. NHTSA Will review the disclosure and may.require additional relevant information from the recipient. If a'coriflict of interest is found to exist,
Ni-iTSAmay

(a) terminate the award. Or

(b) determine that it is otherwise in the best interest of NHTSA to ContinueThe award and Inciudeappropriate provisions to mitigate or avoid
such conflict.

3. Conflicts ofinterest that fequire disclosure include all past, present of currently planned organizational, financiaii Contractual or other
lnterest{s) with an Organization regulated by NHTSA or with an organization whose interests rnay.be substantially affected by NHTSA activities,
and which.are. related to this award. the interest(s) that require disclosure ih'clude'th'pse;of anyTecipiertt, affiliate, proposed consultant,,
proposed subcdntractor and key personnel Of any of the above. Past interest shall be limited to.within one year Ofthedate of awardi Key
personneishail include any personownlhg more than a 20 percent interestin a recipient, and theiOfficers-, employees or agents of a recipient
Who are responsible for making a decision or taking an actiph under an award where the deciS16h;0T cap have ah econdrhic ofdthef
impact ohThe interests; of a regulated Or affected-organization.
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PROHIBITION ON USING GRANT FUNDS TO CHECK FOR HELMET USAGE

{applies to subreciplents as well as States)

The State and each subrecipient will not use 23 U.S.C. Qhapter 4 grant funds for prograrns to cheek helmet usage or to create checkpoints that
specifically target motorcyclists.

POLICY ON SEAT BELT USE

In accordance with Executive Order 13043, increasing Seat Belt UseJn the United States, dated April 15,1997, the Grantee is encouraged to
adopt and enforce pn-the-job seat belt .use policies and programs for its employees:vvhen operating'company-owned, rented, orpersohally-
owned vehicles. The National Highway Traffip Safety Administratioh'(NHTSA).is responsible for providing leadership and guidance in support
of this Presidential initiative. For information and resources on traffic safety programs and policies for employers, please contact the Network
of Employers for Traffic^ Safety (NEtS), a public-private partnership dedicated to improving the traffic safety practices of employers and
employees. You can dowhipad infprmatidn.pn seat belt prpgrarns, costs of ;mptor vehicle crashes to employers, and other traffic safety
initiatives at www.iraffksofetv.ora: the NHTSA website' twww.hhtso.aov) also provides information on statistics, campaigns, and program
evaluations and references.

PPUCY ON BANNING JEXT MESSAGING WHILE DRIVING

In.accordance with.Executive Order 13513. Federal Leadership Oh Reducl^ Messaging While Driving,: and DOT Oider 3902.10, Text
Messaging While Driving, States are encouraged.To adopt and enforce workplace safety policies tp decrease crashes caused by distracted
driving, including policies to ban text messaging while driving company-oWned/or rented: Vehicles, Government-Owned, leased: Or rented
vehicles, or privatelyrbwned vehicles-when on pfficial Gpyempteht busihess of when performihg any Work pri pf behalf of the Government,
States are also encouraged ito conduct workplace safety ihitiatives in ,a manner comntiensurafe with the size of the business, such as
establishment of new rules:.and programs or re-evaluation of existing prograrns to: prohibit text.messaging while driving, and education,,
awareness, and other outreach to employees about the safety risks;associated with texting while driving.

SECTIQN.402 REQUIREMENTS

.1. To the best of my p.ersonal knowledge,'the:i,rtformado.nsubfrlitted in theiarin.uai grant application in support of the State's appljcatibn for
a grant under 23 U.S.C. 402 Is accurate and complete,

2. The Governor is the responsible official for the:adminis.t.ration.ofthe 'State hlghway safety program, by appointing a Governor's
Representatiye for Highwaw^fety who shail be responsible for a State highway safety agency that has adequate powers and Is suitabiy
equipped and organized (as evidenced by appropriate oversight procedures governing such areas as procurement, financial
administration, and the use, management, ahdidiSpOSitlOn-pf equipment) to Carry put the program. (23 U.S.C. 402(b)(1)(A))

3. At least 40 percent ofalj Federal funds apportioned to thisiState under 23 U.S.C. 402 for this fiscal year will be expended by or on behalf;
of political subdivisions of the State in cafrying out lbcal highway safety pfogfamS (23:U.S.C..402(b)(l)(Cl) or 95;percent by and on behalf
of Indian tribes (23,U,S.C^4b2(bl(2)). uhleSs this requirement is vvaived ih.vvriting. (This.provisipn IS nobapplicable to the pistrict of
Columbia, Puerto Rico, the UiS. V|fgiri IslandsrGuam, American Samqa, and the eommbnwealth df the Nbrthern Mariana Islands.)

4. the State's highway safety program provides adequate and reasonable access for the safe and Gpnvehient movement of physically
handicapped persons. Including thosejn vvheelchairs, across curbs constructed or replaced.on of after Juiy 1,,1976, at all pedestrian
crosswalks: (23 UiS.C. 462(bi(l)(D)i:

5. As part of a comprehensive program, the State .vyjlf supp.ort a data-based traffic safety enfbrcement pfogmm that fosters effective;
community collaboration fo. Increase publie:Safety,.and,data..coiiec.tipn and arialyslitp ensure transpafehcyi. identify disparities iq traffic
pnfnrrpmpnt and inform traffir pnfnrcemp.nt policies, procedures, and activities, (23 U.S.C. 462(b)(1)(E)),

6. The,State will implement,activities In sopportqf nationai highway safetyjgoais to reduceimotpr vehicle related fatalities that also reflect
the primaiy.data-related crash factbrs vylthln the.Stete, as identiflediby the State highway safety pl.anriihg process, including:

•  Participation in the National high-vlsibiiityliaw enforcement.mobilizatlons.'as,identified annually in the.NHTSA Communications-
Calendar; including not ieSs than 3,'mObilization: campaigns in. each fiscai year to^

o Reduce alcohpi-irrtpaired or dfug-impaired. Operation. ofmotorVehicles; and.
o ihcfease uybbf:Seatbeits:byqccupants.ofmotof .vehicle

•  Sustained enforcernent 6f stetuteladdfessingiimpaifed driving; occupant ,protection, and driving in excess of posted speed
limits;
An annual Statewide seat belt use survey in accordance with 23 GFR part; 1340 for the measurement of State seat belt use fates,
exceptifor fhe-Secretai^.Of interibf on behalf'o.frjndian. trib^^

•  Development of'Sta.tevvide.data;systems;tG provide tlmdly-and effective data.ahalysis to support:allocation p
resources;,

•  Coordination of trlennjal HighvvayiSafetv Plan, data collection; and information,systems wlfh the State strategic,highway Safety
plan, as definedTn 23 U.S;C.;148(a): and' .. .

»  Participation in the Fatality Artalysis Reporting-System (FARS), except for American, Samoa, Guam, the Commonwealth of the;
Nnrthprn Mariaha Island.S. or the United States Vireinlslands. (23 U.S,C. 402(bl(i)(F))

7. The State will actively encourage all re|eyant layV enforcement agencies in the State to fojiow the guidelines established for vehicular
pursuits isSued by the Inte'fhabbnai.Assbciatjpn o Rolic'e that are curfently in effect. (23 U.S.C. 402(1))

Page 14, of 28
Contfactor Initials yy

Date I i



8. The State will not expend Section 402 funds to carry out a program to purchase, operate, or maintain an automated traffic enforcement
system, except in a work zone Or school zone. (23 U.S.C. 402(c1(41)

§ 200.216 Prohibition on certain telccommunlcafions and video surveillance services or equipment.
(a) Recipients and subrccipients are prohibited irom obligating or expending loan or grant lunds to;

(1) Procure Or Obtaiii;
(2) Extend or renew a contriiol to procure or obtain; or
(3) Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain equipment, ser\'ices. or systerns that uses covered
teiecommuntcatibns equipment or services as a substantial or cs.scnlial component of any system, or as critical technology as' part
of any systein) As described in Public Law 115-232. section 889, covered telecommunications equipment isTelecOmmunications
equipment pfoduced by HuaWei Technologies CorUpany or ZTE Corporation [or any subsidiary or alTiliate of such entities).

(1) For the purpose of public safety, security of govemnienl facilities, physical security surveillance of critical
infrastructure, and other national security punx)scs, video surveillance and tclecpmmuhicaitipns equipment produced by
Elj/tera Conirnunications Gorporation, Hangzhou I likvision Digital Technology Company, of DahuaTechnology
eompany (of any subsidiary of aiTiliale of such entities).
(ii) Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using such equipment.
(iii) TdJupdnitnunications or video surveillance equipment or services pfoduced or provided by hn entity that the
Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director of the National Intelligence orThe Director of the Federal
Bureau of investigation, reasonably believes to be an entity owned or controlled by, or otherwise eonnected fb, the
;go.vetnment of a covered foreign country.

(b) In implefnenting the pfbhibitiorTunder Public Law 115-:-232. section 889, subsection (f), paragraph (1), heads of executive.agencies
adrhipistefihgloariiigfant, or subsidy pfogfams shall prioritize available.funding and techrtical support to assist affected.businesses.
Institutions and organizations as'is reaspnably necessary for those affected entities to transitipn frorn covered comrnuhicatioriS:
equipment and services, to procure replacement equipment and services, and to ensure that communications service to.users and
GustOfners iisustalhed

(c);See,Publiciaw 115-232, section 889 for additional information.
(d) See also)§: 200.471.

§ 200.317 Procurements by states.
\yhen procuring property and seiyices under aEcderaba)yard, a State must follow the same policies and procedures it useS for procurements from its
nOri-Ffafral fimHs. The.8tate.wilf cnmnlv vv'itbS8 -200:321.-2"0(),322. and 200..l23.and'ensure.that every purchase,prder or other contract includes any

clauses required by All other non-Federal entities, including subrecipienls of a Staie, mustToljOts' the procurement; standards iti gf'200:318
through 2b0.327.

§ 200i31$.Gencral pfdcurcmcnt standards.
(a) The non-Federal cnti^ musi'have and u.se documented procurement procedures, consisteht with Statej local, and tribal laws and fegulations and
the standards pfthis) section. Tor the acquisitipn of property qf.seiynees fequired under a Fedefal award-or subaward. Themon-Federafentity's
dOcUinerited procurement procedures must cpnfdnn to the procufement standardsndentified .in 8$'200.317 through 2()().327.
(b) NofcFederaj entities must maintain oveKigbi to ensure that contractors perform in accordance \vith the icrms. cohditipns, and spe'cificatiOns.bf
their contractsi or purchase orders;

(■=) . , .
(1) The non-Federal entity must maintain wfittenistandards of conduct covering eonflicts ofiinterest and governing the actions of its
employees engaged in theielection, aW^ administrutipn of cOntfacfs. No employee.iOlTicef, or agent may participate in the seiection,
awardiof administfatiOnofaeontracf:Supported;by uFederai awardlfheprshe has area) pr-apparentcohflicf of interest; Such; a cOnflm
interest would; arise when the; employee, blTicef,.of agent, any fnember of his or her immediate family, his or her partner, or an organization
which employs or is about to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial or other intcrestTn ,br a tangible personal benefif
from a fi rthiconsidbfed fOr;a;cdritrapt. The pflicers/emplpyees, and agents of thd non-Federal entity m
igratuities; favors, or anything ofmonefary value:from contractors or parties to subcontracts; However, nph-Fedefal entitie.s may set
standafdsTpf sitbhtipns;|nAv^^^ fihancial interest is not substantial or ihc,gift is an unsolicited item of nominal value. The standards,ofCpnaUctmtist:]movidefbrdisciplhiary;actipns to be,applied fbf violations of sUch standards by officers, employeeS; or agents ofthe n^
Federal entity.
(2) if lhe nonTFederafientityihas a parent, afliliate, p'r subsidiary organization that is hot a State, local gOvemment, or Indian tribe, the non-
Fedefai entity naust.also :maihtain Wrtftbri standards of odnduct covering PrgaUizational conflicts of interest. Organizational conflictS; of
'interestmcans that becausemffelationshipsAVifh a parent company. affiliate, or subsidiary prganizatipn. the non-Federal entity is unable or
•appears to be unable foibe impartial, in conducting;a-prQcuremciit action involving a re lated: prgahization.

(d) The non-Federal ehtily'spfocedu must avoid acquisition of unnecessary or duplicative items. ;GonsiderafiOn should be, given to consolidating or
breaking out prooiirements to obtain amore economicai purchase. Where appropriate, an analysis will be made of lease,yersus purchase altemafives;
and any other appropriate analysis to determine the most economical approach,
(e) To fijster;greater;eco,nomy and elTfeiency,, and in accordarice with' ellprts to. promote cpst-elTective-use of shared serviccs acrpss the Federal
Gpvernment,.ihe npn-Fedefal ent|ty is encoiiraged lo.enier into sliite and local intergovernmental agreements or inter-entity agreements where
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appropriate for procurement or use of common or shared goods and services. Competition requirements, will be met. with documented procurement

actions using strategic sourcing, .shared services, and other .similar procurement arrangements.

(0 The non-Fcdei:al entity is encouraged to use Federal e.xccss and surplus property in lieu of purchasing new equipmcntand property whenever such
use is feasible and reduces project costs.

(g) The non-Federal entity is encouraged to use value engineering clauses in contracts for construction.projects of sufficient size to offer reasonable
opportunities for cost reductions. Value engineering is a systematic and creative analysis of each contract item or task to ensure that its essential
function is provided at the overall lower cost.
(h) The noii-Fcderal,entity must award contracts only to responsible contfactors possessiilg the ability to perform successfully under the terms and
conditions of a proposed procurement. Consideration will be given to .such matters as contractor integrity, compIianccAyith public policy, record of
past performance, and financial and technical resources. See also ii 2()0.-2l4.
(i) The non-Federal entity riitist maintain records sufficient to detail the history of procurement. Tliese reCdfds will include, but are not hecessarily
limited to,'thc following; Rationale for the method of procurement, selection of contract type, contractor selection or rejection, and the, basis for the
contract price.

Ci) . .
(1) The non-Federal entity may use a fithe-and-matefials type contract only after a determination that no other contract is Suitable'and if the
contract includes a ceiling price that the contractor exceeds atits own risk. Time-and-materials type contract means a contract whose co.sl
to a non-Federal entity is the sum oft

:(i);The actiialcost of materials; and
(ii) Direct labor hours charged at fixed hourly rales that reflect wages, general and administrative expenses, and profit.

(2) Smce:this formula generates an open-ended contract price, a time-and-materials contract prp.videsmo positive profit incentiye to the
contractor for cost control or labor efficieriey. Thcrerdfe, each contract must set a ceiling price that the contractor exceeds at its ovVn rink.
Further, the non-Federal entity awarding such a contract must assert a high degree.df oyefsight In order to obtain reasonable assurance that
the contractor is using efficient methods and efrective,cost controls.

(k);The.:non-Fedeinientity alone must be responsible, in aocprdanee wiih gqqd administrative practice;and soiind business judgn^^
settlemcht'of all cpiitraciual and administrative issues arising out bf pfocuremehls. These i.^suesirichidc, but are not limited td. sdarce evaluation,
pfdtests, disputes, and claims. These standards do not relieve the non-Fcderai entity of any contractuairesponsibilities under its contracts. The
Federal avyarding.agency will not .substitute its judginent for that of the tipn-Pederal entity unless .the: matte.r is primartly a Federal cprtcerii, Viblatiohs
of law will ba referred to the local, state, or. Federal authority having proper jurisdictiori;

rSST'R 49543. Aug. 13. 2020, as amended, at 8fi l-'R 10440. Feb. 22,2021]

§ 200.319 Cpinpctitioh,

(a) All prdcufeitient trahsactions forthe acquisition ofproperty or services required under a Federal mvard must be conducted iti a maimer providing
fiii l nndiopen enmpetifion consistent with the standards of this .section and :!? 200.320
(b) In order to ensure objective contractor perforniance and eliminate unfair Cpmpetitive advahtage, confraetors'that develop or draft specifications,
reqijiremenls, statehlenfs of wof^ or invitatidns for bids or requests for proposals must be excluded from eompeting for such procuremenis. Some of
the siftiatiohs.considered to.be restrictive of competition include blit are notlimited to:

(1) Placing unreasonable requirements on firms in order for them to qualify toi, do business;
(2) Requiring unnecessary experience and excessive bbhdihg;
(3) Nonedmpetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliaied; companies;
(4) Noticompetitive contracts to consultants that ate qti retainer contracts;
(5) Organizalidnalconfiiets of interest;,
(6) Specifying only a "braitd name".prodtiet instead'of alIowing "an:equai" product to be oftercd attd describing the performance or other
reievant requirements of the;procurement; attd
(7) Any arbitrary action in the procurementprocesS.

(c) The ndri-Federal entity rhust conduct prdeutemeiits in alhanner that prohibits the use of statutorily onadministratively imposed state, local, or
tribal gedgfaphical prefercriees in the evaluation of bids Or proposals, except in those ca.ses where applicable Federal statutes expressly mandate or
encdurage geogfaphic preference. Nothing in this seetipn preempts state: licensing laws; When c6n®ctmg.Tdr. archit'e.c,w (A/E)
services, geographle locationmay be a selection crilerioh provided its applicatioh leaves Sh appropriate number of qualified firms, given the nature
and.sjze pftthe project, to cdmpete fdf the contract.
The hdrt-Federai .entity must have written proceduresfor prdcUremenl transactions. These procedures must Ohsure that all solicitations;

(1) Incorporaic a clear and accurate description of the techriical requirements for the material, ;ptdducl, or'sei^ be prdcufisd. Such
desGription mustnot, in competitive prqcurements, contain features which uiiduly resfricrcdmpetitiori-. the description may include a
stafeirierit dftKequalitativenature dfthe materiali pfoditct of service to be procured and, Whenmecdssaiy. mustset:forth ihosejminimum
essential charaeteristics and standards to which it must conform if it is to satisfy its intended itse; Detailed pfoduct.specifiqatjpns should be
avoided: iTal all possible. When: it is rmpractical or.uneconomical to riiake, a clear and'accurate 'descriptidrt df the tey a
'hrand name Or equivalent" descriptidn may be used as a means'to, define the perfdrmance or other salient: requirements of procurement.
The specific features of the named brand which iniisl.be itiet by dfiers must be clearly stated;;and
(2) Identify all requirements which the offerors must fuifili aiid all otlier factors to be used in evaftiating bids or proposals,
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(e) The non-Federal entity must ensure that all prequaliTted lists 01" persons,, firms, or producLs which are used in acquiring goods and.services are
current and include enough qualified sources to eiisure rnaximuin open and free competition, Also, the non-Federal entity must not preclude potetitial
bidders from qualifying during the solicitation period.

(0 Noncompctitive procurements can only be awarded in accordance with § 200.320(c).

§ 200.320 Methods.of procurement to be followed.
The non-Federal entity must have and use documented procuretnent procedures, consistent with the standards of this section and liii 200.317.
200.318. and 200.319 for anv of the following methods of nrocurement U.sed for the acouisition of property or services required under a Federal

award or sub-a^vard.

(a) Informal procwement methods, When the value of the procuretnent for property drseiv'ices under, a Federal award does not exceedthe
simplified acqui.sition threshold (SAT), as defined in § 200;l,.ora lower threshold^established by a non-Federal entity, fonnal procurement
methods are liot required. The non-Fedefal entity may rise infortnal procurementmethods to expedite the completion of its transactions and
minimize the as.sociated administrative burden and cost. The informal methods used for procurement of property or services at or below the
SAT include:

(I) Midror-purchases -

if) Distribution, 'fheacquisltion of supplies or services, the aggregate, dollar amount of which does not exceed the micro-
purchase threshold (See the definition of n!foro-/j!.mc/mse ih b 200.11. To the niaximum/extentpracticable, .the nqti-Federal entity
should distribute micro-purchases equitably among qualified:.suppliers.
(\\) Micro-purchase awards. Micro-purCh'aseS may be awarded: without solicitingcompetitive price or rate quotations if the non-
Federal entity considers the price to be reasonabje, based.on research, experience, purchase histoiy or other infdrmatiori and
documents it files accordingly. Purchase cards;,caii .be used fOrmicro-purcha.Sesif procedure.s are documerited and approved by
the "hon-Federal. entity.
(at) MicroTpurchase thresholds. Ihenon-Federal entity is responsible. for.determiningiand documenting an appropriate micro-
purcha.se'thre.shold ba,sed on internal controls, an eyal.uatiqn'dfrisk..and 'its docunientedprpcurement procedures, TThe micrp?
purchase threshold used by the rionrFederal ehtity must be authbrized or nOt prohibited under State, local, or tribal lavvs,Or
regulations. NOn-Federal entities may cStabiish a threshold higher than the Federal threshold establi.shed in the Federal
Acqiiisilinn Regnlations fFAR'l in accordance with parauranlis (alt I'lt ivl and (v^ of this section,

Non-Federal entity increase to-the njicro-purchaSe tFr^^^^^ S5(),ddft .Noii-Federal entities may establish a.threshold
higher than the micro-purchase threshold identified, in the Mkun accordance w'ith the requirements of this: section. The non-
Federal entity may self-;certify a threshold up to $50,000 on an annual basis and must maintain documentation to be made
available. to the Federal awarding agency and auditor&'in accofdance vvith S -20Qi-334, Th'e se|f-certificatiOn must include a
justificati.On, clear identification of the thfesh6ld,ahd -supportirtg:dcicumentation of any of the following:

(A) A qualification as a lOW-rtsk auditeej in accordance; with foe criteria In li 200.520 for the most recent audit;
(B) An annual iiiternal institutional risk as.sossment.to identify, mitigate, and,maiiage financial risks; or,
(G) For piiblic instifutibhs, a higher ihreshoid consistent \vith State law;

[y) Non-Federal entity increase to the micro-purchase threshold over $50,000. Micro-purchase thresholds higher than $50,000
must be approved by.the cognizant agency for indirect costs. The non-federal entity must submit a request with the
requirements Included In Daragraph (aV(l)fivl of this section. The Increased threshold is valid until there Ism change In status:ln
Which the justlficatioh Was approve

(2) Small purchases-
(i) Small purchase prodidures. The acquisition Of property or. Services, the aggregate dollar amount of vyhichis higher than the,
micro-purchaSefhreshoid but does not exceed the.simplified acquisition threshold. If small purchase proccdures;are used, price or,
rale quotations mtist be obfamed from m adequate numberpf qualified sourceS as detemiined appropriate by the.non-Federal
entity,
XpySimpiiJied acquisition:thresholds. 'Vhenon-Ftderzi enit^^^ is responsibleifordeterminjng an appropriate simplified acquisition
threshold based on iniernalcOntrols, an evaluation of risk and its documented procuremeht procedures wlfich must not exceed the
threshold established in the FAR. Whennpphcable, a lOwer. simph'fied. acqui.sitiQhthreshOldfosed:^ non-.Federaf entity must
be authorized or not" prohibited under State; local, or tribal laws Of regulations.

(b) Formal produrementmethodsi When' the value of the proeurement for property or services under a Federal fmancial assistance, award
exceeds the $At,ot a lower threshold establ.is.hed by anpn-Federa! entity, fqrnval procurementmethods are fequirCd. Fonnal procurement
methods require following documented prpcedures. Fqfriial procinemcfo methods alSb require.piiblic advertising unless a nonVcompetitive
procurement can be used in accordance with $ 200.319 or paragraph (eV of this section. The following formal methods;,of procurement are
used for procuremeiU ofproperty or sCivicesAboye.foe simplified acqui.foion threshold or a value below the simplified acquisition
thre.shol.d the.non-Fe.derateniity detennincs to be apprppriate;

(:l) 5en/erf fi/Vs.: A procurement method in Which bids: are publicly solicited and a firin fikedTpricq contract (lump su
price) is awarded to the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming with all the material teirns and conditions Of tlie invitation for
bids", is lhe lowest.iin.price; "rhesAaled bidsmethod is.the prefe.rfed.methqd .ffo procuringmoriStruction, ifthemonditions.

(i) In order for sealed, bidding to beTcasible, the Ibllowihg conditions should be present;
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(A) A coiiiplele, adequate, and realistic specification of purchase description isiavailable;
(B) Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able.to compete eflectively for the business; and
(Q The procurement lends itself to a firm fixed price contract and the selection of the successful bidder can
be made principally on tlie basis of price.

(ii) if sealed bids are used, the following requirements apply;
(A).Bids mustbe solicited from an adequate number of qualified sourcc.s, providing them sufficienf response
timc pfior to the date, set for opening the bids, for local, and tribal goverhmcptSj the invitatipn for bids inust
be publicly advertised;
(B) The invitation for bids, which wilt include any specifications and pertinent attachments, must define the
iterris or .services in order for the bidder to properly respond;
(C) All bids will be opened at the time and place prescribed in the iiivitation forbids, and for local and tribal
gdvemments, the bids inust be opened publicly:
(D) A firni fixed.price contract award \yill beinade in writing to the lowest responsive'and responsible
bidder. Where specified in bidding documents, factors such as discounts,.transpdrtatipn cost; arid life cycle
costs must be considered in determining which bid is lowest. Payraeiit disiMUrits svill only be useddo
determine the low bid when prior experience indicates that such discounts are usuatly taken advantage of; and
,(B) Any orall bids may berejected if there is a sound documented reason,

(2) BrpAd.'™/s, Apfoeurement nieihod in which either a fixed price or cost-reiriiburSemenf.type contract is avvafded.'Prpposals are
generally used when conditions are not appropriate for the u.se of sealed bids. They are awarded in accordance with: the following
requirements;:

:(i) Requests fpr proposals must be publicized and identify all evaluation, faefors aricl their relafive;importance. PfdpoM
must be solicited ;frotn an adequate'number of qualified ofierors. Any respOnseUo publicizedrequests fOr prdposals
must be considered to ihe maximnm extent practical;
(ii) Thenpn-Federal entity must have a \yritten method for conducting technical evaluations of the proposals ro
■and mafcihg-selectiOns;
(iii) Contracts must beiawarded to the responsible offeror whose proposal is most.advantageous to the non-Federal
entity, with price and other factors considered; and
(Iv) The non-Federal entity may use competitive proposal procedures for qualifications-baised pfocurerrieht df
,afchitcctufaBerigineerihg;(A/E) professional servrbcs whereby offefor's qualifications arebvaluated.and thteinost
qualifiedofferbf is selected;, subject to negotiation of fair and reasonable compensation, The:mcthod, w'here}price is .not
used as a selection factori can only be used in procurement of A/E professional services. It.cannol.be tised. fo purchase
other types of seiwice;s;th6.ugh, A/E fi nns that are a potential source to perforib the proposed effort;

{c) NoncpmpeUtiyeprpcurenim^^ There afe specific circumstances in which noncdmpelitive procurement; can be Used..hJoncompetitive
pfdcufcmenf can lonly be aWarded if ohe or more Of the following Gircumstanccs apply:

(1)The'acquisition of property .or services, the aggregate dollar.amount of which does not exceed the micfo-purchase threshold
(see D!iraiir.aph ftilf I Fof this seetidn):
(2) The item: is available dnly from a Single source;
(3) The publie exigency or emergency for the requirement will not pernii.l a delay resulting Irom pubh|cizing a; eqriipefi
soiicitation;'
(4) The Federal awarding agency or passdhrough entity expressly authorizes a noncompctitiYe proourement in,response to a
Wtitfen tequest from the.noh-Federai:eritily;,or,
5) After solicitatlon .of a,niimber of .sources; competitidh is determined ipadqquate.

§ 200,321 Goritfaetirig With small ahd-mmority businesses. Women's business enterprises, and labor surpius arca fi rms-
(a):The ndn-:Federal entity must takevall necessary afiirinatiye steps to assure that minority businesses, women's busiriess enferpfises; arid labor
surplus areaiftims aremsed wheiippsSible.
(b) Affinnative steps must include;.

(l-) Placmg'qualified smalf andniihority businesses and\vomen'sbusi.ness enterprises on solicitation lists;-
(2) Assuringlthat.srnalj and minority businesses, and women's business cntcrprise.s:afe solicited whchhycf;.they"afe potential sdufees;
(3) Dividing totalfequifeirients, wherii econoraically feasible, into smaller tasks of quantities to permit maximum parficipatioii by small and
minority^ businesses; and wbmeri'S busiriess emerpri.ses;
(4) Establishing deiivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage partiPipation by siriall ahdmihprijty businesses, arid
women's business enterprises:,
(5) Using the services arid assistanceV.as appfdpfiafe, of .stjch .dfganizatiofis as the Small Business Administration and the Minority-Business
Developmenf Agency of the Department .of Commerce; and
(6) Requiring the prime coritra.ctor;if subcpntracts are:lo.be,lef,.tpmke,the affirrnative steps listed in naradriirihs fWU'l through (51 of this
section.
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§ 200i322 Domestic preferences for procurcmcntSi

(a) As appropriate and to the extent consistent with law, the non-Federal entity should, to the greatest extent practicable under a Federal award,
provide a preference for the purchase,.acquisition, or use of goods, products, or materials produced in the United States (including but not limited to
irpn,nluminum, steel, cement, and other manufactured products). The requirements of this section niust be included in all subawards including all
cpntracts and purchase orders for work or products under this award.
(b) For purposes of this section:

(1) "Produced in the United States"means, for iron and stee| products, that all manufacturing processes, from the initial melting stage
throughlhe application of coatings, occurred in the United States;.
(2) ".Manufactured products" means itertis and construction materials compo.sed in whole or in part of non-ferroUs metals such as
aluminum; plastics and polymer-based products such as po|yvinyl chloride pipe; aggregatesjsuch as concrete; glas,s, including optical fiber;
and' lumber,

§-20t);323 Procurement of recovered materials.
A non-Federal enlity that is a state agency or agency of a politica! subdivision of a state and its contractors mu,st comply with sectibh 6002 of the
Solid AVaste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recover^' Act. The requirements of Section 6002> include procuring only
items designated in guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency jEPA) at 40 CifR part 24? that contain,the highest percentaRC of recovered
materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory' level of cpropetitign,:w1iem the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the
value,of the quantity acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded Sl O.O.OO; procuring solid wasfe management services In a manner that
maximizes energy and resource recovery; and establishing an aftirmativc proclirement progmm for procurement of recovered materials identified in
the EPA guidelines.

§ 200.34.0 Tfcrminatipn
(a) The Federal award may be terminated in whole or in part as follows:

(1) By the Federal awarding agency or pass^through entits,;if a non^edemlentity fails to cQmply with the terms and conditions
of a Federal award;
(2) By the; Federal awarding agency Of pass-through entity, toithe greatest extent authorized by law, ifan award no longer
effectuates the program goals of agency priorities;
(3) By'the Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity with the epn.sent brt|ie.hon-Fedefa! entity,;iii which case the two
parties must agree upon the termination conditions, including theefrective.date m ca.se of.paftial tefmination; the portion
to be terniinated;
(4) By the non-Fedefal entity Upon sending to the'Federal awardlhgjagency or pass4hrough entity written nptificatiph setting
forth the reasons; for such termination, the efTective date, and;,in the case bf partiaftemVinalion; the portion tb be teffriinated.
However, if the Federal awarding agency of pass-thfpugh entity detetmines.in.thecase of partial termination that ithereduced or
rapdified portion of the Fcde'fal award or subawafdwiUnOtaccomplish.thepurposes for which;fhe Federal award was made; the
Federal awarding.agency or pass-through entity may Terminate lhe Fcdefa! award in its entirety;, of
(5) By ihe Fcderal awarding ageney or pass-thrpugh entity ptifsuanf to tefinination provisions included in the.Federal award.-

(b> A Federaf awardlng agency should clcafly and unambiguousiy specify termination provisions applicable to each Federal award, in
applicable regulaliohs or in tlie aSvard, consistent with this section.
(c) When a Federal awarding agency terminates a Federal award priprTp the end of the period pTperfofmance due to the iion-Federal
entity's materlaTfailure to comply with the Fedcfal award terms.and condifion^ the'Federal awarding agency must.report the te
the OIylB-designated integfity:and performance .system accessible through SAM.{eurrcnily FAF}IS):.,

(I ) The information required under nnragraoh (cVof this section is nbt to bC:reported to desiRhated integrity and peffbrinahce
system until the non-Federal entity eithef-—

(i) Has e.xhausted its opporturiities to.object Or challehgc.the decision. :see 4 2b0.342;;or
(11) Has not, within 30 calendar days after being.notiiled of the tennination, infonhed theEedefal awarding agency that
it Intends. to appeal the Federalawarding-agency'bbecisibh .to, terininate,,

(2) If a Federal awarding agency, after entefihg info'nhatipnlntb the designalcd integrity and perfofmance system about a
tefrhination, subsequently:

(i) Learns that any of that information Is erroneous, the,Federal Awafding'agcncy must correct the infprmation in the
system within three business days;
.(ii) Obtains an update to that iritbrmation that cbviTd bfe.helpful;to:other M awarding agencies, the Federal
•awarding agency is strongly, encouraged to amend the Infonnatipndn the system to incprpprate the updafe.in a timely
way.

(3) Federal awarding agencies, musTnbf post any infonliatipn that wijl.be made publicly aVailable-lfiThe nbn-public segment of
designated integrity and performance system that isxovered by a'disclosgre exempiipn under the Freedom of Information Aet. ]f
the nonrFederareritity asserts within seven calendar day,s:.io. the:.Federa| a\yardingbgenoy"whP'posted' infonnation, that some
of the infonnation made publicly,ay ailbble i.s.e,oVefed by;adi$e)bsure:exernptib'nundef the Freedoro.of Information Act, ̂
Federal awarding agency who posted the infofihation riiustrbmbve titeposting, within seven calendar bays of repeiying the
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as&rtiori. Prior io reposling the relea'sable infoririation, the Federal agency musfresolve the issue in accordance with the agency's
Frccddm of Information Act procedures.

(d) When, a Federal award is.lprminated or partially terminated, .both the Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity and the non-
Federal entity remain responsible for co.inpliance willv.the requirements iii ijti ZOO-Idd and 2(10.345.

§ 200.414 Indirect (F&A) costs.
(a) FacilHies ami administration classifi^^ For major institutions oflligher Education (IHE) and major nonprofit organizations,
indirect (F&A) costs must hie elassiried within two broad categories: "Facilities" and "Administration." "Facilities" is detined.as
depreciation on buildings, equipment and capital improvement, interest oh debt associated with certain buildings, equipment and capital
improvements, and operations and'maintenance expenses, "Administration" is defined,as general admini.stration and general expenses sueh
as the director's oflice, accounting, personnel andal.FotKer types of expenditures not listed specifically under one of the subcategones Of
"Facilities" (ihcluding cross allocations trpm other pOols,; where applicable). For nonprofit organizations, library expenses are included in
the "Administration" category;,for iHEs. they are included in thoflFaciiities" category:. Major IHEs are defined as those required to use the
Standard Fonnat for Submission as noted in appendix III to this,part, and Rate:Detennination for Institutions of Higher.Education
paragraph C. 11. Major nonptp.fit prganizatiohsiarei those; Wh receive more than SIO million dollars in direct Federal funding.
(b) Diversity ofnmtprdfit Because of th^ diverse characteristics and accounting practices of nonprofit organizations, it is not
possible to specify the types.of cost vvhich may be .classified as indirect (F&A).cost in.aH situations. Identification with a Federal award
rather than the nature ofthe,goods and'services involved is the determining factor in distinguishing direct from indirect (F&A) cOsts of
Federal awards: Howcvef,-typical examples of indirect (F&A) cost for mariy nonprofit organizations may include depreciation on buildings
and equipment, the costs of pperatingand maintaining faciiities, and general administratidn and general expenses, such as the salaries and.
expenses of executive ofric.ers, personnel: administralipn, and accounting.
(cj Federdi Agency Jtrrppinnre nf Negntin^d Indirect Cost Rates. (See also t> 200.306.)

(1) ThCnegOtiated rates must be accepted by all Federal awarding agencies. A Federal awarding agency, may use a rate different
from the negotiated rate forra ciass ofFederal avvards prn single ;Federal award only when required by Federal statute or
regulation, or when approved by ajPederai awarding ageney head or de|egate based on documented justification as described in
naragraDh fcFSt of this section.:
(2) The Federal awarding agency head.or delegate niust notify 0MB of any .approved deviations.
(3) The Federal awarding,ageney must imple.ment„and raake,pub!ic!y available, the policies, procedures and general decision^:
making criteria that their prog;rain,s,;'wiJi foljow to; scekfand jus dcyiatioris from riegoliated rates.
(.4) Asrequired under ii 200,204, ih'e.Federai awardiiigagency 'must include in .the notice of funding opportunity the policies
relating to mdirect cost rate' reimbursemerit, matching, or cost share as appraved tinder paragraph (cFl ) ofthis'sectibn. As
appropriate, the Federal agency shpuld incotppralc diSdiiSSioij of these policies into FederaFaWarding agency oulreachaCtivities
with hph-l?edCfal entitjeSdrrjdr td thgpostihgbf a hoticC of fundingopp

■(d) Passrlhrough ehtities are subjecttdf the requirements in S 2()(i;332(aFd):
(e) Pass-through entities are subjectto the, tequirementsdn ii'2d0.332(a)(4). .

(1) Appendix lll fo Part;20QHIndirect (F&A) CbStkIdentification and Assignment, and Rate Determination for Institutions of
Fl.rghet EdUcatioh ■(IHEs);
(2) Appendix; iV to: Part MtF—Indirect;(F&A) CdstsTdentification and Assignment, and Rate Determination for Nonprofit
Organizations;
(3) Appendix'V t6,Part 2Qp^State/Ldcal:GovefhmehtWide Central;Service Cost Allocation Plans;
(4) Appendix vr to, PaH ifiO^PUblic Assikance Gbst Allocation Plans;
(5) Appendix VII to; Part;20;d—States and ;U)cal;Goye.rnment and Indian Tribe Indirect Cost PrpposalS; aiid
(6) App,Bndix;i)( fo Part 2O0---Hm^^^ Cqs) Principles,

(0 In addition to the prbcedures oiitlinqd in the appendices in paragi anii (e) of this:section. any non-Federal entity that does not haye a
current negotiated (includihg provisional) rate, except: fdr those.non-Federal entities described in appendix VII to this part, paragraph D.l.b,
111 av elect to charge a.dc.':mininiiqrate.of 10^ oTmbdified tptal dltect cbsts (MTDG)'wtiich friay be-used indefinitely. No documentation is
required to justify tlie IO,% de ~nlihimis ihdifeotcostfafC.-As'dCScnte in S 260.403. co.sts .must be consistently charged as either mdirector
direct costs, butmay nbt bedbubieieharged or inconsistently charged as both. If chosen, thismethodology once efopted must be Used
consistently for all Federal awards until. such'time as a nonTFederal epttty chqbsca to negotiate for a rate, which the non-Federal.eiitity may
apply lodo at.any time.
(g) Any noh-,Fedefal entity: that has a curfenf fcderajly-negotiated iridirect 'Cost rate may apply for a one-time extension of the rates in that
agreenieril forapefiodbfup to four years, thikcxtension .willbe subjecl.to'the.reyic.w .and approval of the cognizant agency; for indirect
costs. If an extension Is granted the nqn-Fcderal entity may not requeSta rate reyievVuntil the extension period ends. At the end of tlie .h-
year,extension, the nqn-FeaeraI;ehtity mjusfre-appl^^^^ hegotiatea rafe,,Sul)sequem one-time extensions (up to four years) are; permitfed if
a renegotiatlbn.i.s'cbnipletedlbetween»eachcxtenSion fequBsti-
(h) The federally negotiated;indirect rate; distribution base, and rale type for a non-Federal eriiity (c.xcept for the Indian tribes OF tribal
Organizations,.as defined-ih'the;lndian,Scirpc.tern.iih.ation, .Educaiiqh arid Assistaricc Ac;..25. U.S.C. 45Qb( 111 must* be available publicly ou
an ()MB-deSighrited Federal websife.
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m FR 78608. Dec. 26, 2013, as amended at 79 FR 75886. Dec. 19, 2014: 8? FR 49563. Aug. 13, 2020]

v\ppendix H to Part 200 - Contract Provisions for iVon-Kcdcral Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards
In addition,10 dtherprovisions required by the Federal agency or non-Federal entity, all contracts made by the non-Federal entity under the
Federal award must contain provisions covering the following, as applicable.

(A) Contracts for more than the simplified acqiiisition threshold, which is the inflation adjusted amount determined by the Civilian
Agency Acquisition Council and the Defense Acqiiisition Regulations Council (Councils) as authorized by 41 U.S.C. 1908. must
address administrative, contractual, or legal remedies in instances where contractors violate or breach contract terms, and provide for
such sanctions and penalties as appropriate.
(B) All conlracis in excess of STO.OOO must address termination for catisc and for convenience by the non-Federal entity including the
manner by which it will be effected and the basis for settlement.
(C) Equal Employment Opporiunity. Except as otherwise provided under 41 CFR Part 6(). all contracts^ that meet,the definitioh of
"federally assisted construction contract" in 41 CFR Part 60-1.3 must include the equal opportunity clause provided under 41 CFR
60-1.4<bt; in accordance" with Executive Order 11246, "Equal Employment Oppbfturiity" (30 FR 12319, 12935, it CFR Part, 1964-
1:965 Cbmp., p. as amended by,Executive-Order 11375, "Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment
Oppprlunity," and irnplementing regulations at 41 CFR part 6(). "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Pfpgrams, Equal
Einployineiit Opportunity , pepartinenf of Labor.''
D) Dav.is-Bacori Acti as amended (40 U:S.C. 3141-3148). When reqiiired by Federal program legislation, all prime: construction
contracts in excess of $2,600 awarded by nonfi-edc'ral entities must include a provision for compliance .with ,the Davis-Bacon Act (40
tliS.C. .3141-3144. and 3,146-3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 (3FR Part 5. "Labor Standards
Prqvisibtis Applicable to eoiitracts Covering Fedcfally Financed and Assisted ConstrOetion"). In aeeordance with the statute,
contractors ntiist be required to pay wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate not iess lhan the prevailing wages:spceified in a vyage
determinatibn inade by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, contractors inu.st be reqtiired tp pay wages not; less than once a wqeki,The
non-Federal entity, must placeia copy of the curfeht prevailing wage detefminatioifissued by the Departmentof Labor in each
splicifaliori. The deci.sion to award a cohfract or subcontract must be conditioned upon the acceptance of the wage determination. The
mon-Federal entity must report all suspected or reported violations to thc Federal awarding agency. The contracts must alSp include a
provision for compliance with tHc Copelatid "Anti-Kicfcback'' Act (40 U .S.C. 3145). as supplemented by Departnfent of Labor
regijlalions (29 ClTl Part 3: "Gofitractors arid Subcontractors on Public Building or Publit WOfk Financed in Whole or in Part,by
Loaits or Grants frotri the IJhited States'^- The .Act provides that each contractor or subrecipient must .be ptphibited from inducing, by
;ahy means, any per-son emplqyed.in the construction, coinpletion, or repair of public:w6rk, tq give up any partpfthc cbnipensationtd
■which he or she idofherwise entitled. The ndn-Federal entity must report all suspected or reported violations to::fhe Fcderal:awardirig
agency.:
(EyContract WOrk l-iburS'and Safety S,tandards,Act(40iJS£jM.-370.8). Where applicable, all contracts awarded by the non-
Federal entity in.excess of $100,000,thatinyoive the employtnentofihechanics dr laborers ihu.sf include a piovisiohtohcoihpliance
with 40 U.S.C.'3702 arid 3704; as subplemenled by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5)^ Under 40 D:S.C. 3702 of the
Act, each contractor musthe reqiiired to compute the: wages of every mechanic and laborer on .the:basis.oEa standard work week of
40TiOurs. Work in excess ofihe standard work week is permissible provided that thqwofker is compensated at a rate Ofnqt lq^^^
one and a half times the basic rale; of pay for all hours vvorked in excesypf 40 hOursTn the work week. The requirements of 40.ll.S.C.
,3704:are applicable to:coristrudtion work and pfOvidc that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under

■ vvor'kihg coriditions wh'ich,are unsanitaiy, "hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the pufcha^aOf 4"PpI'93 9f.
inaterialS: or articlesordlnarily available on the open market, of contracts for iransportation Or tiansrriission of inteljigericei
(F) .Rights tq ;lnveritibns ,Made Under a Cdritrac^^ or Agreemerit, If the Federal award raeets the definition of "funding agreement"
lindertj? CFR 8 401:2 fiiTaiid the recipieht-or Subrecipient wishes to enter into.a contract wilh a smallfiusiness; fitinofnqripfofit
organization regarding the sub.slitution of parties, assignment pr performance of experiirierital, deyeldpmenial, or research work tinder

■ that yfunding agreement,'' the,recipient or .subreoipierit must ebiiiply with the requireiherits of 37 CiTl Part 4o I. "Rights:to inventiohs
Made by Ndiiprofit Organizations and Sriiall BusiheSs Firms Under Goverririient GfantSi Contracts and Cooperative:Agreements,"
and any implementirig regulations issued by the aSyarding agency.
re) hiean Air Act f43TJ.S.G. 740"l-767Ta.) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.SiC. 1251-1387). as amended—
Contracts and isubgrants of amounts in excess of $150,000 mitst contain a provision that requires the non-Federal award to agree to
comply vyith all applicable sfandards, orders of regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 IhS.C. 7401-767l(t).and:the
Federal Water PoUutioh Gontrol Act-as amended (33 U.S.C. 12.5 l-l'3'87). ■Violations; niusf be repotled to the Fedefal awardirig,agency
and the Regiona! Office of the Environmental Pfotection Agency (EPA)-
(H) Dcb,annent.aridSuSpensi0ij(Executive,Oiders 12549 and 12689)—A (contract award (see 2 CFR 180.220) mustnotbe made to
parties listed bri the,gGycrhmentwide exclusions in theSystem for Award:Management'(SAfvl), ih accbr:daricc witli.the 0MB
guicielirtes at 2 GFR 180 that impjement Executive Orders 12549 (3 CFR part 1,986 Cpinp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 CFR part 1989
Gompu p, 235), ''Debarmeritahd Siispension." S AM Exclusions contains the: names Of parties debarred, suspended, or otherxyise
eXcIiided by agencies, as well(as parties declaimed ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other,than Executive Ofder 12549.,
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(i) Byrd Ami-Lobbying Amendment 01 IJ.S.C. I352i—Comraetors thnt apply or bid for an award exceeding SI00,000 must file the
required certification. Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has liot used Eedcral appropriated funds to pay any
pei'son or organization for influencing or atlonipting to inlluenco an olliecr or employee of any agency, a member Of Congress,
oltiecr or employeeof Congress, or an employee ofa member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant
or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Each tier must also disclose any lobby ing.with non-Federal funds that takes place in
connection with obtaining any Federal award. Such di.selnsurcs arc tbnvarded froin tier to tier up to the non-Federal award,
fj) Sec S 200.323.

(K) See § 200,216.
(L) Sec S 200.322:

I7.S Fit 786I)K. Dec. 26, 2013, as amended at 79 FR 75«XX. Dec. 19, 20H: 85 Flf 49577. Aug. 13, 2020]

I understand that failure to comply with applicable Federal statutes and regulations may subject State officials to civil or
criminal penalties and/or place the State in a high-risk grantee status in accordance with 2 CFR 200,

I sign these Certifications and Assurances based on personal knowledge, after appropriate inquiry, and I understand that the
Government will rely on these representntions in awardiiiy grant funds.

Signors Printed Name; ^ ̂  Signors Title:

Authorized Contract Signatory.: ^ ̂ Date:

^ ̂ [C. COv]-^ SimiorsTitle: j t
m
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EXHIBITB

THE.SERVICES

Employment of Contractor: Services to be performed

The Contractor, AAA Northern New England, shall coordinate and execute the Community
Outreach & Betterment (COB) Grant as approved by the Office of Highway Safety. The
Contractor will primarily outreaeh to,.

1. Refugees Si New Americans
2. Low-incorne neighborhood
3. Older drivers, low vision, and hearing-impaired drivers
4. Youth .Drivers

5. Lirnited; English Proficiency (LEP)'Groups;
6. Elementary/High Schools/Driver Ed Schools:

The Contractor will coordinate and conduct in person COB Grant PowerPoint presentations on
NH Traffic Laws; Chapter'265 "RULES OF THE ROAD" and N.H Safe Streets for All
(NHSS,4A) to the above identified groups and to educate and inform about safe driving,
bicycling, walking, and rolling; while utilizing NH roadways. This contract will be effective upon;
Goverrtor and Counci l Approval through SPptdniber 36, 2024. The tOtsl cost of this contract shall
not exceed :$9,500.00,

The Cpntractor will eoordinate and conduGt a minihium COB Grant highway safety
presentations to'the above referenced groups throughout'tlie,2024 Federaf Fiscal Year;
COB Grant highway safety presentations willnpt exceed four :(4) hours in duration.
The Cpntractor will, be responsible to maintain the GOB Grant budget to ensure funds are
adequate to completc the minimum required five (5) COB presentations: during the FFY24 grant
year.

The Contractor '\Vil.l incur any ;costs not coyered in the COB Grant scope of work associated with
developing additional materials,; props, equipment,, etc; for these COB Grant highway safety
presentations. These related costs may be applied towards match.

Community Outreach & Betterment (COB) Grant

The Office of Highway Safety has awarded your.agency/organizatibn this GOB Grant to
coordinate and conduct a minimum of five (5) COB Grant highway safety pTesentations tO the

below specified sectors Of the public throughout:the 2024 Federal Fiscal Year.

G.OB Grant presentations will not exceed four (4) hours in duration including travel .time>;setup

and breakdown of the COB Grant presenfatipn location.

The Suhrec;p./ent orthe/r des/grtee w/7/ be responsible to maintain the GQB Grant budget to
ensure-furids are adequate ta complete the rninimuiv required five (5) COB presentations durinq

the grant year.
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COB grant funds cannot be utilized far enforcement patrols or in conjunction with.any other

federal funding.

★ * * * * * * * Jjt * * * * * * * * *'jjc * * * * * * * * * * * * * ;4: * * * * * * * * * ******

The purpose of the Community Outreach & Betterment (COB) Grafit is to bring the highway safety

message via an imperson PowerPoint presentation to traditionally underserved New Hampshire

drivers; and, vulnerable road users while fostering positive law enforcernent/public, interactions
by:

1, Outreach to Refugee/New Arherican Groups

2v Outreach to Low-income neighborhoods

3. Outreach to Older drivers, low vision, and hearing-impaired drivefs

4- Outreach to Vouth Drivers

5-.Outreach to Limited English Proficiency (LEPJ Groups

'6. Outreach to Elementary/High =Schools/Driver Ed'Schdbls

Since persons with disabilities are mernbers of the above gfdups, theSubrecipipnt shQuld make

every effprt to enepurage their inclusion in COB Grant Presentatjons.

The Subfecipieht may not select the same COB Grant specified gbpup moTe than twice

during the same grant year without authorization from their NHOHS field representative.

Due to the highlY:speciaiized and sensitive nature of the COB Grant preaeniatipn% the pfflcial in
charge or their desighees Will have the sole responsibility of assigning the appropriate personnel

to conduct the COB presentations.

Grantee must utilize the "NH Safe Streets and Boads for All (NHSS4A)" PoWerPPintPreSentation

prpvided by the NHOHS during COB Grant Presentations. The Subreeipjent rnay conduct thei'r
own community specific traffic safety related presentation in cOnjUnetlPn With thP "NH Safe

Streets and Roads for All (NHSS4A)" PowerPbint Presentatipn Within the: reimbursable four (4)
hour COB Grant presentation windovv; Any COB Grant related hourly overage of the four (4) hour
maximum .presentation tihie may be utilized as match in support of this grant.

At the conclusion of each COB Grant Presentation the NHOHS Highway Safety Survey will be

offered to the COB Grant attendees as a paper form or by OR Code. Any paper NHOHS Highway

Safety Survey forms will be collected by the Grantees and emailed to the NHOHS at:
hwvsafetvmail(5)dos.nh.Rov
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A maximum of two (2) members of the Subrecipient's ageriGy may be reimbursed while
conducting a COB Grant presentation due to logistical requirements. If additional support

personnel are required to assist a COB Grant presentation the associated costs may be utilized

as "match" in support of this grant.

COB Related Expenses

If required, Interpretation/Translation services will be a reirribursab expense for translation of

COB Grant presentation PowerPoint or for direct on-site interpretation services, for COB Grant

presentations. Grantees may use their own breyidusly contracted jnterpretatipn/trahslation
services or select Interpretation/Translation services from the resources list provided in the COB

Grant Excel workbook.

Purchases of light refreshments* may be a feimbursable expense for attendees of COB Grant

Rresentations up to a cap of $15P per presentation or may be utilized as "pnatch" in support of

this grant. Please contact your NHOHS Field Representatjve for clarification prior to purchase.
*41 CFR 301 74;2(e) "Light refrisshmehts ate defined to i^lud^ bjut dofbeii^^ tOi coffee, tedy miik,
juice/ soft drinks, dbnuis, bagels, fruit/ pretzels, cookies, chips, or muffins". When purchasing light

refreshments, whenever possible consideration should bdgiven to dccorhrhoddte the various religious or
cultural dietary restrictions of the COB Grant Preseniationsattendees.

Printing of COB Grant related handouts in support bf a COB Grant Presentation may be a

reimbursable expense,up to $150 per presentation,Or maybe utilized as "niat^ in support of
this grant.

Should a hall usage;fee be necessary to obtain a location for a COB Grant Presentation, such fee
will be a reimbursable expense up to $150 per presentation,, Any locatiori fee that exceeds the

$.150; per presentation cap the Subrecipient must seek priof apprOVa) fforn their NFIOHS Field
representative. Whenever possible COB Grant Presentation location should be accessible and
within proximity of mass transit.

Reimbursement

The Subrecipient must use the COB Grant ExcefwOfkbook Activity logs to keep fra^^ COB
Grant Related Payroll, Communications, Presentations and Expenses in support of this grant. The
Subrecipient must submit a copy of the COB Grant EXeel workbook with that quarter's COB Grant
activity a long with grant related payroll forms andanyTeceipts/inyoicesalorig with the NHOHS
HS-l and HS-22' Forrns on a quarterly basis to obtain feimburserrieht.
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Any additional costs incurred by the Subrecipient in support of the COB Grant may be utilized as

"match" providing those costs are not simultaneously funded by another federal grant.

The Subrecipient; must retain the records of all COB Grant communications, activities and/or

services and invoices at the Subrecipierit's agency, These records must be maintained for a period

of three (3) years in a nianner that accurately reflects and supports the documented activity.

These suppprtingdocuments are required to be available during a review or site rnpnitoring visit.
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EXHIBIT C

Terms of Payment

The appropriate account number(s) is as follows:

02.23-23-231010-75410000

The Agency (OHS) agrees to compensate the Contractor an amount not to exceed $9>5O0.OO to
cover the costs related to. carrying out the services as stipulated in Exhibit B for the account
listed above. The Office of Highway Safety reserves the right .to reject any costs hot approved

within,thiseohtract or not eligible under the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration

Grant Rrpgram,

Gommunity Outreach & Betterment (COB) Grant

FFY2024

02-23-23-231010 Dept. of Safety

75410000" $9,500,00

Vouchers

The.edhtractor shall submit their reimbursement request tp the office of Highway SafetY; ,on a,
;quartefty basis, aiong with the updated COB Grant Activity Excel Workbook and any claihned

payroil expenditures, receipts: and/or invoices for eoordinating.and presentipg.the GOB: Grant
actlyities dedicated to highway safety Issues as stipulated in Exhibit B. The O.ffice Of Highway
Safety agrees to pay the Cohtractor a total payment of $9,500 covering October 1, 2023'
through SeptemberBO; 2024

Email invoices: HWYSAFETYMAIL(g):dos.nh.gov.

Hard copies: Office of Highway Safety Roorn 208 33 Hazeh PrivoCohcord/NH 03305

Billing Inquiries: CPntraet inquirifeX:

Julia Wa'yiand,;Aceouhtant Paul Ruggiero

NH Office of Highway Safety NH Office of Highway Safety

33 Hazen Drive 33 Hazen Drive

DoncGrd, N H 03365 GOncord, N H 03305

603-271-2109 603-223-8358
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Awarding Agency: Office of Highway Safety (OHS)

Federal Awarding Agency: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA),

US DOT NHTSA Region 155 Broadway, RTV-8E Cambridge> MA 02142

FAIN Number; 69A37521300004020NHO/69A3752230SUP4020NHO/

69A3752230000402NHO/69A3752330SUP4020NH0/'

69A3752430000402NHO/69A3752430SUP4020NH0

Project Title & Number: AAA Northern New England 24-265

PSP & Task: 24-09-03

Assistance Listing Nurnber: 20.600

Funding Source: BIL/SUP NHTSA 402 {402/402CP)

UEI#: URMeVlEYKKL9

Award Title: 402

In Kind Match: $2,375.00

in Kind Match to support this project shall be met using highway safety educatioh or

related work.

Printed Name of Authorized Official

Signature of Authorized Offleial Date Signed
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, David M. Scanlan, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that AAA NORTHERN NEW

ENGLAND is a Maine Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on September 11, 2002.1 flirther

certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have been received and is in good standing as far as

this office is concerned.

Business ID: 413240

Certificate Number: 0006342282

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 6th day of November A.D. 2023.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State



AAA Northern New. England
Officer's Certificate

and Certificate of incurnbency

The undersigned, Eric J. Cyr, hereby certifies the following as of September M 20i22:

1. That I am the duly elected and qualified President of AAA Northern New England, a nonprofit
mutual.benefit corporation created and existing under the laws of the State of Maine (the
"Gompany"), whose corporate headquarters Is 68 Marginal Way, Portland, ME 0410'1,

2, I (an "Authorized Agent") am authorized to execute any documents as required by the State
Of New Harhpshire ("State") in order to give effect to that State of New Hampshire Highvvay
Safety Project Grant Agreement (Impaired, Distracted Driving and Slow Down Move .Over
Media Campaigns: October i, 2022 - September '30, .2022) (the "Agreement"), by and
between the .Company and Stafe, and all transactions thereunder.

AAA Northern New England

Eric J.

Presid
y.r

nt

The undersigned, Gaii G, Louis, hereby certifies the following as of the of September
2022:

1. That i am duly elected and qualified Corporate Secretary of the Company.

2. That the following is the true specimen signature of the within named Authorized Agent of
said Company, and that such Authorized Agent is novy employed by Cpfnpany, and is duly
authorfeed to execute the Agreement: and any. document on behalf of the, Gompany in
connection with the Agreement:

Officer Title Specimen Signature

Eric. J. Cyr President

liNLWITNESS: WHEREOF-,, the undersigned has signed this Certi^ate of Incumbency as of the
ay ,of September 2022.

Gail C. Louis,

Corporate Secretary'



^  AUTOCLU-01

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

TBROWN

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

10/24/2023

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER License # 0D25325
D.L.D. Insurance Brokers, Inc.
17712 Mitchell North
Irvine, CA 92614

CONTACT
NAME:

rA;c,'No, Ext): (949) 221-1788 | fwc,No):(949) 221-1799
ad" RESS: info@dldlns.com

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC#

INSURER A Old Republic 24139

INSURED

AAA Northern New England
68 Marginal Way
Portland, ME 04101

INSURER B

INSURER C

INSURER D

INSURER E

INSURER F

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOV/HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE

ADDL
INSD

SUBR
WVD POLICY NUMBER

POLICY EFF
fMM/DD/YYYYi

POLICY EXP
fMM/DD/YYYYi LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

E 1 1 OCCUR
EACH OCCURRENCE $

CLAIMS-MAC
DAMAGE TO RENTED
PREMISES fEa occurrence^ $

MED EXP (Anv one oerson) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $

POLICY 1 1 1 1 LOC
OTHER:

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $

S

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
fEa acclrienfi $

ANY AUTO

HEDULED
TOS

)N-OWNED
TOS ONLY

BODILY INJURY fPer oerson) $

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

SC
Al BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $

NC
Al

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per accident) $

s

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE s

AGGREGATE $

DED 1 1 RETENTION $ $

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ^ ̂
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE j |
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory In NH) ' '
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

N/A

IVIWC-314410-22 12/31/2022 12/31/2023

Y PER OTH-
^ STATUTE ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT
J  1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE
j  1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT
5  1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)
Certificate is issued as evidence of workers' compensation coverage.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

New Hampshire Dept. of Safety
Office of Highway Safety
33 Hazen Drive, Room 109A
Concord, NH 03305

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE , THEREOF. NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Financial Report

Attached is a complete financial report prepared In conformity with Section 8321
of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law and audited by Independent certified
public accountants, Ernst & Young LLP.

Current Members

The names and addresses of current members of the Automobile Club of

Southern California are located at the Club's Administrative Offices, 3333

Falrvlew Road, Costa Mesa, CA 92626.



Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
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Ernst & Young LLP Tel:+1 415 894 8000
V  Suite 1600 Fax:+1415 894 8099
B  560 Mission Street ey.com

Building a better Francisco, CA 94105-2907
working world

Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors

Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Automobile Club of Southern California and

Subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and
2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, members' equity
and noncontrolling interests and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the "financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the consolidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the Company, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant
ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood

2303-4199775
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that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based
on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the incurred and paid
claims development for periods prior to the most recent period (not to exceed nine prior periods) and the
average annual percentage payout of incurred claims disclosed on pages 45 to 48 be presented to supplement
the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although
not a part of the consolidated financial statements, is required by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries,
the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

April 27, 2023
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balanee Sheets

(In Thousands)

December 31,

2022 2021

Assets

Investments in fixed-income securities (VIE portion of $8,079,496 and $9,274,902)
Investments in marketable equity securities (VIE portion of $5,895,374 and $7,400,734)
Investments in equity-method investees (VIE portion of $51,935 and $63,019)

Other investments (VIE portion of $15,000 and $5,335)
Total investments

Cash and cash equivalents (VIE portion of $345,168 and $158,277)

Receivables:

VIE premiums receivable, net

Other receivables (VIE portion of $241,774 and $154,992)

Total receivables

Deferred acquisition costs (VIE portion of $734,181 and $602,850)
Property and equipment, net (VIE portion of $276,337 and $297,282)

Deferred income tax asset, net (VIE portion of $0 and $0)

Goodwill and intangible assets, net (VIE portion of $10,027 and $11,991)
Other assets (VIE portion of $64,417 and $44,358)
Total assets

Liabilities, members' equity and noneontrolling interests

Club liabilities:

Accrued payroll and employee benefits

Postemployment and retiree benefits

Accrued liabilities and accounts payable

Deferred income tax liability, net

Unearned membership dues

Other liabilities

Total Club liabilities

VIE liabilities:

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses

Policy reserves

Unearned premiums

Accrued policyholder dividends

Deferred income tax liability, net

Accrued liabilities and accounts payable

Other liabilities

Total VIE liabilities

Total liabilities

Members' equity:

Members' equity

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net

Total members' equity

Noneontrolling interests

Total members' equity and noneontrolling interests

Total liabilities, members' equity and noneontrolling interests

See accompanying notes.

$  8,488,600 $  9,701,767

6,902,440 8,676,963

101,461 123,629

15,251 39,029

15,507,752 18,541,388

424,510 208,030

1,148,516 956,187

526,836 416,200

1,675,352 1,372,387

756,931 625,505

602,775 624,598

1,787 2,164

223,658 225,622

484,271 354,016

$  19.677.036 $ 21.953.710

$  343,210 $  329,445

236,691 699,803

181,972 191,966

130,498 206,706

548,567 555,344

238,739 134,088

1,679,677 2,117,352

2,541,779 2,106,740

1,498,096 1,395,258

2,429,156 2,189,714

179,446 196,476

563,774 1,071,477

251,803 193,735

168,542 155,730

7,632,596 7,309,130

9,312,273 9,426,482

1,639,924 1,816,199

(146,515) (112,115)

1,493,409 1,704,084

8,871,354 10,823,144

10,364,763 12,527,228

$  19.677.036 $  21.953.710
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Revenues:

Net premiums earned
Membership

Membership services

Travel services

Investment income:

Net investment income

Net realized investment (losses) gains

Net unrealized (losses) gains on equity investments

Total investment (loss) income

Other income, net

Total revenues

Expenses:

Insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses

Other underwriting expenses

Policyholder dividends

Salaries and benefits

Emergency road service expenses

Printing, supplies, and travel materials
Facilities, taxes, and insurance

Advertising and public relations

Other

Total expenses

(Loss) income before income taxes

Federal and state income tax (benefit) expense

Net (loss) income

Less: net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net (loss) income attributable to members

See accompanying notes.

$  5,080,969 $ 4,878,411

1,076,456 1,046,162

198,027 184,703

174,680 106,696

377,794 361,903

(101,618) 198,660

(1,704,213) 1,384,826

(1,428,037) 1,945,389

163,347 152,599

5,265,442 8,313,960

4,250,025 3,505,540

580,185 559,244

309,462 423,002

984,968 939,050

784,235 679,893

60,281 54,079

266,538 251,345

87,097 81,255

143,127 123,217

7,465,918 6,616,625

(2,200,476) 1,697,335

(486,362) 349,959

(1,714,114) 1,347,376

(1,537,839) 1,173,503

$  (176,275) $ 173,873
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income
(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Net (loss) income
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Unrealized holding losses during the year, net of taxes of $(235,259) and $(55,936)

Change in liability related to postemployment and retiree benefit obligations,
net oftaxes of$113,377 and $89,937

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax

Comprehensive (loss) income

Less; comprehensive (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to members

See accompanying notes.

$  (1,714,114) $  1,347,376

(836,863) (202,226)

388,512 305,690

(448,351) 103,464

(2,162,465) 1,450,840

(1,951,790) 1,216,115

$  t210.6751 5S  234.725
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Members' Equity and Noncontrolling Interests
(In Thousands)

Total

Accumulated Members'

Other Total Equity and

Members' Comprehensive Members' Noncontroiling Noncontroiling

Equity (Loss) Income Equity Interests Interests

Balance at January !, 2021 $  1,642,326 $  (172,967) $ 1,469,359 $  9,607,029 $  11,076,388

Net income 173,873 173,873 1,173,503 1,347,376

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - 60,852 60,852 42,612 103,464

Balance at December 31, 2021 1,816,199 (112,115) 1,704,084 10,823,144 12,527,228

Net loss (176,275) (176,275) (1,537,839) (1,714,114)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax - (34,400) (34,400) (413,951) (448,351)

Balance at DecembenSl, 2022 $  1.639,924 $  (146.515) $ 1.493.409 $  8.871.354 $  10.364.763

See accompanying notes.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Net (loss) income $  (1,714,114) $  1,347,376
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 113,013 109,911

Amortization of fixed-income securities 67,312 73,636
Net realized investment losses (gains) 101,618 (198,660)
Change in net unrealized losses (gains) on equity investments 1,704,213 (1,384,826)

(Gains) losses on disposal of property and equipment (5.096) 653

Defened income taxes (396,939) 290,897

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other receivables (90,832) (46,197)
Deferred acquisition costs (54,319) (57,194)
Other assets, net (99,240) (118,145)
Other liabilities, net 124,399 256,751

Unearned membership dues (6,777) 22,937

Premiums receivable, net (192,620) (24,656)
Accrued liabilities and accounts payable 38,370 100,094

Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses and policy reserves 537,876 342,267

Unearned premiums 239,442 40,497

Accrued policyholder dividends (17,030) (11,164)

Net cash provided by operating activities 349,276 744,177

Investing activities
Purchases of fixed-income securities (2,983,933) (3,661,459)
Purchases of marketable equity securities (729,636) (546,778)
Purchases of other investments (15,000) -

Purchases of property and equipment (92,329) (78,072)
Proceeds from sales, maturities, and calls of investments in fixed-income securities 2,800,115 2,970,718

Proceeds from sales of marketable equity securities 833,516 439,019

Proceeds from sale of other investments 47,881 -

Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 6,302 5,826

Distribution from other investments 288 741

Net cash used in investing activities (132,796) (870,005)

Financing activities
Dividends paid - (6,722)

Net cash used in financing activities
-

(6,722)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 216,480 (132,550)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 208,030 340,580

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1$  424.510 $  208.030

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash payments during the year for:
Interest S $

Income taxes !B  3,016 $  84,726

See accompanying notes.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

December 31, 2022

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements inelude the accounts of Automobile Club of Southern

California (ACSC) and its wholly owned subsidiaries, ACSC Management Services, Inc.
(Management Services), Auto Club Services, LLC (Club Services), AAA Texas, LLC (AAA
Texas), AAA New Mexico, LLC (AAA New Mexico), AAA Hawaii, LLC (AAA Hawaii), and
Auto Club Enterprises (ACE). In addition, the consolidated financial statements include the
following entities and their wholly owned subsidiaries; Alabama Motorists Association, Inc.
(AMA), Automobile Club of Missouri (ACMO), AAA Northern New England (NNE), AAA East
Central (EC), and Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Inc. (Tidewater). The
consolidated financial statements also include the accounts of its majority-owned subsidiary.
Pleasant Travel Holding Company, LLC (PTHC) and its wholly owned subsidiary. Pleasant
Holidays, LLC (PH) and its wholly owned subsidiary Hawaii World LLC (HW). ACSC is a
nonprofit mutual benefit corporation incorporated in the State of California. Collectively, the
above companies are referred to as "the Club."

The consolidated financial statements also include the accounts of the Club's variable interest

entities (VIEs) (see VIE Consolidation below), which include Interinsurance Exchange of the
Automobile Club (Exchange) and its wholly owned subsidiaries, and Automobile Club
Inter-Insurance Exchange (MO Exchange) and its wholly owned subsidiary. Exchange's wholly
owned subsidiaries include Auto Club Casualty Company (Casualty) and Auto Club Indemnity
Company (Indemnity), and MO Exchange's wholly owned subsidiary is Auto Club Family
Insuranee Company (Family). Additionally, the aecounts of Auto Club County Mutual Insurance
Company (ACCM) and Motor Club Insurance Company (MCIC) are included in the consolidated
financial statements as they are considered a VIE and a voting interest entity, respectively, of
Exchange. Collectively, the above companies are referred to as "Property and Casualty VIEs."

ACSC and Exchange each own a 50% interest in Automobile Club of Southern California Life
Insurance Company (ACSC Life). The accounts of ACSC Life are included in the consolidated
financial statements. ACSC Life is referred to as "Life Insurance VIE."
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Collectively, the "Property and Casualty VIEs" and the "Life Insurance VIE" are referred to as
"the VIEs." "Noncontrolling interests" refers to the interests in the VIEs and voting interest entities
held for the benefit of their respective policyholders. Collectively, the Club and the VIEs are
referred to as "the Company."

ACSC, Management Services, Club Services, AAA Texas, AAA New Mexico, AAA Hawaii,
ACE, AMA, NNE, EC, and Tidewater are collectively referred to as ACSC Club.

ACMO and its wholly owned subsidiary Club Exchange Corporation (Club Exchange) are
collectively referred to as ACMO Club.

ACSC and Exchange each own a 13.15% interest in ACLI Acquisition Company (ACLI Life),
which is a holding company that owns all the outstanding shares of AAA Life Insurance Company
(AAA Life). AAA Life's primary business is the sale of individual term and universal life
insurance and annuity products. The investments in ACLI Life are accounted for using the equity
method as ACSC and Exchange, evaluated as a combined entity, are not the primary beneficiary
of, nor do they control, ACLI Life.

The Exchange has a 100% quota share assumption reinsurance agreement with Auto Club
Insurance Association (ACIA) covering the automobile, homeowner, and personal umbrella
business in the states of Ohio, West Virginia, and Kentucky by insurance companies managed by
ACIA. Starting on August I, 2020, Indemnity started writing insurance policies in the states of
West Virginia and Ohio. Starting on June I, 2021, Indemnity started writing insurance policies in
the state of Kentucky.

Exchange owns a 50% interest in MCIC, a Rhode Island domiciled insurer, and effectively owns
a majority voting interest over operational decisions. AAA Northeast Holding, Inc. (ANEH), a
wholly owned subsidiary of AAA Northeast (ANE), owns a 50% interest in MCIC. Exchange,
ACSC, MCIC, ANE, and ANEH are collectively referred to as the "Alliance Parties". The Alliance
Parties have entered into an alliance agreement pursuant to which MCIC offers homeowner and
automobile insurance to members of ANE. In accordance with the requirements of Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, the accounts of MCIC are included in the
consolidated financial statements as a voting interest entity of Exchange and a noncontrolling
interest is recorded for the 50% of the entity not owned by Exchange.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Finaneial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

VIE Consolidation

Based on the Company's application of ASC 810, ACSC has determined that it has a variable
interest in, and is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of, Exchange through the fees generated
from the management agreement with Management Services and ACSC's exclusive right to the
residual interest in the Exchange. ACSC has the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact Exchange's economic performance, as well as the right to receive the expected
residual returns of Exchange. As a result. Exchange's financial results are consolidated with
ACSC.

Exchange has a reinsurance agreement with ACCM to assume 100% of ACCM's direct written
premiums, policy risks, and operating expenses. In addition, under a management service
agreement between ACCM and Exchange, Exchange has the power to manage the activities of
ACCM. In consideration for providing these management services, ACCM has agreed to pay
Exchange its net income less investment income, subject to certain adjustments. As a result of
these arrangements. Exchange is deemed the primary beneficiary of ACCM and ACCM's financial
results are eonsolidated with those of Exchange in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Exchange's variable interest in ACCM is primarily attributable to the reinsurance and
management service agreements between Exchange and ACCM.

Exchange has entered into a quota-share reinsurance agreement with MCIC to assume 100% of its
direct premium written, policy risks, and operating expenses. The Exchange has also entered into
a retrocession agreement with Motor Club Insurance Captive, LLC (Captive), a wholly owned
subsidiary of ANE, to retroeede to Captive 50% of the direct premium written, policy risks, and
operating expenses assumed from MCIC.

An affiliation agreement (Affiliation Agreement) has been executed among ACSC, ACE, ACMO,
Exchange, MO Exchange, Management Services, and Club Exchange. Pursuant to the Affiliation
Agreement, Exchange has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact MO
Exchange's economic performance. Under the pooling agreement, the participants pool all of their
net underwriting business after cessions to nonaffiliated reinsurers and share various underwriting
assets and liabilities. Investments and investment-related operating items, income taxes, and
noninsurance-related assets and liabilities are excluded from pooling. As a result of these
arrangements and in accordance with ASC 810, Exchange is deemed the primary beneficiary of
MO Exchange and MO Exchange's financial results are consolidated with those of Exchange in
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Exchange's variable interest in MO
Exchange is primarily attributable to the pooling arrangement between Exchange and MO
Exchange.

The Company has consolidated Club's and Property and Casualty VIEs' financial position and
operating results. Furthermore, upon consolidation, 100% of the ownership of ACSC Life is
included within the consolidated entity. Exchange is deemed the primary beneficiary of ACSC
Life as the insurance business activities of ACSC Life more closely resemble Exchange's
insurance business activities as compared to ACSC's business activities. As a result, ACSC Life's
financial results are consolidated with Exchange. The consolidated financial statements and notes
to the consolidated financial statements presented reflect guidance under ASC 810.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and include the accounts of the Club and the
VIEs. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Presentation of Assets and Liabilities

ASC 810 does not require separate presentation of the VIEs' assets. However, because the VIEs'
assets can only be used to settle the obligations of the VIEs, the VIEs' assets are presented
parenthetically on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Under ASC 810, liabilities are
required to be presented separately for the VIEs on the consolidated balance sheets as the VIEs'
creditors do not have recourse to the general credit of the Club, likewise the Club's creditors do
not have recourse to the general credit of the VIE.

Disclosure Aggregation

As ASC 810 permits aggregation of disclosures for similar entities in situations in which separate
reporting would not provide information that is more useful to financial statement users,
disclosures within these consolidated financial statements have been aggregated to include both
the Club and VIEs unless otherwise stated.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Summary of Operations

The primary objective of the Club (excluding PH) is to provide members with services that meet
their motoring and travel needs. These services include, but are not limited to, emergency road
service, travel services, automotive services, financial services, travel publications, and map
distribution. The Club provides services through branch offices located throughout southern
California, Texas, New Mexico, Alabama, Hawaii, Missouri, Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi,
eastern Kansas, southern Illinois, southern Indiana, Maine, New Hampshire, Vermont, eastern and
western Pennsylvania, West Virginia, northeastern and south central Ohio, southwestern New
York, western Kentucky, and southern Virginia, and through telephone service and internet
programs.

The primary operations of PH are to provide packaged tour sales to various travel destinations.
These packaged tours are primarily sold through a network of agents, wholesale brokers, and the
internet.

The Property and Casualty VIEs offer automobile, homeowner, watercraft, and personal excess
liability insurance to members of the Club and ANE.

Management Services and Club Exchange are the corporate attorneys-in-fact for Exchange and
MO Exchange, respectively. These entities perform functions related to the acquisition and
issuance of insurance and the administrative activities associated with the insurance business. In

return for such services. Management Services and ACMO each are reimbursed for salaries,
employee benefits, and the administrative costs of running the business through the management
service fee.

The Life Insurance VIE is a life insurance company that reinsures life and annuity products sold
by AAA Life, an affiliated life insurance company that is not included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company.

Allocation of Expenses

Certain operating expenses are incurred jointly by ACSC Club and Exchange and ACMO Club
and MO Exchange. Such expenses are allocated among the entities, respectively, based on the
nature of the expense and the related utilization by the entity.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Recognition of Revenue

The Club

Membership revenue consists of membership dues and enrollment fees. Membership dues are
received at the beginning of each membership term and one-time enrollment fees are received at
the beginning of the initial membership term. Membership dues are recognized as revenue on a
pro rata basis over the membership term, as the Club's performance obligation to provide services
that are included in the price of membership is satisfied over the membership term. Enrollment
fees are deferred and recognized as revenue over a 60-month period, representing the average
determined period of membership, as the Club's performance obligation to renew membership
without an additional fee in excess of membership dues is satisfied over the entire period of
membership.

Membership services revenue consists of payments from members or commissions from vendors
for various services offered by the Club that are not included in the price of membership including
automobile battery sale commissions, insurance agency commissions, and various point-of-sale
member transactions. With the exception of insurance agency commissions, membership services
revenue is recorded at the time of the transaction, as the time of payment coincides with the Club's
satisfaction of its performance obligation to provide the service.

Travel services revenue primarily consists of commissions for arranging travel for members on
behalf of airfare, hotel, cruise, and tour operators. Travel commission payments are generally
received either upon final payment by the customer or the departure of the applicable trip. Travel
commissions are recognized as revenue at the departure date of the applicable trip, as the Club's
performance obligation to provide a traveling member to the operator is satisfied when the trip
commences. Travel commissions are generally recognized as revenue on a net basis, as the Club
acts as an agent and does not control or assume inventory risk of the service before it is transferred
to the customer. If the Club acts as a principal by controlling the service before it is transferred to
the customer, such as when it assumes inventory risk for certain hotel accommodations, the Club
recognizes revenue on a gross basis.

Insurance agency commission payments from third-party insurers are received by the Club upon
the insurer's receipt of premium payments from the insured. The Club recognizes revenue at the
policy effective date, as the Club's performance obligation to provide an effective policy is
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

satisfied on that date. For commissions earned on "guaranteed renewable" multi-year life insurance
contracts, the Club estimates as variable consideration the most likely amount of future
commissions that is expected to be received for policies currently in force. The Club recognizes as
revenue the estimated variable consideration that is not deemed to be constrained based on

historical experience, industry trends, and other economic factors. The Club recognizes revenue
for future commissions on an undiscounted basis, as the related contracts do not contain a
significant financing component.

The Club's revenue recognized from contracts with customers, disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition, is as follows for the years ending December 31:

2022 2021

Products and services transferred over time $ 1,076,456 $ 1,046,162
Products and services transferred at a point in time 372,707 291,399

$  1,449,163 $ 1,337,561

Revenue from performance obligations satisfied over time consists of membership revenue.
Revenue from performance obligations satisfied at a point in time consists of travel services and
membership services revenue.

Receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities from contracts with customers are as follows
as of December 31:

2022 2021

Receivables $ 2,375 $ 1,803
Contract assets 193,772 184,790

Contract liabilities 552,996 589,074
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property and Casualty VIEs

Direct premiums written are earned on a pro rata basis over the terms of the insurance policies.
The portion of premiums written applicable to the unexpired terms of the policies is recorded as
unearned premiums. Premiums received in advance of the policy's effective date are recorded as
advance premiums and included in other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. Exchange and MO Exchange record a had debt allowance for receivables they believe are
uneollectible, which was $6,290 and $3,767 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Life Insurance VIE

For investment contracts without mortality risk (such as deferred annuities and immediate
annuities with benefits paid for a certain period), the Life Insurance VIE records premium deposits
and benefit payments as increases or decreases in a liability account rather than as revenue or
expense. The Life Insurance VIE records as revenue any amounts charged against the liability
account for the cost of insurance, policy administration, and surrender penalties. For investment
contracts with mortality risk, the Life Insurance VIE records premium deposits and benefit
payments as revenue or expense.

For traditional life insurance contracts, premiums are recognized as income when due. Benefits
and expenses are recognized as a level percentage of earned premiums, accomplished by providing
for future policy benefits and by amortizing the deferred acquisition costs (DAC).

Accident and health premiums are earned pro rata over the term of the policies.

Deferred Acquisition Costs

The Club

Deferred membership acquisition costs, primarily consisting of commissions that are incremental
costs of obtaining the contract and that are expected to be recovered. Such costs are capitalized
and amortized ratably over a 60-month period, representing the average determined period of
membership. Advertising expenses, including direct mail advertising, are expensed as incurred.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property and Casualty VIEs

DAC consists primarily of commissions paid to sales staff, premium taxes, and certain
underwriting costs that vary with and are primarily related to the successful acquisition of new and
renewal insurance policies and are deferred and amortized over one year to match the revenue
generated. Property and casualty advertising expenses are not deferred. The amount of costs to be
deferred would be reduced to the extent future policy premiums do not exceed related losses,
expenses, and policyholder dividends. There was no reduction in costs deferred in 2022 and 2021.

The DAC profitability is analyzed at least annually to assess recoverability. Anticipated losses and
expenses are considered in determining whether the balance is recoverable. No such deficiencies
were identified in 2022 and 2021.

Life Insurance VIE

The costs directly related to the successful acquisition of new or renewing insurance contracts are
deferred. These deferred costs are reported as an asset on the balance sheet and amortized using
the interest rate credited to the underlying policy in relation to future anticipated gross profits or
premium revenue. The recoverability of the unamortized balance of the DAC is evaluated
annually. Estimated future gross profits or future premiums, expected mortality or morbidity
interest earned and credited rates, persistency, and expenses are considered in determining whether
the balance is recoverable. No such deficiencies were determined for 2022 or 2021.

Estimated future gross profits or future premiums, expected mortality or morbidity, interest earned,
and credited rates, persistency, and expenses are considered in determining whether the balance is
recoverable. No such deficiencies were identified in 2022 and 2021.

Certain costs are deferred related to the sale inducements offered on sales to new customers,

principally on investment contracts and primarily in the form of additional credits to the customer's
account value or enhancements to interest credited for a specified period which are beyond
amounts currently being credited to existing contracts. All other sales inducements are expensed
as incurred and are included in interest credited to contract holders' funds as part of policy benefits.
Deferred sales inducements are amortized using the same methodology and assumptions as DAC,
and are included in interest credited to contract holders' funds as part of policy benefits. Deferred
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

sales inducements included in DAC are periodically reviewed for recoverability and written down
when necessary. There was no reduction in costs deferred in 2022 and 2021.

Advertising

In addition to advertising costs for membership acquisition, the Company utilizes television, radio,
and newspaper to advertise its other products and services. These advertising costs are expensed
as incurred. The Company participates in cooperative advertising arrangements whereby
third-party hotels, car rental and cruise companies, and airlines agree to pay a predetermined
portion of the advertising costs incurred by the Company. The Company records its portion of the
cooperative advertising as advertising and public relations expense in the consolidated statements
of operations. Club advertising expense recorded within advertising and public relations in the
consolidated statements of income was $79,030 and $75,061 for the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. Property and Casualty VIE advertising expense recorded within other
underwriting expense in the consolidated statements of income was $100,510 and $105,052 for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include funds invested in U.S. Treasury Bills, money market accounts,
demand deposits and other investments with original maturity of 90 days or less at the time of
purchase.

Investments

The Company's investments in fixed-income securities are classified as available-for-sale and
recorded at fair value. The Company's equity-method investments are recorded at the cost of the
investment adjusted for the Company's respective share of earnings or losses of the investee and
any distributions received.

Investments in private entities in which the Company holds less than 20% ownership interest and
where the Company does not have the ability to significantly influence the operations of the
investee are accounted for using the cost method of accounting. In accordance with the cost
method, the Company's initial investment is recorded at cost and dividend income is recorded
when applicable dividends are declared. Cost-method investments are reported as other
investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments are reviewed periodically to determine whether a decline in fair value below the

carrying value is other than temporary. Temporary unrealized investment gains and losses on
securities available-for-sale are credited or charged directly to equity as accumulated other
comprehensive income, net of applicable tax effects. When a decline in the value of investments
is considered other than temporary, a loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
The other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) is based on certain criteria for each group of
invested assets, such as security-specific analysis and other factors, which include the duration and
extent of unrealized losses, intent to sell or the likelihood of the Company being required to sell
the investments before recovery of the cost basis. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, equity securities were excluded from the OTTI analysis, as unrealized investment gains and
losses on equity securities were recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. ,

Realized gains and losses are included in the consolidated statements of operations based upon the
specific-identification method.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of financial instruments presented in the consolidated balance sheets and the
applicable notes to the Company's consolidated financial statements are estimates of the fair values
at a specific point in time using available market information and appropriate valuation
methodologies. The carrying value of receivables, accounts payable, and other liabilities
approximates the fair value of those items.

Cash equivalents are carried either at cost or amortized cost, which approximates fair value due to
their short-term maturities. Money market funds recorded within cash and cash equivalents was
$317,125 and $158,779 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Money market funds are
valued based on quoted market prices, or $1 per share, which is generally the net asset value of the
fund.

Financial instruments related to insurance-related products are specifically exempted from fair
value disclosure requirements.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net is comprised of the following as of December 31:

2022 2021

Land, buildings, and leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment
Computer software

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

$  674,125 $  659,641
377,281 366,574

738,533 682,149

1,789,939 1,708,364

(1,187,164) (1,083,766)

$  602,775 $  624,598

Property and equipment, including leasehold and other improvements that extend an asset's useful
life, and computer software costs are stated at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful
lives using the straight-line method, ranging from three years to seven years for certain furniture,
fixtures, equipment, and computer software costs, and 40 years for buildings. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser of seven years, which is the estimated useful life, or
the lease term. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Property and equipment
and the related accumulated depreciation are recorded by the entity that purchased the related asset.
The depreciation expense incurred by the Company was $49,212 and $54,886 for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company capitalized software development costs for internal use of $53,908 and $50,230 for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense incurred by the
Company was $63,801 and $55,025 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

The Company periodically reviews its furniture, fixtures, equipment, and buildings for any existing
condition, situation, or set of circumstances involving possible impairment. No such conditions
were identified for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill (see Note 5) represents the residual value of acquired assets in excess of their estimated
fair value at the time of an acquisition or affiliation. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually
or more frequently if indicators of possible impairment arise in accordance with ASC 350,
Intangibles - Goodwill and Other. ASC 350 gives companies the option to perform a qualitative
assessment that may allow them to skip the annual goodwill two-step impairment test. Potential
impairment is indicated when the book value of a reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds its
fair value. If potential impairment exists, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to the fair
value of its assets and liabilities, excluding goodwill, to estimate the implied value of the reporting
unit's goodwill. An impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the book value of the reporting
unit's goodwill over the implied fair value. No goodwill impairment loss was recorded for the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets (see Note 5) are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets
are reviewed periodically for impairment or more frequently if indicators of impairment arise. For
assets with determinable useful lives, amortization is computed using the straight-line method over
the estimated economic lives of the respective intangible assets ranging from five to ten years.
Long-lived assets, including intangibles, are reviewed annually or more frequently if indicators of
possible impairment arise. Write downs, if any, are recorded through a charge against current
earnings when the asset is deemed impaired. Amortization periods are adjusted when management
determines that the estimated life of the asset has been reduced.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses and Policy Reserves

Property and Casualty VIEs

The Property and Casualty VIEs establish reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (LAB)
for reported claims on a case basis and for incurred but not reported claims on the basis of
historically established statistical data. The reserves are based upon estimates and, as such, are
subject to an inherent degree of variability. The Property and Casualty VIEs' ultimate liability may
be greater or less than the stated loss reserves. Reserves are closely monitored and reviewed
quarterly by the Loss Reserve Committee, which consists of selected members of the actuarial.
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Automobile Club of Southern California and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

claims, accounting, and executive staff. Changes in estimates are reflected in operations during the
year in which the ehange is made. The Property and Casualty VIEs do not discount to present value
that portion of their loss reserves expected to be paid in future periods. Although no assurances
can be made that the ultimate liability will not differ from such estimates, management believes
that, in the aggregate, the reserves for losses and LAE are adequate. Salvage and subrogation
recoverables are estimated using historically established recoverable statistical data. Salvage and
subrogation amounts deducted from the reserves for losses and LAE were $282,481 and $210,475
at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 4).

Life Insurance VIE

ACSC Life's reserves for investment-type contracts are based either on the contract account
balance (if future benefit payments in excess of the account balance are not guaranteed) or on the
present value of future benefit payments (if such payments are guaranteed). Additions to insurance
liabilities are made if it is determined that future cash flows (including investment income) are
insufficient to cover future benefits and expenses.

Reserves for traditional life contracts are generally calculated using the net level premium method,
based on assumptions as to mortality, morbidity, and investment yields ranging from 2.33% to
6.25% in both 2022 and 2021. These assumptions are generally made at the time the contract is
issued or at the purchase date. These assumptions are based on projections from past experience,
making allowances for possible unfavorable deviation. Discount rates vary by product line and
issue year, with lower rates in more recent years to reflect the current interest rate environment.

Benefit reserves for universal life products are computed in accordance with the retrospective
deposit method and represent policy account balances before applicable surrender charges. Interest
crediting rates for universal life products ranged from 3.00% to 4.00% in 2022 and 2021.

Premium Deficiency Reserves

Premium deficiency reserves are established for the amount of the anticipated losses, LAE,
commissions, and other acquisition costs and maintenance costs in excess of the recorded unearned
premium reserve and future installment premiums on existing policies that have not previously
been expensed. The Property and Casualty VIEs do not consider anticipated investment income
when calculating their premium deficiency reserves. No premium deficiency reserves were
recorded by the Property and Casualty VIEs at December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Dividends

For the Property and Casualty VIEs, savings or credits may be returned to their respective
shareholders or policyholders irrespective of the source from which such savings or credits accrue
whenever such returns do not constitute an impairment of the assets or minimum capital and
surplus reserves required to be maintained. Indemnity and Casualty paid no dividends for the years
ended 2022 and 2021. All other Property and Casualty VIEs recorded total policyholder dividends
of $309,462 and $423,002 for the years ended 2022 and 2021, respectively.

ACSC Life and Family are subject to the financial capacity guidelines established by their
domiciliary states. The payment of dividends to their respective shareholders from statutory
unassigned surplus is restricted, subject to certain statutory limitations. For 2022, ACSC Life and
Family were permitted to pay approximately $0 and $6,880 respectively, in dividends without the
prior approval of the Department of Insurance (DOI) of their states of domicile. For 2021, ACSC
Life and Family were permitted to pay approximately $0 and $8,228, respectively, in dividends
without the prior approval of the Department of Insurance (DOI) of their states of domicile. The
above statutory regulations may have the effect of indirectly limiting the ability of ACSC Life and
Family to pay dividends to their respective shareholders. ACSC Life and Family paid no dividends
for the years ended 2022 and 2021.

Reinsurance

Property and Casualty VIEs

Reinsurance is purchased by the Property and Casualty VIEs to control exposure to potential losses
arising from large risks and to reduce the losses that may arise from catastrophes. The Property
and Casualty VIEs currently have excess-of-loss catastrophe reinsurance coverage in all states.

Reinsurance treaties entered into by the Property and Casualty VIEs provide coverage on a per
occurrence basis after covered catastrophe losses for the Property and Casualty VIEs as a group
exceed a retention limit. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Property and Casualty VIEs
retention limit was $200,000 for the California market and $100,000 for markets other than
California. For the 12 months ending June 30, 2023 the first $150,000 of excess losses are shared
pro-rata with 38.05% coverage by the reinsurers and 61.95% retention by the Property and
Casualty VIEs. Excess losses from $150,000 to $200,000 are shared pro-rata with 86% coverage
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by the reinsurers and 14% retention by the Property and Casualty VIEs. Excess losses from

$200,000 to $350,000 are covered 96.5% by the reinsurers and 3.5% retention by the Property and
Casualty VIEs, and excess losses from $350,000 to $1,554,000 are covered 100% by the reinsurers.
For the 12 months ending June 30, 2022, all excess losses over the retention limits for the next
$1,500,000 in losses are covered 100% by the reinsurers.

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Property and Casualty VIEs from their primary
obligations to policyholders. Tbe Property and Casualty VIEs evaluate the financial condition of
their reinsurers and monitor concentrations of credit risk to minimize their exposure to significant
losses from reinsurer insolvencies. In addition, the Property and Casualty VIEs' reinsurance
agreements help to mitigate credit risk by requiring unauthorized reinsurers to fund their
outstanding obligations via funds withheld, cash advances, trust agreements or letters of credit.
The Property and Casualty VIEs had $I 1,940 and $7,330 in outstanding reinsurance recoverables
as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, whicb are included in other receivables in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The Exchange has a 100% quota share assumption reinsurance agreement with ACIA covering the
automobile, homeowner, and personal umbrella business in the states of Ohio, West Virginia, and
Kentucky by insurance companies managed by ACIA. Starting on August I, 2020, Indemnity
started writing insurance policies in the states of West Virginia and Ohio. Starting on June 1, 2021,
Indemnity started writing insurance policies in the state of Kentucky.

Life Insurance VIE

ACSC Life participates in an expense-sharing agreement with AAA Life. In accordance with the
expense-sharing agreement, expenses are allocated based upon specific identification, new
business policy activity, and in-force policy activity. The expense-sharing agreement is integrated
with the reinsurance agreements such that costs are ultimately allocated based on the volume of
new business processed and existing policies in force. In conjunction with the reinsurance and
expense-sharing agreements, amounts incurred by ACSC Life in 2022 and 2021 were $94,299 and
$96,059, respectively.

Under the coinsurance reinsurance agreements, ACSC Life participates in all aspects of the
original policy, including the risk regarding investment, mortality, terminations, and other risks of
the policy. The cost of reinsurance is recognized over the life of the reinsurance policies on the
same basis used by the ceding companies for the underlying policies.
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Income Taxes

The Company has multiple tax-filing groups in both the motor club and insurance operations. The
Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to the
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax basis. Deferred income taxes are recognized for the future tax consequences of
temporary differences using enacted statutory tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.

Temporary differences include the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts
and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in
the period that includes the enactment date. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred
tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income. Valuation allowances are established

when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount more likely than not to be realized in
future tax returns.

The Club

Under the Internal Revenue Code (the Code), the various clubs file separate federal income tax
returns at rates comparable to those applicable to other corporate taxpayers. ACSC, ACMO, and
NNE each file consolidated federal tax returns with their wholly owned subsidiaries. ACE, AMA,
EC (including each of its subsidiaries). Tidewater, and HW each file separate tax returns. PTHC
files a partnership return that includes the income of PH.

Property and Casualty VIEs

Exchange and MO Exchange are reciprocal insurers organized under the laws of the states of
California and Missouri, respectively. Under the Code, the income of Exchange and MO Exchange
(subject to certain adjustments and deductions as defined by the Code) is subject to federal income
taxes.

Exchange's federal income tax return is consolidated with Casualty and Indemnity, and MO
Exchange's federal tax return is consolidated with Family. The method of allocation between the
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companies is subject to written agreement. Allocation is based upon separate return calculations
with current credit for net losses. Intercompany tax balances are settled within 30 days of the filing
of the consolidated tax return or when tax payments are remitted to the Internal Revenue Service
(IRS). ACCM and MCIC file stand-alone federal income tax returns.

Life Insurance VIE

ACSC Life is a California-domiciled life insurance company and files a separate federal tax return.

Postemployment and Retirement Benefits

The Company's postemployment and retirement benefit costs and obligations include various
assumptions. The Company's major assumptions relate primarily to discount rates, mortality rates,
expected increases in compensation levels, and the expected long-term return on plan assets.

The Company generally amortizes unrecognized actuarial gains and losses on a straight-line basis
over the average remaining estimated service life of participants. Postemployment and retirement
assumptions are reviewed annually by senior management with the assistance of outside actuaries.

These assumptions are adjusted as appropriate to reflect changes in market rates and outlook. The
discount rate assumptions are based on current investment yields of high-quality fixed-income
securities with maturities similar to the expected benefits payment period. Mortality rates help
predict the expected life of plan participants. See Note 7 for additional description of these plans
and the accounting and funding policies.

Self-Insurance

The Club (excluding EC) is partially self-insured for workers' compensation insurance with a loss
threshold up to $2,000 per occurrence. The self-insured portion of the liability for unpaid claims
and associated expenses, including claims incurred but not reported, is determined using actuarial
valuations provided by an independent actuarial consulting firm. The liability for the workers'
compensation claims is $29,531 and $27,892 as ofDecember 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and
is included in accrued payroll and employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, EC was fully insured through third-party
providers for its workers' compensation insurance.
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The Club (excluding AAA Hawaii) is self-insured for medical insurance. As of December 31,
2022, the Club has excess loss insurance to limit its exposure, which will reimburse the Club up
to $1,000 for covered expenses that exceed $1,000 per covered person incurred from January 1,
2021 through December 31, 2022, and paid from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022.

Self-insured losses are accrued based on the Club's estimates of the aggregate liability for
uninsured claims incurred using actuarial valuations prepared by an independent actuarial
consulting firm. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the accrued liability for self-insured medical
losses included in accrued payroll and employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets is approximately $9,164 and $7,453, respectively. A third-party administrator is
used to track and evaluate actual claims experience to ensure the consistency of the data used in
the annual actuarial valuation.

Cash Value of Life Insurance

The Club has life insurance policies covering key employees for which the Club is the beneficiary.
At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the cash surrender value of these policies was $187,594 and
$191,796, respectively, and is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. Changes in the cash surrender value of these policies have been recognized in net
investment income for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income, change in liabilities related to postemployment and
retirement benefits (net of tax), and change in net unrealized holding gains/losses on equity-
method investments and fixed-income securities available-for-sale (net of tax).
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Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes, are as follows for the years

ended December 31:

2022 2021

Balance as of January 1
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications:
Unrealized holding losses during the year
Change in liability related to postretirement and

retiree benefit obligations
Total other comprehensive (loss) income before

reclassifications

Less: Reelassification adjustment for amounts realized
in net (loss) income:
Net realized investment gains

Total reelassification adjustment for amounts realized in
net (loss) income

Total other comprehensive (loss) income
Balance as of December 31

$  (112,115) $ (172,967)

(137,710) (17,199)

104,933 88,988

(32,777) 71,789

1,623 10,937

1,623 10,937

(34,400) 60,852

$  (146,515) $ (112,115)

Use of Management Estimates

In preparing the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP, management is
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements and revenues and expenses for the period. Actual results could differ
materially from those estimates.

Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the valuation of goodwill and
intangible assets, pension liabilities, reserves for losses and LAE and policy reserves, valuation of
investments in fixed-income and marketable equity securities, deferred income taxes, and variable
consideration recognized as revenue for life insurance agency commissions.
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Concentration of Risks

Geographic

Exchange's business is primarily written in southern California, which exposes the Company to
market, regulatory, and catastrophe risk in that market. Exchange continues to execute its strategic
plan to mitigate its risk by growing its existing markets outside of California and expanding its
business into new markets.

MO Exchange writes the majority of its premiums in the state of Missouri, which is subject to
market, regulatory, and earthquake risk. MO Exchange participates in the Property and Casualty
VIEs' reinsurance program to help manage its risk.

Catastrophe

The Property and Casualty VIEs purchase reinsurance to protect against catastrophic risks,
including earthquakes in California and the New Madrid earthquake zone in southeast Missouri.
Exchange does not underwrite earthquake insurance directly in California; instead, Exchange is a
participant in the California Earthquake Authority (CEA). As a CEA member. Exchange is liable
for assessments in the event of a major earthquake. Any potential contingent assessments would
be based on market share at the time of the event and approximates $108,492 (see Note 13). This
estimate is updated annually by the CEA and is provided to Exchange for informational purposes.
Exchange would also be liable for any losses from fires following a major earthquake. Such losses,
as well as any potential CEA assessments, are covered under Exchange's reinsurance program. No
major earthquakes were experienced in 2022 or 2021 that would result in an assessment from the
CEA.

In Texas, the Property and Casualty VIEs transfers its exposure to loss due to hurricanes for the
first tier of counties along the coast to the Texas Windstorm Insurance Association (TWIA).
However, the TWIA may still assess the Property and Casualty VIEs based on its share of the
statewide homeowner premium. The hurricane losses in the counties inland of those directly
adjacent to the Gulf of Mexico are covered by the homeowner policy. Hurricane losses for
automobiles are covered by the comprehensive coverage in the automobile policy regardless of
location. Exchange accrued $0 and $307 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, for
assessments from the TWIA.
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The frequency and severity of catastrophes are unpredictable and, as such, the Property and

Casualty VIEs could be materially adversely affected by one or several large catastrophes despite
the programs implemented to manage the risk of loss.

Affiliations

Affiliations are accounted for using the acquisition method of the FASB. The acquisition method
requires the reporting entity to determine the acquisition date (affiliation date), recognize and
measure the identifiable assets obtained and the liabilities assumed, and recognize and measure
goodwill from the affiliation. The results of the affiliated entity are included in the Company's
consolidated financial statements from the date of each respective affiliation. Assets obtained and
liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair values and the excess of the fair value of the affiliated

entity over the amounts assigned is recorded as goodwill.

Leases

The Company only has operating leases which include branch offices, other facilities, and
equipment that expire in various years through February 2058. Operating lease agreements may
contain tenant improvement allowance, rent holidays, rent escalation clauses, and rent abatements.
These are charged to expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease agreements
contain lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for together as a single lease
component. Additionally, the Company records variable lease expense that includes expenses such
as common area maintenance, utilities, and repairs and maintenance.

For any new or modified leases, the Company determines whether a contract is or contains a lease
at the inception of the contract. As of December 31, 2022, the Company recognizes a right-of-use
asset ("ROU") of $82,294 within other assets and a lease liability of $86,543 within other liabilities
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The ROU asset and lease liability are only
recognized for operating leases with a contractual term greater than 12 months at the time of lease
inception. The ROU asset is measured at the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for lease
payments made at or before the lease commencement date, initial direct costs, and any tenant
improvement allowances received. The lease liability represents the present value of future lease
payments over the lease term.

The Company does not record leases with an initial term of 12 months or less on the consolidated
balance sheet but continues to record rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Leases often include options to extend or terminate at the Company's sole discretion and is
included in the determination of the lease term when reasonably certain and determinable.

As the rate implicit in the Company's leases is not easily determinable, the Company's risk-free
rate is used in calculating the present value of the sum of the lease payments.

Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Leases

On January 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes
the legacy lease accounting standard under ASC 840, Leases. The most significant change with
Topic 842 is its lessee model that brings most leases, including operating leases, onto the balance
sheet. It also addresses other concerns regarding the lessee accounting model under ASC 840,
including the elimination of the required use of bright-line tpsts for determining lease
classification.

As permitted under the new FASB lease guidance, the Company elected the package of practical
expedients, which allowed it to retain prior conclusions regarding lease identification,
classification, and initial direct costs. For lease agreements with lease and non-lease components,
the Company elected the practical expedient to account for these as a single lease component for
all underlying classes of assets. Additionally, the Company did not elect to use hindsight for
existing leases. For short-term leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less and with
purchase options the Company is reasonably certain will not be exercised, the Company elected to
not record ROU assets or corresponding lease obligations on the consolidated balance sheet. The
Company will continue to record rent expense for each short-term lease on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The Company adopted the new guidance using the modified retrospective
approach. As a result, the prior period information reported under the previous lease guidance has
not been restated.

The adoption of the new FASB lease guidance was not significant to the consolidated balance
sheet or consolidated statement of operations. The impact to the consolidated balance sheet was
the recognition of ROU assets of $80,081 upon adoption, with corresponding lease liabilities of
$84,088 relating to operating leases. Existing deferred rent and tenant improvement allowances of
approximately $3,935, previously recorded within other liabilities, were recorded as an offset to
gross operating lease ROU assets. The ROU asset and related lease liabilities are included in other
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assets and other liabilities within the consolidated balance sheet. Refer to Note 10 of the

Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding leases.

2. Investments

The cost or amortized cost and fair value of investments are as follows as of December 31, 2022:

Cost or Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Fixed-income securities

Investments available-for-sale:

U.S. government obligations:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations
of U.S. government corporations
and agencies $  1,032,039 $  1,031 $  (110,521) $  922,549

Loan-backed securities of U.S. government
and federal agencies 556,135 236 (62,099) 494,272

Total U.S. government obligations 1,588,174 1,267 (172,620) 1,416,821

Debt securities issued by foreign
governments 29,114 - (5,171) 23,943

Municipal securities:
Obligations of states 309,640 1,708 (14,211) 297,137

Political subdivisions 459,236 2,147 (10,590) 450,793

Special revenue 2,249,536 9,688 (78,591) 2,180,633

Total municipal securities 3,018,412 13,543 (103,392) 2,928,563

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities 4,058,439 5,196 (521,811) 3,541,824

Residential mortgage-backed securities 284,339 423 (38,743) 246,019

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 211,665 42 (24,981) 186,726

Other debt obligations (structured
securities) 152,761 81 (9,263) 143,579

Other invested assets 1,720 - (595) 1,125

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities 4,708,924 5,742 (595,393) 4,119,273

Total fixed-income securities $  9,344,624 $  20,552 $  (876,576) $  8,488,600
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The cost or amortized cost and fair value of investments are as follows as of December 31, 2021:

Cost or Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Fixed-income securities

Investments available-for-sale:

U.S. government obligations:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations
of U.S. government corporations
and agencies $  966,301 $  19,011 $  (19,892) $  965,420

Loan-backed securities of U.S. government
and federal agencies 568,463 8,098 (5,858) 570,703

Total U.S. government obligations 1,534,764 27,109 (25,750) 1,536,123

Debt securities issued by foreign
govemments 43,282 2,269 (817) 44,734

Municipal securities:
Obligations of states 303,781 23,280 (203) 326,858

Political subdivisions 383,670 20,825 (134) 404,361

Special revenue 2,358,600 123,310 (1,901) 2,480,009

Total municipal securities 3,046,051 167,415 (2,238) 3,211,228

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities 4,096,695 187,350 (29,470) 4,254,575

Residential mortgage-backed securities 255,488 1,820 (2,499) 254,809

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 224,554 5,401 (1,721) 228,234

Other debt obligations (structured
securities) 170,233 838 (791) 170,280

Other invested assets 1,722 62 - 1,784

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities 4,748,692 195,471 (34,481) 4,909,682

Total fixed-income securities $  9,372,789 $  392,264 $  (63,286) $  9,701,767
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The cost or amortized cost and fair value of fixed-income securities for the year ended

December 31, 2022, by contractual maturity, are shown below:

Cost or

Amortized

Cost Fair Value

Investments available-for-sale

Mature in one year or less $ 327,317 $ 323,394
Mature after one year through five years 2,297,394 2,173,129
Mature after five years through ten years 2,967,835 2,702,308
Mature after ten years 2,547,178 2,219,173
Subtotal 8,139,724 7,418,004

Loan-backed securities 1,204,900 1,070,596
Total $ 9,344,624 $ 8,488,600
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Unrealized Losses

The following tables show the gross unrealized losses and fair value aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss
position as of December 31, 2022:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

Fixed-income securities

Investments available-for-sale:

U.S. government obligations:
' U.S. Treasury securities and obligations

of U.S. government agencies $  365,826 $  (41,759) $  478,295 $  (68,762) $  844,121 $  (110,521)
Loan-backed securities of U.S.

govemment and federal agencies 244,901 (17,958) 235,535 (44,141) 480,436 (62,099)

Total U.S. government obligations 610,727 (59,717) 713,830 (112,903) 1,324,557 (172,620)

Debt securities issued by foreign
governments 16,828 (2,290) 7,115 (2,881) 23,943 (5,171)

Municipal securities:
Obligations of states 208,047 (14,047) 2,178 (164) 210,225 (14,211)

Political subdivisions 244,004 (10,097) 5,884 (493) 249,888 (10,590)

Special revenue 1,356,492 (64,577) 83,684 (14,014) 1,440,176 (78,591)

Total municipal securities 1,808,543 (88,721) 91,746 (14,671) 1,900,289 (103,392)

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities 2,415,392 (321,718) 909,572 (200,093) 3,324,964 (521,811)

Residential mortgage-backed securities 83,849 (8,049) 143,126 (30,694) 226,975 (38,743)

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 125,029 (12,788) 53,554 (12,193) 178,583 (24,981)

Other debt obligations
(structured securities) 60,489 (3,202) 75,929 (6,061) 136,418 (9,263)

Other invested assets 1,125 (595) - - 1,125 (595)

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities 2,685,884 (346,352) 1,182,181 (249,041) 3,868,065 (595,393)

Total fixed-income securities $ 5,121,982 $  (497,080) $  1,994,872 $  (379,496) $ 7,116,854 $  (876,576)
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The following tables show the gross unrealized losses and fair value aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss

position as of December 31, 2021:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Value Losses Fair Valne Losses Fair Value Losses

Fixed-income securities

Investments available-for-sale:

U.S. government obligations:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations

of U.S. government agencies $ 467,099 $  (6,882) $  203,108 $  (13,010) $  670,207 $  (19,892)

Loan-backed securities of U.S.

government and federal agencies 338,707 (5,080) 33,823 (778) 372,530 (5,858)

Total U.S. government obligations 805,806 (11,962) 236,931 (13,788) 1,042,737'  (25,750)

Debt securities issued by foreign
governments 21,561 (779) 227 (38) 21,788 (817)

Municipal securities:
Obligations of states 29,931 (203) - -

29,931 (203)

Political subdivisions 28,836 (134) - - 28,836 (134)

Special revenue 241,329 (1,901) - - 241,329 (1,901)

Total municipal securities 300,096 (2,238)
- -

300,096 (2,238)

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities 1,372,631 (23,453) 77,605 (6,017) 1,450,236 (29,470)

Residential mortgage-backed securities 206,435 (2,434) 3,410 (65) 209,845 (2,499)

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 66,890 (1,166) 11,444 (555) 78,334 (1,721)

Other debt obligations
(structured securities) 118,904 (791) - - 118,904 (791)

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities 1,764,860 (27,844) 92,459 (6,637) 1,857,319 (34,481)

Total fixed-income securities $ 2,892,323 $  (42,823) $  329,617 $  (20,463) $ 3,221,940 $  (63,286)

Investments in an unrealized loss position did not meet OTTI criteria and were considered
temporarily impaired. The causes of the impairments are fluctuations in the financial markets over
time and changes in interest rates. The Company does not intend to sell the investments in fixed-
income securities, and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell these
investments before recovery of their amortized cost basis, which may be at maturity.
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Net Unrealized Investment Gains

Net unrealized investment (losses) gains on fixed-income securities classified as available-for-sale
and equity-method investments are included in the consolidated balance sheets as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI). Changes in these amounts include
reclassification adjustments to exclude from comprehensive (loss) income those items that are
included as part of net (loss) income for a period that had been part of comprehensive income in
earlier periods. Such amounts were $24,885 and $62,528 for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

Net unrealized (losses) gains oh equity securities recognized are as follows for the years-ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Net unrealized (losses) gains during the period on equity
securities $ (1,661,256) $ 1,526,191

Less: Net gains recognized on equity securities sold
during the period (42,957) (141,365)

Net unrealized (losses) gains during the period on equity
securities still held at period end $ (1,704,213) $ 1,384,826
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Realized Gains

Net realized investment (losses) gains are as follows for the years ended December 31:

2022 2021

Fixed-income securities:

Gross realized gains on sales
Gross realized losses on sales

OTTI

$ 11,319 $

(153,580)
(2,314)

76,390
(18,812)

(140)

Subtotal (144,575) 57,438

Equity securities:
Gross realized gains on sales
Gross realized losses on sales

209,752

(166,795)

200,846
(59,481)

Subtotal 42,957 141,365

Other securities:

Gross realized losses on sales (143)

Subtotal - (143)

Net realized investment (losses) gains before income
taxes $ (101,618) $ 198,660

Proceeds from sales of fixed income securities (excluding calls, maturities, paydowns,
conversions, redemptions, and spin-offs) were $2,045,456 and $2,040,879 for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Net Investment Income

Net investment income is summarized as follows for the years ended December 31:

2022 2021

Interest $  297,915 $ 289,034

Dividends 103,656 98,061

Other investment income 1,275 865

402,846 387,960

Less: investment expenses (25,052) (26,057)

Total $  377,794 $ 361,903

Equity-Method Investments

Equity-method investments are comprised of the following:

Percentage Percentage
2022 Ownership 2021 Ownership

ACLILife $ 99,052 26.30% $ 121,222 26.30%

The following is a condensed summary of the combined assets, liabilities, and equity of the
unconsolidated entity accounted for under the equity method as of December 31:

2022 2021

Assets $ 4,163,442 $ 4,024,160

Liabilities

Equity
$ 3,786,889 $ 3,563,327

376,553 460,833

$ 4,163,442 $ 4,024,160
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2. Investments (continued)

The condensed results of operations of the unconsoiidated entity accounted for under the equity

method as of December 31, are as follows:

2022 2021

Revenues

Expenses
Net income

$ 301,029 $ 303,235

276,500 280,872

$ 24,529 $ 22,363

In accordance with the equity method of accounting, the proportionate share of net income
reflected in other income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations was
$6,346 and $5,882 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Other Investments

The carrying value of the Company's cost method investments was $15,251 and $39,029 as of
December 31,2022 and 2021, respectively. No impairments were recognized on other investments
in 2022 or 2021, respectively.

Special Deposits and Restricted Investments

The Property and Casualty VlEs have investments placed on deposit with the insurance
departments of the various states in which they do business. These deposits are part of the licensing
process. The assets are reflected in the appropriate investment schedules but are restricted by the
applicable state insurance department.

The fair values of restricted fixed income securities at December 31, 2022 and 2021, were $9,407
and $10,674, respectively. The total value of restricted Federal Home Loan Bank stock at
December 31, 2022 and 2021, were $15,000 and $0, respectively.

The Company may from time to time invest in securities that may be restricted in whole or in part.
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not hold any significant positions in
investments for which its sale was restricted.
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3. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a

liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The following are the
levels of the hierarchy and a brief description of the type of valuation information (inputs) that
qualifies a financial asset for each level;

•  Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where
the specific security is traded.

•  Level 2 - Inputs other than Level 1 that are based on observable market data. These include
quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, quoted prices for identical assets in
inactive markets, inputs that are observable that are not quoted prices (such as interest rates,
credit risks, etc.), and inputs that are derived from or corroborated by observable markets.
Financial models are often used to develop these prices.

•  Level 3 - Developed from unobservable data, reflecting the Company's assumptions.

When quoted prices in active markets for identical assets are available, these quoted market prices
are used to determine the fair value of financial assets and these assets are classified as Level 1,
primarily common equity securities and U.S. Treasury securities. In other cases where a quoted
market price for identical assets in an active market is either not available or not observable, fair
value is estimated using valuation methodologies based on available and observable market
information or by using a matrix pricing model. These financial assets would be classified as
Level 2. If quoted market prices are not available, fair value is determined by using nonbinding
broker quotes or an analysis of each investment's financial statements and cash flow projections.
In these instances, financial assets will be classified based upon the lowest level of the inputs that
are most significant to the valuation. Thus, financial assets may be classified in Level 3 even
though there may be some significant inputs that may be readily available.
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3. Fair Value Measurements (eontinued)

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for financial assets measured
at fair value, including the general classification of such assets pursuant to the valuation hierarchy:

Fixed-Income Securities - Where quoted prices are available in an active market, fixed-
income securities are classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Level 1 fixed-income
securities are comprised primarily of U.S. Treasury securities. If Level 1 valuations are not
available, the fair value is determined using models such as matrix pricing, which uses quoted
market prices of fixed-income securities with similar characteristics or discounted cash flows
to estimate value based on observable market inputs. The value of U.S. government agency,
U.S. corporate securities, emerging market debt, mortgage-backed and other asset-backed
obligations, and tax-exempt municipal securities is based on these Level 2 inputs.

Equity Securities - Publicly traded securities, including common equity securities, exchange-
traded funds, and mutual funds, are classified as Level 1 because quoted prices are available
for these securities in an active market. Preferred equity securities are classified as Level 2
because fair value is determined using models that estimate fair value based on observable
market inputs such as U.S. Treasury yield curves. Hedge funds are classified as Level 2
because fair value is based upon the Company's ownership interest in the net asset value of the
partnership.
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3. Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The financial assets for the Company that are measured at fair value were as follows as of
December 31, 2022:

Fair Value Measurements at

Fixed-income securities

U.S. government obligations:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of

U.S. govemment corporations and agencies
Loan-backed securities ofU.S. govemment and

federal agencies

Total U.S. govemment obligations

Debt securities issued by foreign govemments
Municipal securities:

Obligations of states
Political subdivisions

Special revenue
Total municipal securities

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Other debt obligations (stmctured securities)
Other invested assets

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities

Total fixed-income securities

Equity securities
Common equities:

Large cap
Small cap value
Small cap growth
Small cap core
Passive index

Intemational

Total common equities

Preferred equities
Exchange traded funds
Mutual funds

Total equity securities

Total

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$  922,549 ;i  893,655 $  28,894 $

494,272 494,272

1,416,821 893,655 523,166

23,943 -
23,943

297,137 _ 297,137

450,793 - 450,793

2,180,633 - 2,180,633

2,928,563 -
2,928,563

3,541,824 3,541,824

246,019 - 246,019

186,726 - 186,726

143,579 - 143,579
1,125 - 1,125

4,119,273 - 4,119,273

8,488,600 893,655 7,594,945

55 55

61,624 61,624 -

580,906 580,906 -

1,549,628 1,549,628 -

4,254,194 4,254,194 -

413,049 413,049 -

6,859,456 6,859,456 -

2,959 _ 2,959

5,329 5,329 -

34,696 34,287 409

6,902,440 6,899,072 3,368

$  15,391,040 :5  7,792,727 $  7,598,313 $
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3. Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The financial assets for the Company that are measured at fair value were as follows as of

December 31, 2021:

Fair Value Measurements at

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed-income securities

U.S. government obligations:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of

U.S. government corporations and agencies
Loan-backed securities of U.S. government and

federal agencies

$  965,420 ;

570,703

S  932,685 $' 32,735 $

570,703

Total U.S. government obligations 1,536,123 932,685 603,438

Debt securities issued by foreign governments
Municipal securities:

Obligations of states
Political subdivisions

Special revenue

44,734

326,858
404,361

2,480,009

-

44,734

326,858
404,361

2,480,009

Total municipal securities 3,211,228
-

3,211,228

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Other debt obligations (structured securities)
Other invested assets

4,254,575
254,809
228,234

170,280
1,784

-

4,254,575

254,809

228,234

170,280
1,784

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities 4,909,682 - 4,909,682

Total fixed-income securities 9,701,767 932,685 8,769,082

Equity securities
Common equities:

Large cap
Small cap value
Small cap growth
Passive index

International

63

1,972,808
778,860

5,372,527
502,064

63

1,972,808
778,860

5,372,527
502,064

-

Total common equities .8,626,322 8,626,322
-

Preferred equities
Mutual funds

3,552

47,089 7,089

3,552

40,000

Total equity securities 8,676,963 8,633,411 43,552

Total $  18,378,730 ;5  9,566,096 $  8,812,634 $
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4. Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Property and Casualty VIEs

Activity in the liability for unpaid losses and LAE is summarized as follows:

2022 2021

Reserves for losses and LAE, gross of reinsurance,
at beginning of year
Less: reinsurance recoverables

$ 2,106,740
(8,156)

$  1,842,894
(6,253)

Net reserves for losses and LAE at beginning of year 2,098,584 1,836,641

Incurred related to:

Current year

Prior years
4,076,687

87,131

3,438,781

(25,348)

Total incurred 4,163,818 3,413,433

Paid related to:

Current year
Prior years

2,499,644
1,231,523

2,171,760

979,730

Total paid 3,731,167 3,151,490

Net reserves for losses and LAE at end of year
Plus reinsurance recoverables

2,531,235

10,544

2,098,584

8,156

Reserves for losses and LAE, gross of reinsurance,
at end of year $ 2,541,779 $ 2,106,740

The incurred losses and LAE for prior accident years increased by $87,131 and decreased by
$25,348 in 2022 and 2021, respectively. Increases or decreases of this nature result from claims
settlements during the year at an amount greater than or less than expected as additional
information is received regarding unpaid individual claims. During 2022, Property and Casualty
VIEs had an adverse development of $87,131 on prior accident years primarily due to higher
California trends in the auto bodily injury, collision, and property damage coverages, delayed
reporting of claims, and increased claim severity. During 2021, Property and Casualty VIEs had
favorable development of $25,348 on prior accident years primarily due to subrogation and salvage
recoveries in automobile and homeowner lines.
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4. Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (continued)

The following is information as of December 31, 2022, about the development of incurred and
paid claims, net of recoverables, as well as cumulative claim frequency and the total of incurred-
but-not-reported liabilities plus expected development on reported claims included within the net
incurred claims amounts for Property and Casualty VIEs' major product lines. Recoverables
include reinsurance and salvage and subrogation. Property and Casualty VIEs' three major product
lines are automobile private passenger liability and medical, automobile physical damage, and
homeowners. The cumulative number of reported claims represents open claims, claims closed
with payment, and claims closed without payment. It does not include an estimated amount for
unreported claims. The number of claims is measured by claimant (an individual claim event,
e.g., car accident, may result in more than one reported claim). The Property and Casualty VIEs
consider a claim that does not result in a liability as a claim closed without payment.

Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Recoverables
Automobile Insurance - Private Passenger Liability/Medical

(Dollars in Thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

Accident

Year 2013<'> 2014<'^ 2015"> 2016<'> 2017<'^ 2018^" 201 2020<') 2021^'>

As of December 31, 2022

Incurred But
Not Reported
Liabilities Plus

Expected Cumulative
Development Number of
on Reported Reported

2022 Claims Claims

2013 $835,843 $ 820,407 $ 822,798 $ 830,997 $ 833,719 $ 834,740 $ 835,197 $ 835,274 $ 836,098 $ 836,386 $  (33) 202,074

2014 865,247 871,329 878,552 883,928 890,332 894,161 894,765 897,753 898,023 (42) 209,009

2015 912,154 963,055 966,106 979,979 988,368 991,997 994,154 998,057 797 216,676

2016 1,037,398 1,041,047 1,060,470 1,074,482 1,075,919 1,077,656 1,081,656 3,220 221,637

2017 1,120,244 1,165,991 1,190,777 1,190,872 1,197,842 1,204,806 6,562 233,580

2018 1,278,347 1,308,993 1,307,877 1,314,983 1,316,860 16,842 248,039

2019 1,405,132 1,432,958 1,444,988 1,450,661 47,463 250,527

2020 1,162,072 1,107,027 1,101,647 86,928 164,809

2021 1,432,847 1,480,785 225,924 197,226

2022 1,765,417 615,689 180,544

Total $12,134,298

The infonnation for the years 2013 to 2021 is presented as unaudited supplemental information.
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4. Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (continued)

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Recoverables Automobile Insurance - Private Passenger Liability/Medical
(Dollars in Thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

Accident

Year 2013b) 2014<b 2015") 2016") 2017") 2018") 2019") 2020") 2021") 2022

2013 $ 353,378 $ 608,897 $ 731,404 $ 790,945 S 818,188 S 827,206 $ 832,551 $ 834,070 $ 835,624 $ 836,025

2014 364,292 654,108 786,927 843,300 873,936 887,256 892,287 896,061 896,930

2015 382,515 712,564 847,963 926,261 962,762 978,666 985,419 993,721

2016 415,504 755,041 929,127 1,013,721 1,049,735 1,064,479 1,072,525

2017 442,385 837,240 1,032,932 1,114,321 1,158,130 1,183,710

2018 481,012 917,659 1,126,830 1,220,354 1,271,362

2019 505,193 999,461 1,227,773 1,341,405

2020 375,804 757,704 930,855

2021 444,048 999,865

2022

Total

527,026

$10,053,424

The information for the years 2013 to 2021 is presented as unaudited supplemental information.

Automobile

Insurancc-

Liability

Incuned losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses, net of recoverables $ 12,134,298
Cumulative paid losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses, net of recoverables (10,053,424)

All outstanding liabilities before 2013, net ofrecoverables 1,000
Loss and allocated loss adjustment expense reserves, net of recoverables $ 2,081,874

Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Recoverables Automobile Insurance - Physical Damage
(Dollars in Thousands)

As of December 31,2022

For the Years Ended December 31,

Accident Year 2021<b 2022

Total of Incurred But

Not Reported

Liabilities Plus

Expected Development
on Reported Claims

Cumulative Number of

Reported Claims

2021

2022

984,383 $ 993,339
1,243,610

(12,572)
(137,165)

482,301

517,697

Total $ 2,236,949

Tlie infonnation for 2021 is presented as unaudited supplemental Infonnation
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4. Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (continued)

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net ofRecovcrablcs Automobile Insurance - Physical Damage
(Dollars in Thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,2022

Accident Year 202P'^ 2022

2021

2022

962,760

Total

1,004,660

1,209,210

$  2,213,870

The infonnation for 2021 is presented as unaudited supplemental Infonnation

Automobile

Insurance-Physical
Damage

Incuired losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses, net of recoverables $ 2,236,949
Cumulative paid losses and allocated loss adjustinent expenses, net of recoverables (2,213,870)

All outstanding liabilities before 2021, net of recoverables (6,152)
Loss and allocated loss adjustment expense reserves, net of recoverables _$ 16,927

Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Recoverables Homeowners' Insurance
(Dollars in Thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

Accident

As of December 31,2022

Incurred But Not

Reported
Liabilities Pius Cumulative

-  Expected Number of
Development on Reported

Year 20I3<'> 2014<" 2015"> 201 2017<'> 2018<'> 2019"> 2020''> 2021<'> 2022 Reported Claims Claims

2013 $391,799 $ 378,603 $ 375,984 $ 376,011 $ 376,376 $ 375,764 $ 375,098 $ 375,203 $ 375,304 $ 375,311 $ 71,414
2014 425,140 406,864 404,699 404,307 404,926 404,891 404,978 405,200 405,195 - 77,990
2015 402,943 390,532 389,529 394,819 397,392 397,708 397,409 397,382 - 70,433
2016 473,880 469,838 471,079 470,588 471,052 470,113 470,207 - 81,216
2017 572,739 549,620 549,659 500,639 502,065 502,267 (3,816) 87,756
2018 437,728 448,360 427,583 426,947 428,362 514 70,819

2019 460,406 451,879 447,517 450,226 2,058 78,526
2020 468,539 463,737 464,922 4,884 71,102
2021 588,389 590,689 16,666 77,823
2022

Total

601,716

$4,686,277

94,762 62,459

^'^The infonnation for the years 2013 to 2021 is presented as unaudited supplemental information
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4. Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (eontinued)

Cumulntivc Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Recoverables (Homeowners' Insurance)
(Dollars in Thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

Accident

Year 2013<') 2014"' 2015"' 2016"' 2017"' 2018"' 2019"' 2020"' 2021"' 2022

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

$ 286,054 $ 358,871

326,324

369,033

388,473
304,535

$  371,900 $ 374,268 $ 374,826 $
397,975

371,771

376,254

400,801

381,797

447,624
387,758

403,425

390,535

459,663
492,496

327,889

375,119

404,241

395,154

466,145

519,634
412,259
350,661

375,206

404,421

396,781
467,751
489,557

423,823
424,297

342,979

375,343

404,676
397,024
468,457
494,625
420,787
436,521

438,283

451,143

375,350

405,179
397,052
469,277
501,155
426,396
442,087
453,891
559,763

433,750

Total $ 4,463,900

"'The infonnation for the years 2013 to 2021 is presented as unaudited supplemental information

Home

Insurance

Incurred losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses, net of recoverables $ 4,686,277
Cumulative paid losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses, net of recoverables (4,463,900)

All outstanding liabilities before 2013, net of recoverables 1,177
Loss and allocated loss adjustment expense reseiTes, net of recoverables $ 223,554

The following is unaudited supplementary information about average historical claims duration as
of December 31, 2022.

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance

Year 10

Automobile Insurance

Private Passenger Liability/Medical 36.2% 33.3% 15.3% 7.3% 3.5% 1.5% 0.7% 0.5% 0.1% 0.0%

Physical Damage 97.1% 4.2% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Homeowner Insurance 76.7% 18.1% 3.0% -0.1% 0.9% 0.4% 0.1% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0%
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4. Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (continued)

The reconciliation of the net incurred and paid claims development tables to the liability for claims

and claim adjustment expenses (net of reinsurance recoverables and salvage and subrogation) in
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022, is as follows:

Net outstanding liabilities (recoverables):
Automobile insurance - private passenger liability/medical $ 2,081,874
Automobile insurance - physical damage 16,927
Homeowners' insurance 223,554
Other short-duration insurance lines 29,628

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, net of reinsurance 2,351,983

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid claims:
Automobile insurance - private passenger liability/medical 8,580
Automobile insurance - physical damage 363
Homeowners' insurance 1,601

Total reinsurance recoverable on unpaid claims 10,544

Unallocated claims adjustment expenses 179,252
Total gross loss and loss adjustment expense reserves $ 2,541,779

Life Insurance VIE

Policy reserves at December 31, consisted of the following:

2022 2021

Annuities $ 510,110 $ 518,353
Universal life 231,598 206,260

Whole life and term 586,580 506,016
Group life 98,178 92,850
Deposit type contracts 2,208 2,208
Accident and health 21,245 18,339

Pending policyholder claims 48,177 51,232
Total $ 1,498,096 $ 1,395,258
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5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is goodwill that resulted from the prior

acquisitions of PH and HW; the acquisition of the rights to operate American Automobile
Association (AAA) motor clubs in the states of Texas, New Mexico, Hawaii, Mississippi, and
Louisiana; and the Club's affiliation with NNE, EC and Tidewater. The goodwill balance is
$182,742 as of both December 31, 2022 and 2021. The results of the Company's qualitative
assessment confirmed that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of any reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount, and no goodwill impairment losses were recognized in 2022 or 2021.

Management considers trade names and some operating agreements to have an indefinite life;
therefore, trade names and some operating agreements are not being amortized but are reviewed
annually for impairment. The remaining operating agreements have been fully amortized. The
intangible assets for customer relationships and territory rights are amortized on a straight-line
basis over five and ten years, respectively. For finite-lived intangible assets, the weighted average
amortization period was 7.5 years as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The results of the Company's qualitative assessment confirmed that it is not more likely than not
that the fair value of the intangible assets is less than the carrying amount, and no intangible asset
impairment losses were recognized in 2022 and 2021.

Intangible assets, net as of December 31, are as follows:

2022 2021

Trade names $  30,890 $ 30,890

Customer relationships 16,208 16,208

Operating agreement - definite life 6,457 6,457

Operating agreement - indefinite life 750 750

Territory rights 16,500 16,500

Accumulated amortization (29,889) (27,925)

Intangible assets, net $  40,916 $ 42,880

Aggregated amortization expense for intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, was $1,964 and $1,964, respeetively.
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5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets (continued)

The future estimated aggregated amortization expense of amortizing intangible assets as of

December 31, 2022, is as follows:

2023 $ 1,964
2024 1,964

2025 1,710
2026 1,650
2027 1,650

Thereafter 338

Total $ 9,276

6. Related Parties

Exchange and MO Exchange reimburse Management Services and ACMO, respectively, for
salaries, other employee-related costs, and common selling and administrative costs through their
respective management service fees. Additionally, a portion of certain employee benefit costs is
allocated to Exchange and MO Exchange. See Note 7 for further discussion of employee benefits.
During 2022 and 2021, Management Services received a management service fee in the amount
of $799,689 and $743,346, respectively, from Exchange. During 2022 and 2021, ACMO received
a management service fee in the amount of $4,106 and $4,000, respectively, from MO Exchange.
The management service fees, which consist primarily of reimbursable expenses, were eliminated
in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The Club has agency agreements with AAA Life to sell life insurance policies. Commissions
related to these life insurance policies that were recognized in the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, were $60,027 and $57,708, respectively. Commissions to be received in future years
that were recognized as revenue in the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, were $8,981 and
$18,824, respectively. Life insurance agency commissions are included in membership services
revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits

Pension

ACSC sponsors a qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (Club Pension Plan)
covering certain employees of the ACSC Club (excluding EC) and ACMO. The benefits of the
Club Pension Plan are generally based on the employee's credited years of service, eligible
earnings, and, for certain employees hired before January!, 2011, primary Social Security
benefits.

Pension Augmentation

ACSC and ACMO also each sponsor nonqualified supplemental noncontributory defined benefit
retirement plans covering certain eligible key employees. The benefits of such plans are generally
based on the employee's credited years of service, average earnings, primary Social Security
benefits (for certain employees hired before January 1, 2011 under the plan sponsored by ACSC)
and Average Social Security Wage Base (for the plan sponsored by ACMO), and the Club Pension
Plan's benefits. These plans are maintained for the purpose of restoring retirement benefits that are
precluded from the applicable qualified pension plan due to benefit limitations imposed by the IRS
and/or underlying pension plan. Additionally, EC sponsors a nonqualified supplemental
noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan that consists of individual contractual agreements
based on terms agreed to with the individual at the time the agreement was signed. Collectively,
these plans are referred to as the Augmentation Plans.

Postretirement Benefits

In addition to providing retirement benefits, ACSC Club (excluding NNE, AMA, EC, and
Tidewater) provides certain life insurance and health care benefits to eligible retired employees
and their dependents (the Postretirement Plans). Eligible ACSC Club (excluding NNE, AMA, EC,
and Tidewater) employees hired before January 1, 2002, become eligible for these benefits when
they retire, subject to certain conditions. No such benefits are provided to ACSC Club (excluding
NNE, AMA, EC, and Tidewater) employees hired on or after January 1, 2002. Certain of the
postretirement health care benefits provided by ACSC Club are paid by the Club Retiree Medical
and Dental Plan Trust (the Retiree VEBA Trust), which is established pursuant to Seetion
501(c)(9) of the Code.
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (eontinued)

The Postretirement Plan provides most Medieare-eligible retirees with individual coverage offered
through a private retiree exchange. The Postretirement Plan subsidizes retiree medical coverage
by establishing a Health Reimbursement Arrangement for Medicare-eligible retirees.

ACMO provides certain health care benefits to eligible retirees and their dependents. ACMO
employees hired before January I, 2011, become eligible for these benefits when they retire,
subject to certain conditions. Retired employees electing these benefits are required to pay 100%
of the premiums and costs for coverage under the plan.

EC and Tidewater provide certain health care and life insurance benefits to eligible former/retired
employees and their spouses and dependents which are unfunded.

Postemployment Benefits

A variety of postemployment benefits are provided to inactive employees of ACSC Club
(excluding EC) and ACMO Club. These benefits may include short-term disability income, long-
term disability income, medical and life insurance continuation for temporarily disabled
employees, medical and life insurance continuation for permanently disabled employees, and
workers' compensation benefits.

The postemployment benefit obligation for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
was $240. There was no net periodic benefit cost for each of the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021.
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The following table sets forth information regarding the Club Pension Plan, the Augmentation
Plans, and Postretirement Plans as of and for the years ended December 31

Pension

Pension Augmentation Postretirement Other Plans Total

2022

Projected benefit obligation $  2,288,816 $  168,626 $  86,485 $ 13,470 $;  2,557,397

Fair value of plan assets 2,268,878 - 52,065 - 2,320,943

Funded status $  (19,938) $  (168,626) $  (34,420) $ (13,470) J;  (236,454)

Aecumulated benefit

obligation $  2,168,959 $  160,656 $  86,485 $ 13,470 J;  2,429,570
Employer contributions - 10,244 105 1,908 12,257

Participant contributions - - 1,660 - 1,660

Benefits paid (93,570) (10,244) (5,030) (1,908) (110,752)

2021

Projected benefit obligation $  3,255,533 $  218,250 $  117,868 $ 17,405 $;  3,609,056

Fair value of plan assets 2,849,235 - 60,258 - 2,909,493

Funded status $  (406,298) $  (218,250) $  (57,610) $ (17,405) $i  (699,563)

Accumulated benefit

obligation $  3,032,971 $  202,596 $  117,868 $ 17,405 $;  3,370,840
Employer contributions - 10,120 43 1,412 11,575
Participant contributions - - 1,751 - 1,751

Benefits paid (85,793) (10,120) (4,540) (1,412) (101,865)

Contributions for these plans for the 2022 plan year can be made through the third quarter of 2023.
The Company has not yet determined the final contributions for the 2022 plan year.
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The pretax amounts recognized in other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31,
consist of the following:

Pension

Pension Augmentation Postretirement Other Plans Total
2022

Amounts arising during the year:
Net recognized loss (gain) $ (375,135) $ (47,605) $ (23,253) $ (1,067) $ (447,060)
Prior service cost _ _ _ _ _

Amortization of:

Prior service credit - 11 10,749 - 10,760

Net recognized loss (56,055) (9,227) (11) (135) (65,428)
Net pretax amount recognized $ (431,190) $ (56,821) _$ (12,515) _$ (1,202) $ (501,728)

2021

Amounts arising during the year:
Net recognized loss (gain) $ (306,669) $ 689 $ (5,794) $ (204) $ (311,978)
Prior service cost - - - - -

Amortization of:

Prior service credit 141 11 10,788 - 10,940

Net recognized loss (83,644) (10,537) (296) (132) (94,609)
Net pretax amount recognized $ (390,172) $ (9,837) $ 4,698 $ (336) $ (395,647)
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (continued)

The amounts included in AOCI that have not yet been recognized as components of net periodic
benefit cost as of December 31, consist of the following:

Pension

Pension Total

2022

Prior service credit

Accumulated loss

$

(57,949)

$  25

(32,663)

$  6,452
15,030

$  - $

(1,209)

;  6,477

(76,791)

Total $  (57,949) $  (32,638) $  21,482 $  (1,209) $;  (70,314)

2021

Prior sei-vice credit

Accumulated loss

$

(489,139)

$  36

(89,496)

$  17,201

(8,234)
$  - $

(2,410)

17,237

(589,279)

Total $  (489,139) $  (89,460) $  8,967 $  (2,410) $ (572,042)

The amounts recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, are
as follows:

Pension

Pension

Augmentation Postretirement Other Plans

Post-

employment Total

2022

Assets $

Liabilities (19,939)

$

(168,622)
$

(34,420)
$

(13,470)
$  - $

(240) (236,691)

Total $ (19,939) $  (168,622) $  (34,420) $  (13,470) $  (240) $ (236,691)

2021

Assets $

Liabilities (406,298)
$

(218,250)
$

(57,610)
$

(17,405)
$  - $

(240) (699,803)

Total $ (406,298) $  (218,250) $  (57,610) $  (17,405) $  (240) $ (699,803)
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The components of aggregate annual net periodic benefit costs, which are included in salaries and

benefits expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of income at December 31, are as
follows:

Pension

Pension Augmentation Postretirement Other Plans Total

2022

Service cost $  72,717 $  1,479 $ 767 $  - $ 74,963

Interest cost 98,441 6,745 3,447 207 108,840

Expected return on plan assets (182,383) - (2,351) - (184,734)
Amortization of:

Prior service credit - (11) (10,749) - (10,760)
Recognized loss 56,055 9,227 11 135 65,428

Net periodic pension cost
(benefit) $  $44,830 $  $17,440 $ (8,875) $  342 $ 53,737

2021

Service cost S  77,901 $  1,439 $ 923 $  - $ 80,263

Interest cost 92,296 6,348 3,296 212 102,152

Expected return on plan assets (167,392) - (2,399) - (169,791)
Amortization of:

Prior service credit (141) (11) (10,788) - (10,940)
Recognized loss 83,646 10,537 296 132 94,611

Net periodic pension cost
(benefit) S  86,310 $  18,313 $ (8,672) $  344 $ 96,295

The Company expects the following future benefit payments for the years presented:
V

Pension

Pension Augmentation Postretirement Other Plans Total

2023 $  100,413 $  10,725 $ 5,675 $  582 $ 117,395

2024 106,190 10,684 5,753 570 123,197

2025 112,056 10,657 5,768 556 129,037

2026 117,977 12,251 5,815 540 136,583

2027 123,625 12,322 5,914 522 142,383

2028 through 2032 770,107 63,179 29,992 2,293 865,571

Total $  1,330,368 $  119,818 $ 58,917 $  5,063 $ ■  1,514,166
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (continued)

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of December 31, are:

Pension

Pension Other Plans

2022

Discount rate 5.50% 5.50% 5.50%-5.55% 5.50%

Pensions-in-payment increase N/A N/A-2.00 N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 4.30 N/A-4.30 N/A-Varies by age N/A

2021

Discount rate 3.04% 3.04% 2.67%-3.04% 3.04%

Pensions-in-payment increase N/A N/A-2.00 N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 4.30 N/A-4.30 N/A-Varies by age N/A-Varies by age

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine the net period benefit eosts as of Deeember
are;

Pension

Pension Augmentation Postretirement Other Plans

2022

Discount rate 3.04% 3.04% 3.04% N/A-3.04%

Expected return on plan assets 7.50 N/A N/A-4.00 N/A

Rate of compensation increase 4.30 N/A-4.30 N/A-Varies by age N/A

2021

Discount rate 2.86% 2.86% 2.15%-2.86% N/A-2.86%

Expected return on plan assets 7.50 N/A N/A-4.001 N/A

Rate of compensation increase 4.30 N/A-4.30 N/A-Varies by age N/A
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (continued)

Reasons for significant gains affecting the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2022, are:

Pension - Gains were primarily due to the discount rate increase from 3.04% to 5.50%.

Pension Augmentation - Gains were primarily due to an increase in discount rate, offset
by losses in experience.

•  Postretirement - Gains were primarily due to an increase in discount rate.

Other Plans - Gains were primarily due to an increase in discount rate, offset by loss for
survival.

Reasons for significant gains and losses affecting the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2021,
are;

•  Pension - Gains were primarily due to the discount rate increase from 2.86% to 3.04%.

Pension Augmentation - Losses were primarily due to salary increases and survival, offset
by gains from an increase in discount rate.

Postretirement - Gains were primarily due to an increase in discount rate and updated
retirees premiums and contributions.

Other Plans - Gains were primarily due to death of a participant.

Pension

The expected return on pension plan assets is based on the range of historical portfolio returns. In
2022 and 2021, the rate of 7.5% was selected to reflect the future expected returns based on the
Company's best estimate.

The net periodic pension cost is comprised of several components that reflect different aspects of
the entities' financial arrangements as well as the costs of benefits earned by employees. These
components are determined using the projected-unit-credit-actuarial-cost method.
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (continued)

The asset allocation at December 31, 2022 and 2021, for the Postretirement Plans is 100% fixed-

income securities and money market funds. The asset allocations at December 31, for the Club
Pension Plan are as follows:

2022 2021

Equities
Fixed-income, including cash, and other investments
Real estate

Total

75% . 74%

20 23

5 3

100% 100%

The Club Pension and Postretirement Plans' general classification of its assets carried at fair value,
pursuant to the fair value hierarchy (discussed in Note 3), includes fixed-income securities of U.S.
Treasury securities, equity securities of publicly traded common equities, interest-bearing cash
deposits, interests in registered investment companies, and money market funds, which are
classified as Level 1 inputs as quoted prices are available for these securities in an active market.
If Level 1 valuations are not available, the fair value is determined using models such as matrix
pricing, which uses quoted market prices of fixed-income securities with similar characteristics of
discounted cash flows to estimate value based on observable market inputs. The value of fixed-
income securities (excluding U.S. Treasury securities), debt securities issued by foreign
governments, tax-exempt municipal securities, real estate funds, U.S. corporate securities,
mortgage-backed, other asset-backed obligations, and common/collective trust funds is based on
Level 2 inputs.
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (continued)

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the financial assets for the

pension and postretirement plans carried at fair value as of December 31, 2022:
&

Total Level 1
■  " s_

Level 2 Level 3

Fixed-income seeurities

U.S. government obligations:
U.S. treasury securities and obligations of

U.S. government agencies $  60,548 $  59,957 ;$  591 $
Loan-backed securities ofU.S. government

and federal agencies 18,269 - 18,269

Total U.S. government obligations 78,817 59,957 18,860

Debt securities issued by foreign governments 1,921 — 1,921
Municipal securities:

Obligations of states 2,077 - 2,077
Political subdivisions 338 - 338

Special revenue 49,459 - 49,459

Total municipal securities 51,874
-

51,874

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities 336,805 - 336,805
Residential mortgage-backed securities 3,484 - 3,484
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 7,803 - 7,803
Other debt obligations (structured securities) 9,988 - 9,988

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities 358,080 - 358,080

Total fixed-income securities 490,692 59,957 430,735

Equity securities
Common equities:

Small cap value 99,126 99,126 -

Small cap core 451,301 451,301 -

Small cap growth 222,383 222,383 -

Common/collective trust funds 790,238 - 790,238
Interest in registered investment companies - 110,517 110,517 -  -

Total equity securities 1,673,565 883,327 790,238

Other investments (real estate fund) 104,910 _ 104,910
Other short-term investments

(money market funds) 46,444 46,444 -  -

Total $  2,315,611 $  989,728 J5  1,325,883 S

Note: Accrued interest, net of payabies, of $5,332 is not included in the above table.
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The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the financial assets for the
pension and postretirement plans carried at fair value as of December 31, 2021:

Total Level 1

■  "

Level 2 Level 3

Fixcd-incomc securities

U.S. government obligations:
U.S. treasury securities and obligations of

U.S. government agencies $  98,646 $  97,150 ;5  1,496 $
Loan-backed securities ofU.S. government

and federal agencies 31,512 - 31,512

Total U.S. government obligations 130,158 97,150 33,008

Debt securities issued by foreign governments 3,722 _ 3,722
Municipal securities:

Obligations of states 2,127 - 2,127
Political subdivisions 936 - 936

Special revenue 58,922 - 58,922

Total municipal securities 61,985
-

61,985

Industrial and miscellaneous securities:

Corporate debt securities 443,910 - 443,910
Residential mortgage-backed securities 6,081 - 6,081

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 13,666 - 13,666
Other debt obligations (structured securities) 12,291 - 12,291

Total industrial and miscellaneous securities 475,948 - 475,948

Total fixed-income securities 671,813 97,150 574,663

Equity securities
Common equities:

Small cap value 569,132 569,132 -

Small cap growth 302,936 302,936 -

Common/collective trust funds 1,086,708 - 1,086,708
Interest in registered investment companies 129,760 129,760 -

Total equity securities 2,088,536 1,001,828 1,086,708

Other investments (real estate fund) 99,114 _ 99,114

Other short-term investments

(money market ilmds) 42,940 42,940 -

Total $  2,902,403 $  1,141,918 3)  1,760,485 $

Note: Accrued interest, net of payables, of $7,090 is not included in the above table.
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (continued)

The pension and postretirement plans' assets are managed by external managers. The investment
strategy is to maximize return on investments, including income and investment appreciation,
while preserving capital over a long-term horizon. For the Club Pension Plan, the Company
believes that the best way to accomplish this goal is a strategy that invests in high-quality, well-
diversified equity securities, fixed-income securities, and real estate securities. The asset allocation
guidelines for the Club Pension Plan are as follows:

Allocation

Range

Equity funds 50% to 80%
Fixed income 15% to 45%

Real estate 0% to 5%

For the Postretirement Plans, the Company's asset allocation guideline is to invest in 100% fixed-
income securities and money market funds.

Specific guidelines are established and monitored for each manager of the pension and
postretirement plans' separate accounts (commingled funds, mutual funds, and limited liability
companies and other funds set their own guidelines). Leverage is not permitted in separate
accounts, but may be allowed in funds, particularly real estate funds.

Postretirement Benefits

ACSC Club (excluding NNE, AMA, EC, and Tidewater) and ACMO accrue the postretirement
benefit cost, which is primarily for health care, during the employee's active working career. The
benefit obligation is determined by application of the terms of medical, dental, and life insurance
plans, including the effects of established employee contributions together with relevant actuarial
assumptions and health care cost trend rates projected at annual rates. The initial estimated health
care trend rate assumption was 7.50% at December 31, 2022, grading down by approximately
0.28% per year to an ultimate rate of 5.00% in 2031 for both ACSC Club and ACMO. EC's initial
estimated health care trend rate assumption was 7.50% at December 31, 2022, grading down by
approximately 0.30% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50% in 2032.
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It is the practice of ACSC Club (excluding NNE, AMA, EC, and Tidewater) to contribute amounts

for postretirement benefits into the Retiree VEBA Trust from time to time. The Retiree VEBA
Trust's assets currently include short-term money market funds and high-grade fixed-income
securities.

The Retiree VEBA Trust's asset allocations at December 31, are as follows: .

2022 2021

Fixed income

Short-term money market funds
Total

97% 97%

3 3

100% 100%

The Retiree VEBA Trust's assets are primarily managed by an external manager. The investment
strategy is to maximize return on investments while preserving capital over a long-term horizon.
ACSC Club (excluding NNE, AMA, EC, and Tidewater) believes that the best way to accomplish
this goal is a strategy that invests in high-quality, well-diversified fixed-income securities.

EC accrues the postretirement benefit cost, which is primarily for certain health care and life
insurance benefits to eligible retired employees. EC's and ACMO's postretirement benefit plans
are unfunded.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, NNE, AMA, and Tidewater do not have postretirement plans.

Savings Plans

ACSC sponsors a qualified defined contribution retirement plan (the Savings Plan) covering
certain employees of the ACSC Club (excluding EC), ACMO, PH, and HW.

The Savings Plan provides nondiscretionary matching contributions (excluding employees of PH
and its subsidiaries and Tidewater) of 100% up to a maximum of 4% of eligible compensation to
both "grandfathered participants" and "non-grandfathered participants." In 2022 and 2021,
eligible employees of PH and its subsidiaries are only eligible for discretionary matching
contributions. Eligible employees of Tidewater are eligible for nondiscretionary matching
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7. Postemployment and Retirement Benefits (continued)

contributions of 50% up to a maximum of 6% of eligible compensation. Additional discretionary

matching contributions may also be made with applicable club's approval. Effective on April 1,
2022 and 2021, an additional discretionary matching contribution of up to 1% was approved for
the following twelve-month period for ACSC Club, ACMO, PH and HW.

The Savings Plan for EC provides for nondiscretionary matching contributions of 100% up to a
maximum of 6% of eligible compensation. An additional discretionary matching contribution of
up to 1% of eligible compensation was also made under the EC Savings Plan, effective January 1 for
the 2022 and 2021 plan years. In addition, a one-time contribution of 1.5% of eligible compensation was
also made under the EC Savings Plan, effective January 1 for the 2021 plan year and for the period
from January 1, 2022 to June 30,2022. Effective July 1, 2022, the 1.5% contribution was replaced
by a service-based nonelective contribution of between 2.5% and 6% of eligible compensation
depending on years of service.

In 2022 and 2021, total amounts contributed to all Savings Plans were $28,386 and $26,547,
respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plans

ACSC sponsors a nonqualified Executive Deferred Compensation & Bonus Deferral Plan (the
Plan) wherein eligible key employees of ACSC and other participating employers may elect to
defer a portion of their base salary and incentive compensation and subject to certain conditions,
receive certain matching contributions on eligible deferrals, as well as interest on such deferrals
and matching contributions. ACSC also maintains a Long-Term Incentive and Deferral Plan
(together with the Plan, the Deferred Plans) wherein eligible key employees of ACSC and other
participating employers may elect to defer a portion of their long-term incentive compensation and
receive interest on such deferrals.

ACMO also maintains a nonqualified deferred compensation plan (ACMO Deferred Plan) for
which certain key employees of ACMO are eligible to defer a portion of their base salary and
incentive compensation and may receive credited earnings. No new participants are allowed for
plan years after 2011, and deferrals under this plan in 2012 and thereafter are limited to certain
participants.
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EC maintains nonqualified deferred compensation plans (EC Plans) for which certain current and
former key employees of EC are eligible to defer a portion of their eligible earnings and, subject
to certain conditions and limits, may receive employer contribution credits and credited earnings
or interest. PH maintained a nonqualified deferred compensation plan (PH Plan) through the end
of December 31, 2021 wherein eligible key employees had an ability to elect to defer a portion of
their base salary and incentive compensation and receive a crediting rate on such deferrals.

The Deferred Plans, ACMO Deferred Plan, EC Plans, and PH Plan are unfunded and unsecured

plans in which obligations are paid to participants out of the respective employer's assets.

Other Plans

The Company also has several individual nonqualified noncontributory retirement contracts that
cover certain current and former employees.

8. Deferred Acquisition Costs

The Club

Capitalized membership acquisition costs and related amortization are as follows for the years
ended December 31:

2022 2021

DAC, January 1
Costs capitalized
Amortization

DAC, December 31

$  22,655 $ 23,172

9,463 9,030

(9,368) (9,547)

$  22,750 $ 22,655

The amortization of DAC is included in salaries and benefits in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
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Property and Casualty VIEs

Capitalized policyholder acquisition costs and related amortization are as follows for the years
ended December 31:

2022 2021

DAC, January 1 $  93,700 $ 87,482
Costs capitalized 239,315 204,272
Amortization (220,614) (198,054)

DAC, December 31 $  112,401 $ 93,700

The amortization of DAC is included in other underwriting expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Life Insurance VIE

Activity in DAC for the years ended December 31, is as follows:

2022 2021

DAC, January! $ 509,150 $ 447,361
Costs capitalized 93,738 95,813
Interest on balance 22,557 20,835
Amortization (3,665) (54,859)

DAC, December 31 $ 621,780 $ 509,150

The amortization of DAC is included in other underwriting expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.
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9. Federal Home Loan Bank Borrowings

The Company became a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank System of San Francisco
("FHLB") in 2022 and is required to maintain a minimum level of investment in FHLB stock. The
Company's investment in FHLB capital stock is carried at par value ($100 per share) and is
reported in other investments. The total value ofFHLB stock is $15,000 as ofDecember 31, 2022.

The Company has the ability to borrow up to 10% of total assets for terms up to 84 months. As of
December 31, 2022, the estimated borrowing capacity with the FHLB was $1,000,000, of which
the Company was eligible to borrow $6,000 based on the value of collateral pledged as of the
reporting date. There were no borrowed funds as of December 31, 2022. The fair value and
carrying value of collateral pledged to FHLB is $6,859 and $8,124, respectively, as of
December 31, 2022.

10. Leases

The Company leases certain branch offices, other facilities, and equipment throughout the United
States.

Future minimum operating lease commitments are as follows:

Operating
Leases

2023 $ 22,134
2024 19,860

2025 16,677

2026 12,588

2027 8,022

Thereafter 11,874

Total lease payments 91,155
Less imputed interest (4,612)
Total minimum lease payments $ 86,543

Total operating lease costs was $17,878, net of sublease income of $4,779, for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
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10. Leases (continued)

Other lease information is as follows:

2022

Cash paid related to operating lease liabilities $ 22,390
Assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations 21,691
Weighted-average remaining operating lease term 5.40 years
Weighted-average operating lease discount rate 1.73%

Previous Lease Guidance Disclosure

Future minimum operating lease commitments are as follows:

Operating
Leases

2022 $ 21,591
2023 17,691

2024 15,438

2025 12,424

2026 9,976

Thereafter 10,533

Total minimum lease payments $ 87,653

The Company had $25,315 in rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2021. Rental income
recognized in 2021 was $7,265.
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11. Reinsurance

Property and Casualty VIEs

The effect of reinsurance on premiums and losses and LAE as of and for the years ended
December 31, is as follows:

2022 2021

Premiums written:

Direct $  5,077,221 $ 4,662,813
Assumed 58 21,696
Ceded (96,931) (80,094)

Premiums written, net $  4,980,348 $ 4,604,415

Premiums earned:

Direct $  4,834,447 $ 4,602,412
Assumed 3,389 41,589

Ceded (89,314) (79,446)

Premiums earned, net $  4,748,522 $ 4,564,555

Unearned premium reserves:
Direct $  2,443,251 $ 2,192,863

Assumed 14 3,343

Ceded (14,109) (6,492)

Uneamed premium reserves, net $  2,429,156 $ 2,189,714

Losses and LAE incurred:

Direct $  4,179,522 $ 3,403,282

Assumed 2,001 22,847

Ceded (17,705) (12,696)

Losses and LAB incurred, net $  4,163,818 $ 3,413,433

Reserves for losses and LAE:

Direct $  2,540,903 $ 2,090,823

Assumed 11,420 24,073
Ceded (10,544) (8,156)

Reserves for losses and LAE, net $  2,541,779 $ 2,106,740
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11. Reinsurance (continued)

Life Insurance VIE

In 2022 and 2021, ACSC Life assumed 100% of its business through reinsuranee agreements and
did not have any direct or ceded business. Premiums earned and incurred losses and LAE are
included in net premiums earned and insurance losses and LAE, respectively, in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. Aggregate reserves, reserves for losses and LAE, and unearned
premium reserves are included in policy reserves in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
ACSC Life had $332,447 and $313,856 in net premiums earned and $229,471 and $236,907 in
insurance losses and LAE for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

12. Income Taxes

Income tax (benefit) expense is comprised of the following amounts for the years ended
December 31:

2022 2021

Federal:

Current $  (90,934) $ 57,183

Deferred (383,403) 283,617

State:

(474,337) 340,800

Current 1,511 1,879
Deferred (13,536) 7,280

(12,025) 9,159

Total $  (486,362) $ 349,959
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12. Income Taxes (continued)

Income tax (benefit) expense is different from the federal income tax rate of 21% for the years

ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, for the following reasons:

2022 2021
Provision for federal income taxes at statutory rate
of 21%

Increase (decrease) from:
Tax-exempt interest
Nontaxable dividends

State income taxes, net of federal benefit

Other, net

Total

$  (462,100) $ 356,441

(11,679) (11,635)
(7,551) (6,923)
(9,496) 7,443
4,464 4,633

$  (486,362) $ 349,959
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12. Income Taxes (continued)

The income tax information provided below presents the net positions of the Company's multiple
tax-filing groups in both the motor clubs and insurance operations. Temporary differences, which
give rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, are as
follows:

Federal State

2022

Deferred tax assets:

Health care and life insurance benefits $  9,277 $ 1,660

Other employee benefits, including deferred
compensation 86,056 (10,702)

Unearned membership dues 334 23,744

Unearned premium reserve 103,792 -

Discounting of unpaid losses and LAE 25,882 -

Investments 63,073 206

Net operating loss and other carryforward benefits 25,312 27,443

Other 47,738 1,851

Deferred tax assets 361,464 44,202

Deferred tax liabilities:

Net unrealized gain on securities 726,810 10,692

DAG 149,420 1,403

Fixed assets 47,471 3,950

Goodwill 25,641 6,793
Salvage and subrogation recoverable 1,263 -

Life insurance agency commission receivable 40,693 12,082

Other 53,719 18,214

Deferred tax liabilities 1,045,017 53,134

Net deferred tax liability $  (683,553) $ (8,932)
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12. Income Taxes (continued)

Federal State

2021

Deferred tax assets:

Health care and life insurance benefits $  13,407 $ 1,839
Other employee benefits, including deferred
compensation 175,070 (956)

Unearned membership dues 338 23,920
Unearned premium reserve 93,699 -

Discounting of unpaid losses and LAE 18,650 -

Investments 9,098 98

Net operating loss and other carryforward benefits 35,077 21,642
Other 34,948 2,963

Deferred tax assets 380,287 49,506

Deferred tax liabilities:

Net unrealized gain on securities 1,331,144 34,084
DAG 122,939 1,406
Fixed assets 63,820 4,226
Goodwill 25,541 6,723
Salvage and subrogation recoverable 1,136 -

Life insurance agency commission receivable 38,806 11,546
Other 47,741 16,700

Deferred tax liabilities 1,631,127 74,685

Net deferred tax liability $ (1,250,840) $ (25,179)

The recoverability of the deferred tax assets is dependent on the Company's ability to generate
future taxable income. Management believes that it is more likely than not that the results of future
operations and various tax-planning strategies will generate sufficient taxable income in the
periods necessary to realize the deferred tax assets.
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12. Income Taxes (continued)

As of December 31, 2022, the Club has total federal net operating loss carryforwards of $43,463,
which begin to expire in 2030. ACSC Life has a federal net operating loss carryforward of $32,930,
none of which expires. The Property and Casualty VIEs have no remaining net operating loss
carryforwards to offset future taxable income. ACCM has $42 of net capital loss carryforwards to
offset future capital gains, which begin to expire in 2023. Management believes that it is more
likely than not that the Company will realize the full benefits of its federal net operating loss
carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2022, the Club and the Property and Casualty VIEs have $33 Foreign Tax
Credit (FTC) credit canyforward.

The Company's deferred tax assets also include state net operating losses which are specific to the
states in which they were generated. Management believes that it is more likely than not that the
Company will realize the full benefit of its state net operating loss carryforwards.

The Company recognizes potential accrued interest and penalties in income tax expense, including
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. There are no interest and penalties
recognized as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The Company has multiple tax-filing groups in both the motor club and insurance operations. As
of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has reviewed all open tax years in its major tax
jurisdictions and concluded there were no material uncertain federal or state tax positions. In
accordance with accounting guidance, the Company does not have any unrecognized tax benefit
liability as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. It is reasonably possible that the total amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits will not significantly increase or decrease within 12 months of the
reporting date. As of December 31, 2022, several material jurisdictions in which the Company
operates are subject to examination, including the U.S. Federal Jurisdiction (Exchange), California
and Texas for the tax years ended December 31, 2019 through the present.
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Company is a defendant in various lawsuits, which are incidental to its operations. In some of
these actions, plaintiffs assert claims for punitive damages. The Company intends to vigorously
defend these actions. Litigation, by its very nature, is unpredictable and the outcome of these cases
is uncertain. Moreover, the Company is unable to predict the precise nature or the relief that may
be sought in any lawsuits that may be filed against it in the future. The Company has accrued an
estimate for material cases, if any, as of December 31, 2022, as to which an unfavorable outcome
is probable. Management does not expect the ultimate disposition of the remaining lawsuits to
result in any material liability and, accordingly, no provision has been made in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for those lawsuits.

Structured Settlements

The Company has no structured settlements for which it is the owner and payee. Exchange is not
the owner of any immediate or future payment life annuity products. If a structured settlement is
issued when an Exchange claim is settled. Exchange directs the annuitant or recipient of the
structure to be the owner in fact. Thus, Exchange is not contingently liable for structured
settlements or annuities provided to claimants or insureds. As of December 31,2022 and 2021, the total
value of all annuities or amounts due from any one life insurer for Exchange claims was not material.

Guaranty Fund Assessment

Under state insurance guaranty fund laws, insurers doing business in a state can be assessed, up to
prescribed limits, for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to the policyholder and
claimants. The VlEs' policy is to accrue guaranty fund assessments when notification of new and
ongoing insolvencies is received from individual state guaranty associations, the event obligating
the VlEs to pay has occurred, and the assessment can be reasonably estimated. These assessments
are generally recoverable through a credit to premium taxes over a period up to ten years and the
VlEs have established an asset for the recoverable portion of the assessments. As of December 31,
2022 and 2021, the VlEs' estimated liability for state guaranty fund assessments was not material.
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13. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Capital Requirements

ACSC and Exchange each have a 50% ownership interest in ACSC Life. The California
Department of Insurance (CA-DOI) requires that ACSC and Exchange make contributions to
ACSC Life to maintain ACSC Life's minimum capital and surplus requirements. ACSC's and
Exchange's capital calls totaled $8,000 and $32,900 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Pursuant to the Affiliation Agreement with MO Exchange, Exchange is required to maintain, at all
times prior to the termination of the Pooling Agreement and subject to the receipt of any required
regulatory approvals, a surplus ratio of MO Exchange at not less than 60% after giving effect to
the pooling under the Pooling Agreement. This may be achieved through the purchase of additional
surplus notes or through other methods as may be mutually acceptable to Exchange and MO
Exchange. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the surplus ratio of MO Exchange exceeded the
minimum requirement. Although there is no limit to Exchange's capital calls with respect to MO
Exchange, future capital calls are not expected to be material to the consolidated financial
statements.

ACSC and Exchange each have a 13.15% ownership interest in ACLl Life. As part of the ACLl
Life Shareholder Agreement, ACSC and Exchange will contribute their share of any capital and
surplus requirements to ACLl Life. No capital calls were made in the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, and neither ACSC nor Exchange made any capital contributions during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. ACSC and Exchange's capital calls are limited to an annual
maximum aggregate of $7,892.

Letters of Credit

ACSC's workers' compensation policy requires an irrevocable standby letter of credit drawn in
favor of the insurer. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, ACSC has irrevocable standby letters of
credit drawn in favor of the insurers for $ 19,275 and $21,118. ACSC also has other letters of credit
totaling $3,093 and $3,980 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. All letters of credit
expire between December 31, 2022 and April 23, 2024.
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13. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Preferred Travel Provider Guarantee

ACSC guarantees the financial obligations owed by PH to other unaffiliated AAA clubs. The
guarantee is limited to a maximum amount of $7,515 and includes the protection of consumer
funds originating from the AAA clubs and any commissions owed to the AAA clubs. The total
amount of outstanding commissions covered under the guarantee was $225 and $102 as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Sponsorships

ACSC has entered into sponsorship and naming rights agreements related to auto racing and other
professional sports teams. In accordance with these agreements, maximum annual commitments
for 2023, 2024, and 2025 are $2,692, $1,220, and $1,220, respectively.

California Earthquake Authority

In 1996, the California legislature passed a law to create the CEA, which provides a market for
earthquake coverage in the state of California. In December 1996, Exchange agreed to participate
in the CEA and began transferring to the CEA its in-force earthquake coverage renewing on or
after June 1, 1997, as well as new business as of that date. Exchange could be subject to a
contingent assessment from the CEA in the event of a major earthquake based on the homeowners'
insurance market share attributable to Exchange. This estimate for the potential assessment
approximates $108,492. If Exchange were levied an assessment in future years, the assessment
would be covered under Exchange's reinsurance program.

14. Statutory Information

The VIEs prepare their statutory-basis financial statements in conformity with statutory accounting
practices (SAP) prescribed or permitted by the insurance departments of their applicable states of
domicile. The Property and Casualty VIEs prepare their statutory-basis financial statements on a
combined basis. Prescribed SAP primarily includes those published as Statements of SAP by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners, as well as state laws, regulations, and general
administrative rules.
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14. Statutory Information (continued)

Permitted SAP encompasses all accounting practices not so prescribed. As of December 31, 2022
and 2021, Exchange has obtained a permitted practice relating to its passively managed equity
securities portfolio.

Exchange characterizes its passively managed equity securities portfolio as one mutual fund.
Exchange tests its passively managed equity securities portfolio for OTTI as a single mutual fund
rather than applying its OTTI policy at the individual security level. Exchange received a permitted
practice from the CA-DOI to continue to characterize its passively managed equity securities
portfolio as a mutual fund for purposes of applying tests of OTTI. As of December 31, 2022 and
2021, Exchange's passive portfolio had an aggregate net unrealized gain of $2,738,357 and
$3,526,618, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the application of this
permitted practice had no impact on net (loss) income or on surplus.

The following table summarizes the combined statutory net (loss) income and capital and surplus
of the VIEs, as reported to regulatory authorities, for the years ended December 31:

2022 2021

Statutory net (loss) income $ (359,205) $ 155,833
Statutory capital and surplus 9,223,248 10,800,950

The California Insurance Code requires applicable insurance companies to maintain capital and
surplus in the amount of $5,400. The Missouri Insurance Code requires at least $2,400 of total
surplus for applicable reciprocal insurers and minimum capital and surplus amounts of $1,200 for
applicable stock companies. The Texas Insurance Code requires minimum capital and surplus
amounts for applicable insurance companies of $2,500 each. Rhode Island General Law requires
at least $3,000 of total surplus. The investment of minimum capital and surplus is restricted to
certain investments specified in the applicable Code. The statutory capital and surplus of each of
the VIEs exceeded the highest level of minimum regulatory required capital and conforms to all
investment restrictions.
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14. Statutory Information (continued)

The CA-DOI and the Kansas DOI require that MO Exchange guarantee that the surplus of Family

is maintained at a minimum of $20,000 and $1,250, respectively. Should the surplus ofFamily fall
below these amounts, MO Exchange would be required to contribute an amount necessary to
restore Family's surplus. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, MO Exchange's surplus and
Family's capital and surplus exceeded the minimum required amounts.

15. Subsequent Events

The Company has determined that there were no subsequent events identified that would require
disclosure or adjustments to the accompanying consolidated financial statements through April 27,
2023, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
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Corporate Member: Auto Club Enterprises

Directors: Robert T. Bouttier, Chair
Greg L. Backiey
John F. Boyie

Officers: Terrance Ponchak Jr.

Chad D. Fiourigan
Angela L. Nelson
Gaii C. Louis

James J. McGrath

Raju T. Varma

President

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Vice President

Secretary

CLUB INSURANCE AGENCY. INC.

(a Missouri corporation)

Shareholder: Automobile Club of Missouri

Directors: John F. Boyie
Terrance Ponchak Jr.

Raju T. Varma

Officers: Terrance Ponchak Jr.

Luis C. Aiarcon

Chad D. Hourigan
Gaii C. Louis

President

Vice President

T reasurer

Secretary

Effective as of 07/01/2023



PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL

AAA ARKANSAS INSURANCE AGENCY. INC.

(an Arkansas corporation)

Shareholder: Automobile Club of Missouri

Directors: John F, Boyle
Terrance Ponchak Jr.

Raju T. Varma

Officers: Terrance Ponchak Jr.

Luis C. Alarcon

Chad D. Hourigan
Gail C. Louis
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President

Vice President

Treasurer

Secretary

AAA EAST CENTRAL

(a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation)

Corporate Member: Auto Club Enterprises

Governors: Robert A. DeMichiei, Chair
Robert S. Collins, Vice Chair
Glenn B. Bachman

Neil D. Bassi

Robert T. Bouttier

Debra A. Dinnocenzo

Gregory E. Grim

Christopher B. Howard
Mary Beth Jenkins
Mary Lynn Laughlin
Randell McShepard
Martha H. Munsch

TuckTinsley III

Officers: Teresa G. Petrick

Thomas J. Ashley
Robert S. Collins

Sheila A. Moffatt

Neil D. Bassi

Beverly K. Powell

President

Executive Vice President

Treasurer

Assistant Treasurer

Secretary
Assistant Secretary

AAA EAST CENTRAL INSURANCE AGENCY. INC.

(a Pennsylvania corporation)

Shareholder:

Directors:

Officers:

AAA East Central

Teresa G. Petrick

Thomas J. Ashley
Beverly K. Powell

Teresa G. Petrick

Thomas J. Ashley
Sheila A. Moffatt

Beverly K. Powell
W. Mark Sisson

President

Vice President

Treasurer

Secretary
Assistant Secretary

Effective as of 07/01/2023
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THE ASHLAND COUNTY AUTOMOBILE CLUB

(an Ohio nonprofit corporation)

Corporate Member: AAA East Central

Directors: Teresa G. Petrick, Chair

Thomas J. Ashley, Vice Chair
Beverly K. Powell

Officers: Teresa G. Petrick

Thomas J. Ashley
Sheila A. Moffatt

Beverly K. Powell

President

Vice President

Treasurer

Secretary
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THE MASSILLON AUTOMOBILE CLUB

(an Ohio nonprofit corporation)

Corporate Member: AAA East Central

Directors: Teresa G. Petrick, Chair
Thomas J. Ashley, Vice Chair
Beverly K. Powell

Officers: Jeffrey R. Bushman
Teresa G. Petrick

Sheila A. Moffatt

Beverly K. Powell

President

Vice President

Treasurer

Secretary

AUTO CLUB DRIVING SCHOOLS. INC.

(a Pennsylvania corporation)

Shareholder:

Directors:

Officers:

AAA East Central

Teresa G. Petrick

Thomas J. Ashley
Beverly K. Powell

Teresa G. Petrick

Thomas J. Ashley
Sheila A. Moffatt

Beverly K. Powell

President

Vice President

T reasurer

Secretary

CONDOR CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION

(a Pennsylvania Condominium Association)

Executive Directors; Thomas J, Ashley ̂

Officers:

Caroline Perlllo

Thomas J. Ashley ̂
Caroline Perlllo

President

Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer

^ Serving at the request of AAA East Central and legally entitled to indemnification by AAA East Central

Effective as of 07/01/2023
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AAA NORTHERN NEW ENGLAND

(a Maine nonprofit mutual benefit corporation)

Corporate Member: Auto Club Enterprises

Directors: Robert T. Bouttier, Chair
Greg L. Backley
John F. Boyle

Officers: Eric J. Cyr
Chad D. Hourigan
Gail C. Louis
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Eric J. Cyr
Raju T. Varma

President

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Corporate Secretary

AAA NORTHERN NEW ENGLAND INSURANCE

(a Maine corporation)

Shareholder: AAA Northern New England

Directors:

Officers:

John F. Boyle
Eric J. Cyr
Raju T. Varma

Eric J. Cyr
Chad D. Flourigan
Gail C. Louis

President

T reasurer

Secretary

AAA CAR CARE CENTER

(a Maine corporation)

Shareholder: AAA Northern New England

Directors:

Officers:

John F. Boyle
Eric J. Cyr
Raju T. Varma

Eric J. Cyr
Chad D. Hourigan
Gail C. Louis

President

Treasurer

Secretary

AAA DRIVING SCHOOL. INC.

(a Maine corporation)

Shareholder: AAA Northern New England

Directors: John F. Boyle
Eric J. Cyr
Raju T. Varma

Officers: Eric J. Cyr
Chad D. Hourigan
Gail C. Louis

President

Treasurer

Secretary

Effective as of 07/01/2023
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TRIPLE A LEASING

(a Maine corporation)

Shareholder: AAA Northern New England
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Directors:

Officers:

John F. Boyle
Eric J. Cyr
Raju T. Varma

Eric J. Cyr
Chad D. Hourigan
Gail C. Louis

President

Treasurer

Secretary

HEWINS TRAVEL. LLC

(a Maine limited liability company)

Member: AAA Northern New England

Manager: None

Officers: None

TIDEWATER AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION OF VIRGINIA. INCORPORATED

(a Virginia non-stock, not for profit corporation)

Corporate Member: Auto Club Enterprises

Directors: Robert T. Bouttier, Chair
Greg L. Backley

Officers: Eric J. Cyr
Jeffrey W. Barr
Gail C. Louis

John F. Boyle
Eric J. Cyr

President

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Corporate Secretary

AAA TIDEWATER VIRGINIA CAR CARE CENTER. LLC

(a Virginia limited liability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Officers: Eric J. Cyr
Chad A. Pence

Jeffrey W. Barr
Gail C. Louis

President

Vice President

Treasurer

Secretary

Effective as of 07/01/2023
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AAA TIDEWATER VIRGINIA FLEET OPERATIONS. LLC to alpha index

(a Virginia limited iiability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Eric J. Cyr

Officers: None

TAA CHESAPEAKE BRANCH OFFiCE PROPERTY. LLC

(a Virginia limited liabiiity company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Eric J. Cyr

Officers: None

TAA CORPORATE CENTER OFFICE PROPERTY. LLC

(a Virginia iimited liability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Eric J. Cyr

Officers: None

TAA GREENBRIER CAR CARE CENTER PROPERTY. LLC

(a Virginia limited liabiiity company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Eric J. Cyr

Officers: None

10 Effective as of 07/01/2023
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TAA HAMPTON BRANCH/CAR CARE CENTER PROPERTY, LLC to alpha index

(a Virginia limited liability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, incorporated

Manager: EricJ. Cyr

Officers: None

TAA NEWPORT NEWS BRANCH PROPERTY. LLC

(a Virginia limited liability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Eric J. Cyr

Officers: None

TAA NORFOLK CAR CARE CENTER PROPERTY, LLC

(a Virginia limited liability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: EricJ. Cyr

Officers: None

TAA SUFFOLK BRANCH/CAR CARE CENTER PROPERTY. LLC

(a Virginia limited liability company)

Member: TidewaterAutomobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: EricJ. Cyr

Officers: None

11 Effective as of 07/01/2023
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TAA VIRGINIA BEACH BRANCH PROPERTY. LLC

(a Virginia limited liability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Eric J. Cyr

Officers: None

TO TABLE OF CONTENTS
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TAA WILLIAIVISBURG BRANCH/CAR CARE CENTER PROPERTY, LLC

(a Virginia limited liability company)

Member: Tidewater Automobile Association of Virginia, Incorporated

Manager: Eric J. Cyr

Officers: None

MOTOR CLUB INSURANCE COMPANY

(a Rhode Island insurance company)

Shareholders:

Directors:

Officers:

AAA Northeast Holding, inc. (Class A) and
interinsurance Exchange of the Automobile Club (Class B)

John F. Boyle, Chair
Brian H. Deephouse
Michael S. Mohamed

John F. Boyle
Chad D. Hourigan
Katharine A. Sleek

Gail C. Louis

T. Eric Lai

Christopher P. DiMartino
John R. Gaivin

Marta Genovese

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Vice President and General Counsel

Secretary
Assistant Secretary

AUTOMOBILE CLUB OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

(a California corporation)

Shareholders:

Directors:

Officers:

Interinsurance Exchange of the Automobile Club and
Automobile Club of Southern California

John F. Boyle
Christopher M. Baggaley

John F. Boyle
Chad D. Hourigan

Anwar M. Othman

Katharine A. Sieck

Gail C. Louis

John P. Bybee
Raju T. Varma

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Controller

Vice President

Vice President and Assistant Secretary
Corporate Secretary
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AUTO CLUB COUNTY IViUTUAL INSURANCE COIViPANY

(a Texas county mutual insurance company)

Directors: John F. Boyle
Greg L. Backley
Christopher M. Baggaley
Malek K. Khouri

Anwar M, Othman

Katharine A. Sieck

Raju T. Varma

Officers: John F. Boyle
Christopher M. Baggaley
Chad D. Hourigan
Anwar M. Othman

Katherine A. Sieck

Gail C. Louis

Galen L. Grillo

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Vice President

Vice President and Assistant Secretary
Corporate Secretary
Assistant Secretary

AUTO CLUB CASUALTY COMPANY

(a Texas corporation)

Shareholder:

Directors:

Interinsurance Exchange of the Automobile Club

John F. Boyle
Greg L. Backley
Christopher M. Baggaley
Malek K. Khouri

Anwar M. Othman

Katherine A. Sieck

Raju T. Varma

Officers: John F. Boyle
Christopher M. Baggaley
Chad D. Hourigan
Anwar M. Othman

Katherine A. Sieck

Gail C. Louis

Galen L. Grillo

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Vice President

Vice President and Assistant Secretary
Corporate Secretary
Assistant Secretary

AUTO CLUB INDEMNITY COIVIPANY

(a Texas corporation)

Shareholder:

Directors:

Interinsurance Exchange of the Automobile Club

John F. Boyle
Greg L. Backley
Christopher M. Baggaley
Malek K. Khouri

Anwar M. Othman

Katherine A. Sieck

Raju T. Varma

Officers: John F. Boyle
Christopher M. Baggaley
Chad D. Hourigan
Anwar M. Othman

Katherine A. Sieck

Gail C. Louis

Galen L. Grillo

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Vice President

Vice President and Assistant Secretary
Corporate Secretary
Assistant Secretary
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PLEASANT TRAVEL HOLDING COMPANY. LLC

(a Delaware limited liability company)
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Members:

Manager:

Officers:

Automobile Club of Southern California, and others

Automobile Club of Southern California

John F. Boyle
Chad D. Hourlgan
Katherine A. Sieck

Gail C. Louis

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Vice President and Assistant Secretary
Corporate Secretary

PLEASANT HOLIDAYS, LLC

(a Delaware limited liability company)

Member:

Manager:

Officers:

Pleasant Travel Holding Company, LLC

John F. Boyle

Jack E. Richards

Dal D. DeWolf

Gail C. Louis

President and Chief Executive Officer

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Assistant Secretary
Corporate Secretary

HAWAII WORLD LLC

(a California limited liability company)

Member: Pleasant Holidays, LLC

Directors: John F. Boyle
Raju T. Varma

Officers: Jack E. Richards

Dal D. DeWolf

Gail C. Louis

Chief Executive Officer

Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer and Assistant
Secretary
Corporate Secretary

14 Effective as of 07/01/2023



Key Staff

Daniel Goodman, Manager of Public Affairs - Manages public affairs, public relations and government

relations.

Tom Baran, Traffic Safety Education Specialist - Provides traffic safety education for including programs

for teens, mature operators businesses and community groups.



Name Salary Amount of Salary paid by contract

Daniel Goodman 80,000 0%

Tom Baran $55,000 1%


